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siMPlY eVeRYtHing. 
eVeRYtHing siMPle.

our brand makes a clear promise: simply everything that industry and 

skilled trades need to manufacture and install windows, doors and furni-

ture. everything simple, from initial contact to daily cooperation. VBH’s 

experts are here to provide uncomplicated, fast help, setting the pace 

with innovative services and making life simpler for our customers.

ce-fiX – tHe online sYsteM 
PlAtfoRM foR WindoWs And dooRs.

The CE-fix industry solution focuses on the general system security 

of window and door constructions and simple, low-cost ce labelling.

find, don’t seARcH  
tHe intUitiVe iteM findeR.

“find, don’t search” makes it easy for VBH customers to choose the 

right item in the comprehensive VBH range – without knowing what 

it looks like or what it’s called.

KnoWledge dAtABAse – AdVice And 
Action.

the VBH knowledge database bundles expert knowledge and up-to-

date information on window and door mountings, provides practical 

suggestions and allows industry participants to exchange ideas.

logos – fAsteR, siMPleR And 
eRRoR-fRee oRdeRing.

The LOGOS materials procurement system simplifies warehousing 

and ordering processes for VBH customers. Whether in production, 

in the office or on the building site.

VBH24 – tHe VBH cUstoMeR PoRtAl.

Whatever VBH customers need – they can get it with vbh24. clearly, 

globally and at any time of day or night. the customer portal offers 

access to all of VBH’s items and services.



Key Figures
Sales and Earnings 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Revenues continuing operations in € m 783.2 808.4 863.3 755.1 800.0

eBitdA in € m 48.0 54.8 45.5 23.2 29.0

eBitdA margin  % 6.1% 6.8% 5.3% 3.1% 3.6%

eBitdA adjusted in € m 27.6

eBitdA margin adjusted % 3.5%

eBit in € m 40.3 49.4 39.6 17.2 12.9

eBit margin % 5.1% 6.1% 4.6% 2.3% 1.6%

eBit adjusted in € m 21.6

eBit margin adjusted % 2.7%

eBt in € m 30.2 38.2 31.5 9.9 4.5

eBt adjusted in € m 13.2

net result after minorities in € m 19.8 27.6 17.8 5.6 -1.7

net result after minorities adjusted in € m 7.0

Key Figures 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Cash flow from operating activity in € m 11.0 31.5 33.7 33.6 4.8

Cash flow from investing activity in € m -6.0 -8.7 -17.5 -9.3 -3.7

free cash flow in € m 5.0 22.8 16.2 24.4 1.2

Cash flow from financing activity in € m -6.3 -18.9 -5.2 -23.5 -3.2

total investments in € m 11.5 18.6 27.6 11.8 4.5

Working capital in € m 164.6 179.1 191.4 166.9 183.8

capital employed  in € m 228.7 252.7 264.7 257.9 264.8

Roce % 17.6% 19.5% 15.0% 6.7% 4.9%

Roce adjusted % 8.2%

net debt in € m 138.3 118.2 107.6 103.6 112.4

gearing  % 192.8% 106.6% 78.3% 79.7% 88.4%

Return on equity (Roe) % 31.8% 27.1% 13.8% 4.6% -1.4%

number of employees  2,175 2,686 2,886 2,968 2,934

Share data 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
earnings per share diluted  in €  0.54 0.72 0.41 0.12 -0.02

earnings per share undiluted  in €  0.50 0.67 0.41 0.12 -0.02

earnings per share diluted adjusted  in €  0.15

earnings per share undiluted adjusted  in €  0.15

dividend per share  in €  0.12 0.15 0.19 0.05 0.06

Book value per share  in €  1.97 2.78 3.00 2.83 2.77

equity per share  in €  1.71 2.55 2.81 2.65 2.59

share price at year-end  in €  6.10 6.00 3.68 4.00 4.26

shares outstanding  in tsd.  36,495 39,865 45,790 45,869 45,879

Market capitalization at year-end in € m 222.6 239.2 168.5 183.5 195.4

Balance Sheet 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
long-term assets in € m 72.7 86.8 96.6 99.0 89.1

short-term assets in € m 262.0 271.1 279.1 251.0 265.0

equity in € m 71.7 110.8 137.4 130.0 127.1

Book value in € m 62.3 101.7 128.9 121.4 118.8

long-term liabilities in € m 78.5 121.5 91.3 89.0 33.6

short-term liabilities in € m 184.4 125.6 147.0 131.0 193.4

Balance sheet total in € m 334.6 357.9 375.7 350.0 354.1
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tHe VBH cUstoMeR PoRtAl.

On vbh24, VBH customers can find everything they need for their day-to-day 

work: clearly, globally and round the clock, 24 hours a day. the internet portal 

offers access to the full range in the online shop and all service tools deve-

loped by VBH and tested in practice, such as virtual in-house fair, personal 

shopping assortments and individual catalogue creation.
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letter to the 
shareholders 

dear Shareholders,
the global economy was in much better condition in the past year following the massive disruptions of the 

economic and financial crisis. While uncertainty as to further developments was still prevalent at the start of 

2010, the economic stimulus programmes and political intervention have made a substantial contribution towards 

stabilising the global financial and economic situation. 

However, growth trends diverged as the year progressed. While the emerging nations of Asia and latin America, 

above all china and Brazil in addition to Russia, returned to their former growth paths, growth in the Us and 

Japan slowed on account of lingering unemployment and deflationary tendencies. 

Varying developments were also seen in the european region following its recovery. export-oriented nations such 

as the “growth engine” of germany and several eastern european countries grew strongly. However, considerable 

uncertainty continued to dominate southern european markets such as italy, spain and greece. the path back 

to growth in these countries will be stonier and the recovery on these markets will be significantly slower than 

forecast even in mid-2010.

one thing is clear: the world has become more complex and more interconnected and quantitative forecasts on future 

economic performance have failed in many cases. thus, it is all the more crucial for us to think in scenarios and to 

position the VBH group (“VBH”) internationally so that we can play out our strategic and operative strengths as the 

only global mountings dealer. We succeeded in doing this in the 2010 financial year overall – both economically and 

strategically. 

 

letter to the shareholders
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Economic performance
VBH generated consolidated sales of around € 800 million and improved on the figure for the previous year by 5.9 %. 

over the same period, adjusted consolidated operating earnings even increased by around 33 % to € 13.2 million – 

in spite of the negative operating effects of our companies in Belgium, italy and china.

As in the global economy, the business performance of the individual VBH regions was varied:

Sales in Germany expanded sustainably with a rise of 7.6 % as against the previous year, significantly outper- �

forming the market as a whole;

Eastern Europe, influenced by the healthy development in Russia and enormous potential for renovation, is  �

back on track for growth with a sales increase of 12.2 % year-on-year;

Sales in Western Europe declined by 7.4 %, essentially as a result of the influence of the companies in Italy  �

and Belgium;

the other Markets segment, driven by turkey, improved its sales by a gratifying 22.6 %. �

 

in addition, non-cash goodwill impairment of € 8.7 million was recognised in the group. on the basis of the annu-

al impairment test, this was needed for the regional companies that are taking a little longer to return to their old 

earnings power.

Simply Everything.                  Everything Simple.

the expert brand for window and door hardware

Broad international com-
pilation with consistent 

market appearance

successful 
product range and own 

brand politics

Unique selling position 
through extensive 

service offers
Auswahl

letter to the shareholders
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Strategic positioning
We also continued to work systematically on our strategic goal of developing VBH away from being a dealer and 

towards becoming a service provider. Here we are standing by the following strategy elements that are based on 

our motto of “simply everything. everything simple”:

selective expansion of our international presence, which can also include taking on national markets that do  �

not fit VBH’s business model;

expansion of our greenteQ own brand to a share of consolidated sales of 10 %; �

systematic expansion of our service portfolio. �

thanks to our successful international positioning, we offer our suppliers a global sales platform and our 

customers a comprehensive and internationally coordinated range of products and services. After VBH’s area of 

operations was extended to include Argentina in 2009, a central warehouse is now being established in Pana-

ma to initially supply the current VBH companies in Argentina and Mexico, and to deliver to further markets in 

south and central America in future as well. VBH caucasus was founded in tbilisi together with a partner and 

is responsible for georgia and other neighbouring regions. following a strategic review, VBH discontinued its 

activities in Australia over the course of the year.

the greenteQ own brand is now an anchor point of range policy and excellently rounds off the VBH product 

portfolio with its strong manufacturer brands (“simply everything”). greenteQ is opening up new options to 

raise our profile among existing customers and to attract new customer groups and is also still proving a growth 

driver. With now more than 1,800 items, greenteQ products account for 6 % of total sales at VBH deutschland 

gmbH. VBH intends to continue pushing its own brand systematically and to accelerate the market penetration of 

greenteQ products on international markets. 

letter to the shareholders



11

our service range, which we are gradually rolling out in our subsidiaries, is allowing us to stand out clearly in the 

competitive environment. Of particular interest is the CE-fix tool developed together with IFT Rosenheim with 

which window and door manufacturers and suppliers can obtain all necessary ce documentation from product 

passes to component sheets with extensive processing information online instantly. We are gradually expanding 

CE-fix to create a system platform with a view to becoming a system provider in the wood area in particular. Other 

services such as our VBH knowledge base are also becoming increasingly popular with an average of more than 

2,000 hits per month. the mobile logos app for smartphones, which customers can use to order online from the 

construction site, is proving to be an innovation that our customers are more than happy to use. We are currently 

working on further creative solutions to make work easier for our customers (“everything simple”).

Stable share price performance
As with the economic and strategic performance, the price of VBH shares also developed stably in 2010. in June 

2010, VBH Holding Ag shares were removed from deutsche Börse’s sdAX segment. there were indications of this 

from the start of 2010 as a result of declining trading volumes in light of the lower free float and market capitalisation.

dividend policy
We would like for you, our shareholders, to participate in the success of VBH with a consistent dividend policy. A 

distribution rate of at least 35 % to 40 % of the operating earnings per share will be retained in the medium term, 

provided that this does not have a negative effect on the financial stability of VBH. On the basis of this, the Executive 

Board resolved to submit a proposal on the appropriation of profits to the Supervisory Board allowing for a dividend 

for the 2010 financial year of € 0.06 per share. This corresponds to a distribution rate of 40 % based on the adjusted 

consolidated net profit for the period.

letter to the shareholders
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outlook for 2011  
the global economic and political situation is still volatile and is currently marked by political unrest in northern Africa and 

the Middle east as well as the continuing uncertainty with regard to the situation in Japan. nonetheless, leading institutes 

are forecasting moderate global economic growth for 2011 with a visible recovery by the end of the year at the earliest. it will 

presumably take several years to return to the higher level of 2008. 

Expectations for the European region are predominantly confident for the next six months. The ifo Institute for Economic 

Research is forecasting a positive performance for germany in particular. the economic prospects for central and eastern 

europe and the Baltic states are assessed as slightly positive, while the outlook for southern europe including greece, italy 

and spain is considered very weak by experts.

The construction industry will continue to benefit from government investment programmes and investment incentives for 

climate-efficient building in 2011 and thus lift itself up from the overall economic situation. In particular, the window market 

in germany is experiencing a boom thanks to government subsidies and is therefore standing out positively in the general 

construction industry.

despite this cautious optimism, the possibility cannot be ruled out that external factors could ruin the economic upturn. in 

addition to the political developments and acts of God already sketched out, these include further fluctuations in the price of 

oil and exchange rates plus the financial difficulties of some European nations. 

As the Executive Board of VBH, we are forecasting single-digit sales growth for the Group as against the 2010 finan-

cial year for the rest of the year. We are assuming slight increases in sales for the germany segment, while sales in 

the Western/Southern Europe segment will remain flat and those in Eastern Europe will improve significantly. The 

Other Markets segment will again grow significantly in the 2011 financial year if exchange rates remain constant. The 

other goals of management include ongoing market penetration with the help of our greenteQ own brand and the 

optimisation of working capital while retaining constant cost structures, which should lead to a reduction of net debt 

within the group.

letter to the shareholders
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overall, we anticipate that 2011 will be a successful year for VBH. the disruptions on the international markets have made 

it clear that planning ahead and thinking in scenarios will play an increasingly important role for us as well. We are facing 

these new challenges gladly and energetically to shape a successful future with our employees, without whose extraordina-

ry dedication we could not have mastered the difficulties now behind us.

We would like to thank you for your confidence in our work.

Korntal-Münchingen, March 2011

for the executive Board     

Rainer Hribar   frieder Bangerter

chairman of the board  Member of the board

letter to the shareholders
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Report of the 
Supervisory Board 

dear Shareholders: 

general information 
In the 2010 financial year, the Supervisory Board supported the Executive Board of VBH Holding AG using proven me-

thods, monitored it in line with stock corporation law requirements and advised it on the management of the company. 

this was based on detailed and timely verbal and written reporting by the executive Board on the business position of 

VBH Holding AG and the Group. The reports by the Executive Board chiefly concerned business policy, fundamental 

financial and investment policy issues, and the profitability and risk situation of VBH Holding AG and the Group.

the supervisory Board received monthly reports on the course of the business, including analyses of divergences from the 

budget and the previous year. These reports also documented the liquidity and financial position of the company, including 

current credit lines, their utilisation and the available liquidity, providing both actual and forecast figures and the terms of re-

ceivables. All business transactions requiring approval were discussed in depth with the supervisory Board, which granted 

its authorisation where required.

the supervisory Board performed the tasks for which it is responsible according to law and the Articles of Associa-

tion of the company with great care, extensively reviewing the business transactions of VBH. Based on the reports 

and information provided by the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board has satisfied itself that the company 

was managed in a proper manner. the supervisory Board also assured itself that all risk management system 

requirements were met within the company and the group by questioning the executive Board and the auditor. 

the executive Board informed the supervisory Board in detail regarding projects and plans that were urgent or of 

particular importance for the company, including between meetings, and sought its approval where necessary.

the chairman of the supervisory Board maintained constant, close contact with the company outside of supervisory 

Board meetings as well, receiving regular information from the executive Board concerning current developments, 

the state of business and important individual transactions.

Report of the Supervisory Board
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main issues addressed at Supervisory Board meetings
Six supervisory Board meetings were held in the 2010 financial year. Each Supervisory Board meeting focused on 

the discussion of the current business performance of VBH and planning by the executive Board on the key points 

of sales, cost, earnings development and the financial position. The Executive Board responded in full to the detailed 

questions posed by supervisory Board members concerning the regularly submitted written reports and presenta-

tions as well as verbal comments made during meetings. the discussions and reviews conducted by the supervisory 

Board at the Supervisory Board meetings chiefly related to the following:

in the meeting on 20 January 2010, the constituting meeting of the supervisory Board, Professor Rainer Kirch- �

dörfer was elected as the chairman of the supervisory Board. Mr. Andreas schill was elected as the deputy 

chairman of the supervisory Board. the following committees were formed: Personnel committee, Audit commit-

tee and the committee for strategy/Marketing/sales. the current sales and earnings development of the group in 

the past financial year were discussed in depth. Owing to the change in the Supervisory Board, the budget figures 

for 2010 and the planning for 2011 were explained in detail again. finally, the present corporate strategy was 

discussed.

following corresponding preparations by the Audit committee, the supervisory Board’s accounts meeting on  �

30 March 2010 focused on the audit of the annual financial statements, consolidated annual statements and 

management reports for VBH Holding AG and the Group for the 2009 financial year. In addition to its own – 

original – audit activities in preparation for the supervisory Board accounts meeting, the supervisory Board 

asked the auditor present at the meeting a number of questions and discussed these at length with him. the 

supervisory Board also intensively discussed the situation in italy. the agenda for the Annual general Meeting 

on 08 June 2010 was approved.

in its meeting on 02 June 2010, the supervisory Board discussed the current sales and earnings development  �

at length. At the proposal of the Audit committee, there was intensive discussion, leading to a resolution, on the 

topic of expanding the group of companies included in the consolidation of the VBH group. the supervisory 

Board then looked at detailed analyses of the group’s companies in italy, Belgium and china and also discussed 

personnel issues.

in its meeting on 08 June 2010 – following the re-election of the supervisory Board by the Annual general  �

Meeting – Professor Kirchdörfer was elected as the chairman of the supervisory Board; Mr. schill was elected 

as the deputy chairman of the supervisory Board. the appointments to the committees were discussed and the 

preceding Annual general Meeting was discussed thoroughly. Personnel issues were also on the agenda.

Report of the Supervisory Board
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At its meeting on 16 september 2010, which was part of a VBH strategy conference held over several days, the  �

supervisory Board and the executive Board again discussed year-to-date sales and earnings and the forecast in 

depth, with particular reference to the overseas markets. Personnel issues were also discussed and outstanding 

points from prior meetings of the supervisory Board were concluded. At this meeting, the supervisory Board ap-

pointed Mr. frieder Bangerter as a further member of the executive Board of the company (for more information 

see “executive bodies of the company” below).

At and prior to the meeting on 14 december 2010, the supervisory Board focused its audit activities on the cor- �

porate budget submitted for the financial year 2011. The Supervisory Board examined the budget and discussed 

the opportunities and risks presented in it with the executive Board. it resolved the budget for 2011 and also 

discussed alternative forms of financing to the syndicated loan agreement currently in place after it expires plus 

internal Auditing matters.

committees
the Audit committee, which is formed within the supervisory Board, met three times in the reporting year 

(12 february 2010, 30 March 2010 and 27 october 2010) and prepared the resolution of the supervisory Board on 

the adoption of the annual financial statements and approval of the consolidated financial statements for the period 

ended 31 december 2009. it also discussed Risk Management and internal Auditing matters and prepared for the 

annual financial statements for 2010. The Personnel Committee met once in the reporting year (12 February 2010), 

as did the committee for strategy/Marketing/sales (2 June 2010). 

Report of the Supervisory Board
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declaration of compliance 
the supervisory Board addressed the continued development of corporate governance at VBH Holding Ag, made 

suitable adjustments and approved the declaration of compliance with the german corporate governance code, 

which can also be found on page 54 of this annual report. There were no indications of conflicts of interest on the 

part of Executive Board or Supervisory Board members in the past financial year.

Risk management 
the supervisory Board received reports and information from the executive Board indicating that the requirements 

pertaining to the risk management system at VBH Holding AG and the Group are being met. All areas of risk identifi-

able from the perspective of the executive Board and the supervisory Board were discussed. the risk management 

system underwent extensive examination by the auditor, in which it was confirmed that the Executive Board had 

implemented the measures required in accordance with section 91 (2) of the Aktiengesetz (Aktg – german stock 

corporation Act) and established a monitoring system capable of identifying at an early stage developments that 

could jeopardise the continued existence of the company.

Annual and consolidated financial statements for 2010
the Annual general Meeting on 8 June 2010 appointed Rödl & Partner gmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 

Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Nuremberg, as the auditor for the financial year 2010. Following preparation by the 

Audit Committee and a corresponding resolution of the Supervisory Board, the auditor was notified in writing of its 

engagement to audit the accounts. Prior to the supervisory Board’s proposal to shareholders at the Annual general 

Meeting, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board received written confirmation from the auditor that no circumstances 

existed that could impair the independence of the auditor.

Report of the Supervisory Board
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Rödl & Partner audited the annual financial statements of VBH Holding AG and the consolidated financial statements 

for the period ended 31 december 2010, as well as the management reports of VBH Holding Ag and the group, 

together with the bookkeeping system, and issued an unqualified audit opinion in each case.

the auditor provided each member of the supervisory Board a copy of the audit report. the supervisory Board met 

to adopt the financial statements – following corresponding preparations by the Audit Committee – on 30 March 

2011, together with the company’s auditor. At the meeting, the VBH Holding AG annual financial statements, the 

consolidated financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2010 and the management reports of VBH Holding 

Ag and the group plus the audit reports were discussed in detail with the auditor. the supervisory Board reviewed 

the audit reports and annual financial statements, consolidated financial statements and management reports of 

VBH Holding Ag and of the group, including disclosures in accordance with section 289 (4-5) and section 315 (2) 

no. 5 and (4) of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HgB – german commercial code) and the executive Board’s proposal on 

the use of unappropriated surplus. The Supervisory Board had sufficient time to review the audited annual financial 

statements and the copies, thus it was possible to review all the relevant documents. on conclusion of its audit, 

the Supervisory Board raised no objections, concurring with the auditor’s findings regarding the annual financial 

statements, the consolidated annual financial statements and the management reports for VBH Holding AG and the 

group, including the disclosures under section 289 (4-5) and section 315 (2) no. 5 and (4) HgB. the supervisory 

Board approved the annual financial statements of VBH Holding AG and the consolidated financial statements for 

the 2010 financial year produced by the Executive Board. The annual financial statements were thus adopted. The 

supervisory Board reviewed the executive Board’s proposal for the use of unappropriated surplus and approved it. 

the supervisory Board also approved the corporate governance declaration.

Executive bodies of the company 
dr. Ralf lieb, who was responsible for the finance department, retired from the executive Board of the company at 

his own request effective 31 August 2010. the supervisory Board appointed Mr. frieder Bangerter as a new member 

of the executive Board of the company effective 1 January 2011. Mr. Bangerter has taken on the function of cfo 

and is responsible for the areas of controlling and Accounting, finance, investor Relations, it, HR, Auditing and 

taxes. 

Report of the Supervisory BoardReport of the Supervisory Board
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the Annual general Meeting elected Prof. Rainer Kirchdörfer, Matthias linnenkugel and Andreas schill as mem-

bers of the supervisory Board on 8 June 2010. the above gentlemen had previously been appointed by the court 

of Registration as the successors to the departed members of the supervisory Board Prof. Brun-Hagen Hennerkes, 

Jürgen Bockstette and dr. Ralph Mühleck.

the supervisory Board would like to thank all the staff and the members of the executive Board for their dedication 

and commitment, as well as their many extraordinary and everyday accomplishments in the past financial year. The 

management and employees of VBH Holding AG and its subsidiaries all made significant individual contributions to 

the positive enhancement of the company in the year under review.

Korntal-Münchingen, March 2011

Prof. Rainer Kirchdörfer

chairman of the supervisory Board

Report of the Supervisory BoardReport of the Supervisory Board
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Rainer hribar
Rainer Hribar, born on 25 March 1957, is the chairman of the executive Board of VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-

Münchingen, in charge of sales and distribution, Marketing, logistics and category Management. 

After studying electrical engineering at ETH Zurich, he first worked for Gebrüder Sulzer AG (Winterthur), where in 

1986 he became an authorised signatory of the company. He became the managing director of neef Unterneh-

mensgruppe (Karlsruhe) in 1991 and in 1994 he became the managing director for sales and marketing at geZe 

(leonberg). 

in february 1996, Mr. Hribar was appointed as the director of exports at VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-Münchingen, and 

took on responsibility for the management of the international subsidiaries. in february 2002, he was appointed to 

VBH Holding Ag’s executive Board and put in charge of the pending reorganisation. He was appointed chairman of 

the Board in March 2008. 

for ten years, Mr. Hribar was also head of the electrical engineering department and taught at fachhochschule 

Zürich polytechnic for 18 years. He is currently president of the Hochschule Zürich college examination board 

(engineering department). 

 

the Executive Board

Executive Board
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Frieder Bangerter
frieder Bangerter, born 24 June 1965, is a member of the VBH Holding Ag executive Board, Korntal-Münchingen, 

responsible for controlling and Accounting, finance, investor Relations, it, HR, Auditing and taxes.

 

After completing a banking apprenticeship and studying business, he completed an internship in the Us. His 

professional career began in 1993 as a controller at geHe Ag, europe’s largest pharma wholesaler and retailer. 

Mr. Bangerter became head of corporate accounting in 1994. After joining geHe Pharma Handel gmbH (phar-

ma wholesaler in germany and the czech Republic) in 1998, he was responsible for the area of controlling and 

accounting and, after becoming financial managing director in 2000, for IT in addition to the commercial areas.

outside of work, Mr. Bangerter was a member of the economics working group of the stuttgart chamber of industry 

and commerce.

Executive Board
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vBh shares  

Stock market environment 
2010 began promisingly on the stock markets and the price of VBH shares quickly rose to a value of € 4.75 per 

share. the performance that followed was stable but marked by low trading volumes.

effective 21 June 2010, the shares of VBH Holding Ag were removed from deutsche Börse’s sdAX segment. there 

were indications of this from the start of the year as a result of declining trading volumes in light of the lower free float 

and market capitalisation. this development was due in large part to Ascalon Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, which 

has increased its holding to 21.85 % by January 2011.

Stock exchange listing
VBH shares are listed on Xetra and on the regulated markets of the frankfurt and stuttgart stock exchanges in the 

Prime standard.

performance of vBh shares  
VBH shares began 2010 well on the stock markets, but then lost ground significantly over the course of the year. The 

shares reached their high for the year of € 4.75 on 19 January 2010 and their lowest point on 23 december 2010 at  

€ 3.99. VBH shares closed the year at € 4.25. the share price had risen by 6.3 % as against the price at the end of 

the previous year of € 4.00. the price currently stands at around € 4.50 with a low volume.

Market capitalisation amounted to € 195 million as at the end of the reporting period after € 183.5 million in the previ-

ous year.

Shareholder structure in 2010
The free float of VBH shares decreased as against 2009 from 55.4 % to 31.9 % as at the end of the reporting period.

in accordance with section 21 (1) sentence 1 of the Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHg – german securities trading Act), 

shareholders are required to notify the company and the Bundesanstalt für finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (Bafin – ger-

man federal financial supervisory Authority) if their voting rights exceed or fall below certain percentage thresholds. the 

following reporting thresholds apply: 3 %, 5 %, 10 %, 15 %, 20 %, 25 %, 30 %, 50 % and 75 %. the following changes in 

shareholder structure of greater than 10% had occurred as at 31 december 2010:

Mr. Viktor Trenev, Russia, notified us on 19.07.10 in accordance with section 21 (1) WpHG that his share in the voting  �

rights of VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-Münchingen, germany, had exceeded the 20 % threshold on 16.07.10 and amoun-

ted to 20.58 % (9,442,023 voting rights) on this date. 20.58 % (9,442,023) of the voting rights are attributable to Mr. 

trenev through Ascalon Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, in accordance with section 22 (1) sentence 1 no. 1 WpHg.

vBh shares 
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Share price performance vBh share and SdAX            VBH share

Stock performance indexed, 31.12.2009 = 100           sdAX

Ascalon Holding GmbH, Vienna, Austria, notified us on 19.07.10 in accordance with section 21 (1) WpHG  �

that its share in the voting rights of VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-Münchingen, germany, had exceeded the 20 % 

threshold on 16.07.10 and amounted to 20.58 % (9,442,023 voting rights) on this date.

Mr. Viktor Trenev, Russia, notified us on 5 March 2010 in accordance with section 21 (1) WpHG that his share  �

in the voting rights of VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-Münchingen, germany, had exceeded the 15 % threshold on 

4 March 2010 and amounted to 16.75 % (7,684,492 voting rights) on this date. 16.75 % (7,684,492) of the 

voting rights are attributable to Mr. trenev through Ascalon Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, in accordance with 

section 22 (1) sentence 1 no. 1 WpHg.

Ascalon Holding GmbH, Vienna, Austria, notified us on 5 March 2010 in accordance with section 21 (1) WpHG  �

that its share in the voting rights of VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-Münchingen, germany, had exceeded the 15 % 

threshold on 4 March 10 and amounted to 16.75 % (7,684,492 voting rights) on this date.

Notifications after the end of the reporting period
Mr. Victor Trenev, Russia, and Ascalon Holding GmbH, Vienna, Austria, notified us in accordance with section 27a (1) WpHG 

on 20 January 2011 by letter dated 14 January 2011 that Mr. Victor trenev, Russia, (including all voting rights of Ascalon 

Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, attributable to him in accordance with section 22 (1), sentence 1 no. 1 WpHg) and Ascalon 

Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, currently hold 21.85 % in VBH Holding Ag.

The corresponding threshold notifications in accordance with sections 21 and 22 in conjunction with section 26 WpHG were 

properly issued by the reporting parties in all cases. According to the information of the reporting parties, there were no further 

reportable changes in accordance with sections 21 and 22 WpHG in the period since the last notification on 16 July 2010. 

In addition, the reporting parties have now also satisfied the reporting requirement of section 27a (1) WpHG and notified the 

company as follows:

i. goals pursued with the acquisition of voting rights:

1. the investment is for the purpose of implementing strategic objectives.

2. it is intended to obtain further voting shares by way of acquisition or otherwise within the next twelve months.

3. It is intended to influence the composition of a supervisory body of VBH Holding AG.

4. It is not intended to implement a significant change in the capital structure of the company, particularly with regard to  

    the ratio of equity and borrowed capital and to the dividend policy.

ii. origin of the funds used:

the funds used originated as the own funds of the sole shareholder of Ascalon Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, Mr. 

Victor trenev, and as loans received by Ascalon Holding gmbH from third parties.
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investor relations activities 
VBH attaches great importance to a continuous, transparent dialogue with the capital market, analysts and institu-

tional and private investors. the aim is to communicate the VBH group’s strategy and growth potential through a 

transparent presence on the capital market, thus achieving a fair valuation for VBH shares.

Investor relations activities continued throughout the financial year 2010 in addition to regular quarterly, six-

month and annual reporting. VBH held an analysts’ conference at the equity forum in frankfurt. the executive 

Board held talks with various investors and attended conferences in addition to giving the annual accounts press 

conference. through intensive dialogue, we intend to serve existing shareholders while attracting new german 

and international investors for VBH shares. However, parallel to the decreasing free float, VBH shares have also 

attracted less attention on the capital market.

the Annual general Meeting on 9 June 2010 was again utilised by our shareholders to hear extensive informa-

tion directly from the VBH Holding Ag executive Board on the performance of business. 79.6 % of voting share 

capital was registered and represented at the Annual general Meeting.

the internet site of VBH offers current information for shareholders and investors, enabling all interested parties 

to form a comprehensive view of VBH. in addition to personal meetings, the legally relevant information provided 

is also a good way of staying informed about the company. 

financial reports, analysts’ ratings, presentations and other publications are available at http:\\www.vbh-holding.com.

As in previous years, Equinet Bank AG, Frankfurt was VBH’s designated sponsor in the past financial year. The 

company is currently monitored on an ongoing basis by four analysts at major banks.

vBh shares 
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dividend policy 
the executive Board would like for the shareholders to participate in the success of VBH with a consistent 

dividend policy and has resolved to submit a proposal on the appropriation of profits to the Supervisory Board 

allowing for a dividend for the 2010 financial year of € 0.06 per share. This corresponds to a distribution rate of 

40 % based on the adjusted operating consolidated net profit for the period (before goodwill impairment). The 

primary goal of the executive Board is still to continue to scale back the net debt and to retain a long-term distri-

bution rate of at least 35-40 % of operating earnings per share. A fundamental requirement for this is the financial 

stability of the VBH group, which is to be guaranteed by the active management of working capital in particular. 

Through these goals, shareholders should be able to participate appropriately in the company’s profits.

vBh shares 



tHe intUitiVe iteM findeR.

The new “Find, Don’t Search” item finder from VBH will show you the right 

products intuitively and at a glance – without searching for hours. 

it runs a guided search through the entire VBH range using suitable proper-

ties such as material, shape or colour. This way, customers quickly find what 

they really need.
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group management 
report

of VBH Holding Ag

the VBH business model  

in its core business, VBH operates as an international production connection dealer between component manufacturers 

and processors in the door and window industry. it creates a well-rounded range from the complex product offerings of 

suppliers and thereby plays a key role in range design, distribution logistics and sales for a highly fragmented market that 

comprises around 500 suppliers and more than 30,000 customers in germany alone. the customer base extends from 

craftsmen to industrial operations and essentially comprises door and window manufacturers, metalworkers, fitters, joiners 

and interior decorators. Efficient processes, high inventory turnover and short payment periods make VBH the sector’s 

cost leader.

the extensive product range for PVc, wood and metal window and door manufacturing includes window, door and 

furniture mountings in addition to mouldings, seals, construction chemistry and components, fastening technology 

and tools. thus, VBH supplies a majority of all components and materials that its customers need to build and 

install windows and doors. since 2009, VBH has extended its product range as a manufacturer with the greenteQ 

own brand, which is now a fixed component of range policy with over 1,800 items and to date has focused on PVC 

window manufacturing in particular. 

In addition to VBH’s core business model, the subsidiary esco Metallbausysteme GmbH (“esco”) serves a specific 

customer group with its branches in Austria and Poland. esco offers system solutions for metal working and steel 

construction in the field of doors, windows and façades. The company develops and sells a broad range of products 

from renowned suppliers and its systeQ own brand. As an exclusive supplier for WiconA door mountings and 

thanks to the development of special mounting constructions for façades for large properties, the company offers 

its customers bespoke individual system solutions. in addition to operating as a dealer, esco sells the feRRo-Wic 

steel system. In the field of mechatronics, end-to-end solutions and individual custom work are designed, delivered, 

fitted and serviced for automatic doors and windows, security technology and smoke and heat exhaust ventilation. 

organisation and regional coverage
Within its core business model, VBH operates on over 40 national markets worldwide and enjoys a leading position 

in its regional markets. operative management is broken down by the four regional segments germany, Western 

europe, eastern europe and other Markets. the table below shows the individual countries in which these segments 

operate. 

group management Report
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germany Western Europe Eastern Europe other markets
germany Belgium Bosnia Argentina

greece Bulgaria china

United Kingdom estonia india

ireland georgia Kuwait

italy Kazakhstan Malaysia

netherlands Kosovo Mexico

Austria croatia Panama

spain latvia singapore

cyprus lithuania thailand

Montenegro turkey

Moldavia UAe

Poland

Romania

Russia

serbia

slovakia

slovenia

czech Republic

Ukraine

Hungary

Belarus

overall, VBH is therefore comprehensively represented in Western and eastern europe. the other Markets segment 

is still being developed, while its companies have already assumed leading positions in the regional markets.
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Strategy
VBH’s operations around the world are all geared to our vision: 

“Simply everything. Everything simple.”,
a motto intended to mirror our standard for an extensive product range and the development of innovative services 

for our customers. this motto will continue to shape VBH’s direction moving forward.

 VBH is also pursuing a long-term, strategic plan built on three pillars (see also figure):

selective expansion of the international presence, which can also include taking on national markets that do not  �

fit VBH’s business model;

expansion of the greenteQ own brand to a share of consolidated sales of 10 %; �

systematic expansion of the service portfolio. �

thanks to its successful international positioning, VBH can offer its suppliers a global sales platform and its 

customers a comprehensive and internationally coordinated range of products and services. the partnership with 

suppliers and the success in procurement are based on moving high volumes, very good payment methods and 

the ability to open and expand new markets for business partners through the VBH sales platform. 

the other Markets segment is under development and currently focuses on the Middle east and Asia. the 

group’s company in turkey plays a key role in the segment’s further expansion. VBH’s area of operations in south 

America was also extended to include Argentina in 2009. A central warehouse is currently being established in 

Panama to initially supply the current VBH companies in Argentina and Mexico, and to deliver to further markets in 

south and central America in future as well. VBH caucasus was founded in tbilisi together with a partner and is 

responsible for georgia and other neighbouring regions. following a strategic review, however, VBH discontinued 

its activities in Australia over the course of the year.

group management Report
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the greenteQ own brand is now an anchor point of range policy and excellently rounds off the VBH product port-

folio with its strong manufacturer brands (“simply everything”). greenteQ is opening up new options for VBH to raise 

its profile among existing customers and to attract new customer groups and is also still proving a growth driver. 

With now more than 1,800 items, greenteQ products account for 6 % of total sales at VBH deutschland gmbH. 

VBH intends to continue pushing its own brand systematically and to accelerate the market penetration of greenteQ 

products on international markets. 

the innovative service range, which VBH is gradually rolling out in its subsidiaries, is allowing the group to stand 

out clearly in the competitive environment. Where additional products and services are needed, we develop tailored 

solutions to create value added for our customers.

One example of this is the CE-fix tool developed together with IFT Rosenheim with which window and door 

manufacturers and suppliers can obtain all necessary ce documentation from product passes to component 

sheets with extensive processing information online instantly. VBH is gradually expanding CE-fix to create a 

technology platform with a view to becoming a strategic system provider in the wood area in particular. other 

services such as the VBH knowledge base are also becoming increasingly popular with an average of more 

than 2,000 hits per month. the mobile logos app for smartphones, which customers can use to order online 

from the construction site, is proving to be an innovation that VBH customers are more than happy to use. 

VBH is currently working on further creative and innovative solutions to make work easier for its customers (“every-

thing simple”).

in summary, we as VBH have repeatedly proved that we are internationally successfully positioned. this is shown 

by the sustainability of our strategic policies; we will continue to work systematically within this framework in 2011 as 

well.
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overall economic environment and
sector performance

1.  econoMic enViRonMent

the global economy was in much better condition in 2010 following the massive disruptions of the economic and 

financial crisis. While uncertainty as to further developments was still prevalent at the start of 2010, the economic 

stimulus programmes and political intervention have made a substantial contribution towards stabilising the global 

financial and economic situation. Current figures assume an increase in global gross national product of 4.8 % in 

2010 as against 2009. 

for 2011 and 2012, the international Monetary fund (iMf) is forecasting global economic growth of around 4.5 %. 

in spite of positive developments, the iMf feels that problems lie in the high debt levels of the industrialised nations, 

high commodities prices and the absence of essential financial reforms. Current political unrest in Northern Africa 

and the Middle east as well as the continuing uncertainty with regard to the situation in Japan could lead to further 

shifts. Accordingly, growth forecasts also vary for the different regions of the world. growth of 2.5 % is predicted for 

the industrialised nations for 2011 and 2012. in contrast, the emerging and developing nations are expected to see 

growth rates of over 6.0 %. the iMf sees the industrialised nations of germany and the Us as the growth engines. 

In the emerging nations, China and India stand out with high forecast growth rates, though the risk of high inflation 

rates is also on the rise.
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2.  constRUction indUstRY

the european construction industry shrank for the third time in a row in 2010. Based on the calculations of the 19 

european research institutes in the renowned euroconstruct network, it contracted by 9 % in the crisis year of 2009 

and a further 3 % in 2010. the construction industry performed differently in the various segments:

Residential construction stabilised in 2010 with a decline of 2.9 % (previous year: down 12.9 %). Moderate  �

growth of 2.9 % is anticipated for 2011. According to euroconstruct, a greater share of redevelopment work 

is expected from 2013, consolidating the current level. the general conditions for residential construction are 

currently very good in germany. financing costs are extremely attractive due to the favourable interest rates. 

Jobs are safer thanks to the positive developments in the economy as a whole and rising income is forecast for 

2011. According to the German Window and Façade Association, the positive trend in residential construction 

will continue in 2011 as well.

Commercial construction, defined as structural engineering without residential construction, declined by 5.1 %  �

overall as against the previous year. A slight drop of 1.2 % is expected for the current year with only a slow 

recovery in subsequent years. in particular, the developments in ireland, spain, Portugal and greece will exert 

a negative influence owing to the high debt levels and the restrictions on investing activities this entails. More 

positive trends are forecast for central and eastern europe. slight growth of 2.2 % is assumed for germany.

According to the analyses of the euroconstruct institutes, the european construction market is expected to stagnate 

in 2011 (down 0.1 %) and grow by 2 % in 2012. Positive developments are forecast for scandinavia, Poland, italy and 

germany in particular. A further recovery in the european construction industry is anticipated for 2013.

the construction market in Asia is one of the biggest growth markets in the world, with india and china in particular 

standing out with double-digit growth rates forecast. the construction market in the Middle east is also playing an increa-

singly important role for VBH and industry experts are forecasting continuing high growth for 2011.
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3.  WindoW And dooR MARKet

in the wake of the economic crisis, the european window market suffered a sharp drop of 22.4 % in 2009. the market 

stabilised in 2010 and grew slightly by 0.4 % on the previous year. thus, a volume of 125.8 million window units was 

achieved (see press graphic from the German Window and Façade Association (VFF) below).

European window and 
façade market

■ 2009

■ 2010

Europe     Eu  germany 

-22.4%

+0.4%

-10.9%

-6.6%

+3.3%
+4.9%

Press graphic: German Window and Façade Association (VFF)
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the stabilisation of the market as a whole resulted in particular from the market growth of the eastern european nations 

such as Poland, Russia and the Ukraine. in Poland, the market has expanded steadily since 2008 and should continue 

to grow in 2011 as well. Russia and the Ukraine had recorded substantial market contraction in 2009. However, both 

countries posted clear double-digit growth rates in 2010 and are also anticipating further market stabilisation in 2012. 

in the Middle east, turkey enjoyed growth in particular. 

in Western europe, positive trends were observed on the window markets of the UK and italy, with slight growth forecast 

here for 2011. By contrast, the window market in spain again performed negatively in 2010. it has suffered double-digit 

market declines since 2008.

the german window market clearly rose above the Western european level. in 2010 it grew by 4.9 % after 3.3 % in the 

previous year. Germany is continuing to benefit from the subsidisation of energy modernisation in its economic stimulus 

packages. thanks to the market’s growth, sales of 12.6 million window units were achieved in 2010. this is 0.5 million 

more units than in the previous year. 

the rise in sales of window units from 12.1 million to 12.6 million was due solely to the residential sector. Units 

increased from 7.1 million in 2009 to 7.6 million in 2010. the commercial construction sector remained constant with 

sales of 5 million window units. the areas of renovation and new construction also again moved further apart. given 

the further subsidisation of energy modernisation, the renovation area’s share of window units rose by 8 % from 7.6 

million in 2009 to 8.2 million in 2010. new construction saw a decline of 2.3 % from 4.5 million in 2009 to 4.4 million 

window units in 2010. the german window market is expected to remain at a level of 12.6 million in 2011.

there was also a positive trend in the german exterior door market, which developed largely parallel to the window 

market. After an increase of 5.1 % to 1.17 million units in 2009, it rose by a further 5.6 % to 1.23 million units in 2010. 

frame materials in this area break down as 34 % wood, 32 % PVc, 28 % aluminium and 6 % wood/metal.

the exterior door market displayed similar trends to the window market. the divergence between new construction and 

renovation continued to widen due to subsidisation. Here, too, the positive development was due solely to the residential 

sector. non-residential construction remained stable year-on-year.
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Earnings, financial position and net assets

1.  sAles And eARnings

consolidated sales recovered as against the crisis year of 2009 and rose by 5.9 % from € 755.1 million to € 800.0 

million.

Regions of vBh  

the table shows the different developments in the individual segments:

sales climbed by 7.6 % in the germany segment, accounting for just over half of consolidated sales. thus, the 

german market is still the most important sales market in the group and has proven to be a high-growth region 

following a modest start. this development was driven by ongoing government programmes and the boom on the 

window market in germany. sales rose from € 382.5 million to € 411.4 million.

in the Western europe segment, which is characterised by weak markets, sales declined by 7.4 % from € 143.9 million 

to € 133.3 million. this further sales slide since 2009 is mainly due to greece, Belgium, ireland, italy and spain.

The Eastern Europe segment recovered very rapidly following a weak first quarter and contributed to the Group’s 

growth with a sales increase of 12.1 %. sales rose from € 221.1 million in the previous year to € 247.9 million. Much of 

this impetus came from the CIS nations, which recovered significantly overall and again showed substantial momen-

tum.

the other Markets segment in Asia (singapore, china, thailand and Malaysia), the Middle east (dubai and Kuwait) 

and turkey are showing a highly positive development overall, though the organisation in china is still falling far 

short of the internal targets. VBH achieved sales of € 31.2 million after € 25.8 million in the previous year in this 

segment.

in m €
2009 2010 change 

in %
germany 382.5 411.4 +7.6

Western europe 143.9 133.3 -7.4

eastern europe 221.1 247.9 +12.1

other markets 25.8 31.2 +20.9

consolidation -18.2 -23.8

group 755.1 800.0 +5.9
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owing to the regulations of ifRs 5.33, the discontinued operations must be adjusted retrospectively in earlier repor-

ting periods. the income statement for continuing operations is as follows:

profit and loss
income statement: calculation of adjusted eBit and adjusted eBitdA

in € t

2009
continuing 
operations

2010
continuing 
operations

Sales 755,143 800,011

Total operating profit 755,143 800,011

costs of raw materials, supplies and purchased merchandise 571,855 607,801

Gross operating profit 183,288 192,210

Personnel expenses 92,511 94,916

other operating income 12,890 18,008

other operating expenses 80,437 86,269

EBitdA 23,230 29,033

depreciation / Amortization 6,008 16,090

EBit 17,222 12,943

income from investments 0 0

other interest and similar income 734 514

interest and similar expenses 8,085 8,906

Depreciation on financial assets and securities 0 9

Financial result -7,351 -8,401

EBt 9,871 4,542

current taxes 4,043 6,278

deferred taxes -811 -1,393

EBt continuing operations 6,639 -343

discontinued operations -80 -887

EAt 6,559 -1,230

Minorities 986 481

net result after minorities 5,573 -1,711
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Within the group, gross operating profit increased by € 8.9 million in absolute terms in the reporting period. 

the gross profit margin declined slightly from 24.3 % in the previous year to 24.0 % in the current financial 

year. staff costs grew only slowly as a result of restructuring measures at some VBH companies and climbed 

by a total of 3 %. other operating income was positively influenced by subsequent purchase price reductions 

on an acquisition and currency gains. other operating expenses increased from € 80.4 million to € 86.3 million. 

depreciation, amortisation and write-down expenses rose from € 6.0 million to € 16.1 million, particularly as a 

result of the goodwill impairment of € 10.1 million. net finance costs deteriorated from € -7.4 million to € -8.4 

million due to the higher utilisation of credit lines on account of the greater working capital requirements and 

the higher interest rates. income taxes rose from € 3.2 million to € 4.9 million.

calculation of adjusted EBit and EBitdA
the key control parameter for VBH is the group’s operating performance, which is measured as eBitdA and 

eBit. As these figures are also affected by extraordinary effects, we have chosen a form of presentation for 

the first time that permits a more objective assessment of operating group performance and are reporting 

“adjusted” results. extraordinary effects are factors that occur only once or do not recur regularly. “eBitdA”, 

“adjusted eBitdA” and “adjusted eBit” are internal figures. they are not defined by ifRs regulations and 

are intended as additional information for readers of the financial statements. in particular, these key figures 

were adjusted for the effects of amortisation on intangible assets and purchase price reductions as extraordi-

nary effects totalling € t 8,692. to improve understanding of these figures, we have presented a statement of 

reconciliation below.
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in € t

2010
continuing 
operations

special 
items

2010 
adjusted 
earnings

Sales 800,011 Sales 800,011

Changes in finished goods, work in 
progress / capitalized payments

0
Changes in finished goods, work in 
progress / capitalized payments

0

Total operating profit 800,011 Total operating profit 800,011

costs of raw materials, supplies and 607,801 costs of raw materials, supplies and 607,801

Gross operating profit 192,210 Gross operating profit 192,210

Personnel expenses 94,916 Personnel expenses 94,916

other operating income 18,008 -1,456 other operating income adjusted 16,552

other operating expenses 86,269 other operating expenses 86,269

EBitdA 29,033 -1,456 EBitdA adjusted 27,577

depreciation / Amortization 16,090 -10,148 depreciation / Amortization 5,942

EBit 12,943 8,692 EBit adjusted 21,635

income from investments 0 income from investments 0

other interest and similar income 514 other interest and similar income 514

interest and similar expenses 8,906 interest and similar expenses 8,906

Depreciation on financial assets and 
securities

9
Depreciation on financial assets and 
securities

9

Financial result -8,401 Financial result -8,401

EBt 4,542 EBt adjusted 13,234

current taxes 6,278 current taxes 6,278

deferred taxes -1,393 deferred taxes -1,393

EBt continuing operations -343
EBt continuing operations
adjusted

8,350

discontinued operations -887 discontinued operations -887

EAt -1,230 8,692 EAt adjusted 7,462

Minorities 481 Minorities 481

net result after minorities -1,711 8,692
net result after minorities 
adjusted

6,988

EpS in € -0.04 0.19 EpS in € adjusted 0.15

EpS diluted in € -0.04 0.19 EpS diluted in € adjusted 0.15

Reconciliation of adjusted income statement vBh holding Ag
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The key operating figures produced by the adjustment are as follows:

Key ratios

Adjusted eBitdA climbed by 19.0 % from € 23.2 million to € 27.6 million. the margin of adjusted eBitdA to sales 

improved from 3.1 % to 3.5 %. Adjusted eBt performed better and rose by 25.6 % from € 17.2 million in the previous 

year to € 21.6 million.

2.  finAnciAl Position And net Assets

Financial position
investments in the VBH group amounted to € 4.6 million after € 11.6 million in the previous year. there were no 

additions to goodwill in the past financial year (previous year: € 2.5 million); € 0.8 million of additions related to 

other intangible assets (previous year: € 1.3 million) and € 3.7 million to property, plant and equipment (previous 

year: € 2.8 million). There were no additions to financial assets (previous year: € 4.8 million). 

investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets not including goodwill (capex) amounted to € 4.6 

million were therefore up on the previous year’s level (€ 4.2 million). the ratio of capital expenditure to depreciation and 

amortisation climbed from 0.7 to 0.8.

2009 2010
eBitdA adjusted in € m 23.2 27.6

eBitdA-margin adjusted in %   3.1%  3.5%

eBit adjusted in € m 17.2 21.6

eBit-margin adjusted in %   2.3%  2.7%

eBt in € m 9.9 4.5

eBt adjusted in € m     9.9  13.2

eAt net result after minorities in € m 5.6 -1.7

eAt net result after minorities adjusted in € m  5.6 7.0
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capex and depreciation
in € m 2009 2010
capex 4.2 4.6

depreciation on assets 6.0 5.9

capex vs. depreciation ratio 0.7 0.8

capital expenditure was offset by virtually unchanged depreciation on property, plant and equipment and amortisati-

on on intangible assets not including goodwill amounting to € 5.9 million (previous year: € 6.0 million).

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
The Group’s cash flow declined in the reporting year as a result of the strong expansion of inventories and receivables 

and thereby of working capital of € 16.8 million, while in the previous year there had been a reduction of € 13.2 million. 

As a result, operating cash flow fell from € 33.6 million to € 4.8 million in the financial year. 

The cash flow from investing activities dropped again to € 3.7 million after € 9.3 million in the previous year, reflecting the 

Group’s restrictive investing activities. Free cash flow (total net cash inflows and outflows from operating and investing 

activities) declined from € 24.4 million in the previous year to € 1.2 million due to the expansion of current assets. cash 

flow from financing activities declined to € -3.1 million after € -23.5 million in the previous year. As at the end of the repor-

ting period, cash and cash equivalents were € 1.8 million lower than at the start of the year at € 12.7 million.

in € m 2009 2010
Cash flow from operating activity 33.6 4.8

Cash flow from investing activity -9.3 -3.7

free cash flow 24.4 1.2

Cash flow from financing activity -23.5 -3.2

changes in cash and cash equivalents and changes owing to exchange gains/
losses 

0.1 0.2

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 13.5 14.4

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 14.4 12.7
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net assets 

Assets

in spite of the growth in its business activities, the group’s total assets rose only slightly from € 350.1 million 

to € 354.1 million on account of the goodwill impairment. 

non-current assets declined from € 98.8 million to € 89.1 million, largely as a result of goodwill impairment of € 10.1 million. 

intangible assets were down from € 51.5 million to € 41.0 million while property, plant and equipment decreased by € 1.1 

million from € 30.3 million to € 29.2 million. deferred tax assets increased by € 1.6 million from € 10.1 million to € 11.7 

million.

Current assets rose by € 13.7 million from € 251.3 million to € 265.0 million. This change reflected a € 14.6 million increase 

in inventories, a € 7.1 million sales-driven rise in trade receivables and a € 1.2 million decline in receivables from group 

companies. the reduction in other assets amounted to € 3.8 million. cash and cash equivalents declined from € 14.4 million 

in the previous year to € 12.7 million as at the end of the reporting period.

in € t 31.12.2009 31.12.2010
long-term assets
intangibles assets 51,500 41,034

Property, plant and equipment 30,343 29,232

financial assets 2,424 1,955

other long-term assets 4,482 5,140

deferred tax assets 10,092 11,741

total 98,841 89,102

Short-term assets
inventories 110,236 124,848

trade receivables 96,187 103,274

Trade receivables affiliated companies 4,300 3,133

other assets 24,109 20,270

cash and cash equivalents 14,411 12,663

tax receivables 2,055 762

total 251,298 264,950

total assets 350,139 354,052
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Equity and liabilities
in € t 31.12.2009 31.12.2010
Equity
subscribed capital 45,869 45,879

capital reserve 41,847 41,906

Revenue reserve 35,585 37,257

Profit retained -2,135 -6,302

equity attributable to shareholders of VBH Ag 121,166 118,740

Minority interests 8,580 8,338

treasury stock 0 0 

Equity 129,746 127,078

non-current liabilities
Pension provisions 12,497 12,812

other long-term provisions 3,130 3,046

Long-term financial liabilties 67,888 10,921

other long-term liabilities 2,015 2,416

deferred tax liabilities 3,823 4,411

total 89,353 33,606

current liabilities
short-term provisions 5,127 4,785

Short term financial liabilties 50,141 114,114

Advances received 538 593

trade payables 43,801 47,476

Trade payables affiliated companies 0 0

other short-term liabilities 30,330 26,127

tax liabilities 1,103 273

total 131,040 193,368

total equity and liabilities 350,139 354,052
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on the liabilities side, equity decreased from € 129.7 million to € 127.1 million. share capital and the capital reserves rose 

slightly due to the payment from the option programme. Equity was reduced by the dividend payment for the financial year 

2009 and the net loss for the year. owing to the reduction in total assets due to the goodwill impairment, the consolidated 

equity ratio is now 35.9 % after 37.0 % in the previous year.

Non-current liabilities fell by € 55.8 million from € 89.4 million to € 33.6 million, largely as a result of the reclassification 

of financial liabilities from non-current to current. Other items in non-current liabilities were at virtually the same level as 

in the previous year.

Current liabilities rose from € 131.0 million to € 193.4 million as a result of the reclassification mentioned above. Trade 

payables increased by € 3.7 million on the previous year due to sales, while other liabilities fell by € 4.2 million. current 

and non-current financial liabilities rose by € 7.0 million. This was as a result of operating activities and the financing of 

current assets.

The Group’s lines of credits given by commercial banks provided VBH with adequate credit in the current financial 

year to continue developing its operating activities and performing investments. given the expiry of the syndicated loan 

agreement currently in place as at the end of 2011, VBH Holding AG is currently restructuring the Group’s financing. 

Based on the talks conducted with the banks to date, the Executive Board is confident of ensuring financing in the long 

term. it is aiming to conclude negotiations by the middle of 2011.

Net working capital (defined as inventories plus trade receivables less trade payables) rose in proportion to sales 

overall by € 16.2 million or 9.6 % to € 183.8 million. the ratio of net working capital to sales increased from 22.2 % 

to 22.9 %, essentially as a result of the increases in inventories. the group is still aiming to bring this ratio to a 

level of 20 %.
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3.  segMent RePoRt

VBH is structurally organised into five segments, reflecting the management structure of the Group. The segments 

are: germany, Western europe, eastern europe, other Markets and corporate services.

germany accounts for 49.9 % (previous year: 49.5 %) of total group sales, while Western europe accounts for 

16.2 % (previous year: 18.6 %), eastern europe for 30.1 % (previous year: 28.6 %) and other Markets 3.8 % 

(previous year: 3.3 %).

germany
the germany segment comprises the two companies VBH deutschland gmbH and esco Metallbausysteme gmbH, 

which cover the markets for wood and PVc window manufacturers and metal workers.

the sales performance in the germany segment was highly positive. sales rose by 7.6 % or around € 29 million from 

€ 382 million to € 411 million. this was due to an increase in market share as the market as a whole grew by only 

4.9 %. The positive business development was largely influenced by the healthy condition of the German window 

market. Performance was most stable in the renovation area, followed by residential construction which saw a slight 

recovery. commercial construction bottomed out in 2009 and is slowly consolidating its position. in addition, the 

economic aid programmes and measures to promote energy modernisation, combined with favourable mortgage 

loans, are leading to stable capacity utilisation among our customers. eBit increased by € 5.0 million to € 14.2 million 

(previous year: € 9.2 million). the eBit margin improved to 3.5 % (previous year: 2.5 %).

international

Western Europe
in the Western europe segment, consisting of the markets of the UK, ireland, italy, Belgium, spain, the netherlands, 

greece and Austria, sales declined by 7.4% from € 143.9 million to € 133.3 million. While sales were up in the 

UK, our sales companies in Ireland, Belgium, Greece and Italy suffered declines in sales as a result of the difficult 

general economic situation in particular. competitive pressure is also high in these countries. in the netherlands, 

the company benefited from government intervention to stimulate the economy and reduced the drop in sales in the 

fourth quarter.

eBit declined to € -5.0 million after € -3.3 million in 2009. in spite of poor markets, many Western european com-

panies still made positive contributions to earnings. However, results were squeezed by a lack of contributions to 

margins and the ongoing restructuring activities in Belgium and italy. 
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Eastern Europe
the eastern europe segment consists of central eastern europe, the cis nations and southeast europe. in the past 

year, sales in this segment increased by 12.1 % to € 247.9 million. the main growth driver was the Russian market 

with sales growth of 25 % together with the cis nations. central eastern europe was stable overall with the markets 

in the Baltic states, Poland, the czech Republic, Romania and Bulgaria, which stabilised at the previous year’s level. 

High competitive pressure was also seen here. In the Baltic states in particular, VBH profited from weak competition 

and increased its market share. sales in the Balkan states stabilised overall as against the previous year and grew 

strongly in individual countries.

Owing to the substantial exchange rate fluctuations caused by a weak Euro at the start of the year, which mainly 

impacted the margins in Russia and central eastern europe, earnings did not keep pace with the sales performance. 

At € 17.6 million, eBit was roughly on par with the previous year’s level.

other markets 
this segment comprises VBH’s other international activities in china, Malaysia, thailand, singapore, the VBH 

companies in dubai, Kuwait, turkey and, since 2010, our company in Mexico. the start-ups are still at a low sales 

level, but will gradually share in the positive development forecast for the window markets. the key sales drivers 

are our established companies in singapore and turkey, which generate the majority of sales in this region. sales 

increased by 21 % to € 31.2 million in 2010. the chinese company in Beijing was restructured over the course of 

2010 with the help of employees from the group’s headquarters and realigned towards the market.

the segment’s loss in terms of eBit was reduced from € -1.0 million in the previous year to € -0.3 million despite 

the negative earnings effects of the restructuring in Beijing. the earnings contributions from turkey proved the most 

stable.
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corporate Services segment 
non-operational companies are grouped together in the corporate services segment. in addition to VBH Holding 

Ag as the parent company, this is a sale-and-lease-back company consolidated in line with ifRs regulations. eBit 

for the two companies amounted to € -4.4 million (previous year: € -5.0 million). the expenses incurred by VBH 

Holding Ag are more than compensated for by the dividend distributions by the VBH companies and income within 

the Group. The segment’s overall result is based on the net financial income of VBH Holding AG, which has reflected 

a waiver of interest from VBH germany gmbH in place since 2004 and still valid in 2010. the carrying amounts of 

the investments recognised by VBH Holding AG are tested for impairment annually in the preparation of the financial 

statements. there were write-downs in the segment for the companies that are currently undergoing a reorganisation 

and restructuring process owing to internal and external conditions.

the far-reaching measures will be implemented in the medium term with the support of VBH Holding Ag employees 

so that these companies can sustainably generate income for the group once again.

4.  RisK RePoRt

the business activities of VBH in more than 40 countries around the world naturally entail a number of risks 

and opportunities, not all of which can be avoided or realised respectively. the only real potential for risk comes 

from unrecognised and therefore unmanaged risks. thanks to the active risk controlling work in the context 

of risk management, VBH reduces this potential to a minimum. This plays a significant role in the successful 

and economical management of the company within the framework of its strategic objectives. Within VBH, the 

heart of the risk detection system is formed by risk management with the monthly reporting system of the group 

companies, an ad hoc system and the internal Auditing department. it is therefore a strategic success factor for 

the reduction of the threat potential and the management of the continuation and ongoing development of the 

company.

Risk management system
the risk management system essentially pursues four objectives in the intentional handling of risks in the entire VBH 

group. these are compliance with legal requirements, supporting corporate governance, raising risk awareness and 

increasing enterprise value. VBH employs a risk diversification strategy to achieve these goals.
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Risks are identified at all VBH companies using a standardised procedure every six months. Firstly, this tracks 

external risks such as those relating to suppliers, customers, competition, market and currency factors on the one 

hand and internal risks such as those relating to receivables, inventories and management factors, risks arising from 

the financial/liabilities structure and risks of current business operations on the other. These risks are then measured 

using a risk score and EBT-@-risk. The findings of this method are aggregated at Group level and, if necessary, 

measures to eliminate risks are implemented immediately. our Risk controlling committee ensures the sustainable 

elimination of risks. The findings are also used by the Internal Auditing department.

Regular reporting system of the group companies
This covers all significant management and reporting processes for the Group, including corporate planning. A 

robust international controlling system for equity holdings in place at VBH Holding Ag provides direct access to 

the information of investment companies on a monthly basis. the aim is to ensure a highly effective, intensive and 

rapid early warning system for all international markets. this allows VBH to gather information on changes in the 

earnings power of each individual company unit quickly and to convert this information into measures to protect 

sales and earnings immediately.

Ad hoc system
in addition to the risk prevention systems in place in the VBH group described above, there is also an ad hoc 

reporting system. operational risk controlling falls within the responsibility of the national managing director. if 

defined thresholds are exceeded, e.g. for monetary risks, the persons responsible at the various levels of hierar-

chy are involved in the process without delay. this thereby guarantees immediate and central communication up 

to group management.

internal Auditing
the aim of internal Auditing is to ensure compliance in day-to-day operations with the processes and guidelines 

defined in the manuals, to present potential for improvement in processes and control systems and to identify fraud 

in the susceptible processes. it should also identify potential for economic improvement.

 

internal Auditing works according to procedural instructions coordinated between the executive Board and the 

supervisory Board. several companies undergo an internal audit each year. the companies audited are selected 

according to various factors.
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the supervisory Board receives reports on the current status of audit work at regular intervals. in the context of 

the annual audit, the auditor assesses whether the executive Board has adopted the measures incumbent on it, 

and in particular whether it has established a monitoring system to ensure that any developments that threaten the 

continued existence of the company are recognised in a timely manner.

in addition to the factors described above, the following risks will be explicitly analysed below:

Sales and procurement risks
Material risks can arise as a result of negative developments in the economy and construction industry in the regions 

in which VBH operates. the VBH group counters the risk of a sales downturn by regularly analysing and adjusting the 

structure of its sales mix and orienting its product programme to the requirements of the customer structure. this is 

aided by the Group’s service range, such as the VBH24 service platform, CE-fix designation, the knowledge database 

and the introduction of high-profitability products with substantial margins under the greenteQ brand name. VBH at-

tempts to minimise potential supply risks through strategic partnerships and continuous monitoring of the market. At the 

same time, the strong national and international market position allows VBH to obtain better purchasing conditions.

legal risks
the international focus of the VBH group requires the observance of many different national laws and regulations. 

the group addresses the risk of changes in these laws by systematically monitoring the legal environment and 

consulting internal and external legal advisers at an early stage. All contracts of material significance are subject 

to a legal review.

it risks
A dependence on the availability and reliability of it systems and the networking of individual company units 

represents an increasing risk. To minimise this risk, extensive preventive steps have been taken, such as firewall 

systems and virus protection, setting up a back-up computer system and data protection training sessions for 

employees. in addition, the implementation of largely standardised it structures within the group should enable 

future work to be carried out more effectively and efficiently.
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Risks of acquisitions
the acquisition of or investments in new companies and their integration into the group always entails risks. to 

ensure the sustained success of the company, both business due diligence reviews and legal and tax due diligence 

reviews are carried out.

Financial risks  
financial risks for the VBH group primarily include currency, interest rate and loan default risks.

currency risk
As a global company, the currency risk to which the VBH group is exposes includes transaction and translation-related 

risks. Transaction risk arises from changes in the value of foreign currency payments due to exchange rate fluctuations in 

the single-entity financial statements. Transaction risks are to some extent avoided by purchasing products in the countries 

in which VBH sells them. Translation risk relates to the risk of a change to items on the statement of financial position and/

or statement of comprehensive income of a subsidiary due to currency changes occurring when the separate local financial 

statements are translated into the group currency. Risks arising as a result are measured using sensitivity analyses and if 

necessary hedged by using financial derivatives.

interest rate risk
Interest rate risks include any positive or negative influence arising from changes to interest rates on income or equity in 

current or future reporting periods. Interest-bearing financial instruments are utilised with the aim of reducing negative effects 

on interest income as an element of financial policy. The Group uses interest rate derivatives for this purpose. Sensitivity 

analyses are carried out to quantify risks in connection with interest rate changes.

Risk of default
VBH manages ever-present default risk through detailed local monitoring, use of a comprehensive credit management 

system and credit insurance providing partial protection against defaults.
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5.  foRecAst

The outlook for the financial year 2011 is clouded by persistent uncertainty regarding economic and in some cases political 

developments. However, we are assuming the basic economic recovery will continue. the markets in the emerging nations 

will perform better than the established markets.

development of the global economy  
According to expert opinion, the recovery of the global economy will continue in 2011. the forecasts assume growth 

of between 4 % and 5 %, which means a slowdown as against the previous year due to the end of government stimu-

lus measures. However, the positive overall performance of the global economy will be influenced by various factors, 

such as exchange rates, even within the eurozone. furthermore, there is also not insubstantial uncertainty regard 

the political developments in northern Africa, which could spread as far as the Middle east. 

following a decent recovery in 2010, experts state that the european economy will progress more slowly in 2011. 

this will be caused by lower government spending in most eU countries combined with decreased consumer activity 

due to wage cuts and tax increases. the forecast increase in unemployment in several Member states will also 

not contribute positively to the recovery. Moreover, the property crisis in countries such as spain and ireland is still 

continuing undiminished. growth forecasts in the eurozone for 2011 are for up to 1.5 %, a dip on the previous year’s 

figure of around 1.7 %. 

The economy recovered more quickly in Germany in 2010, thanks significantly to a clear recovery in export busi-

ness. This momentum is supported by a stable labour market with strong demand for highly qualified personnel. New 

debt is rising but is below average compared to other euro nations. the momentum of growth will be slowed by the 

end of economic stimulus programmes in 2011, with gross domestic product forecast to grow by 2.2 % after 3.7 % in 

the previous year. this forecast is therefore at the upper end of the range compared to the rest of the eurozone.

despite the moderate growth rates forecast around the world, the latin American and Asian emerging markets will 

continue to drive the global economy in 2011. In particular, it will be aided significantly by the BRIC countries:

the oecd is forecasting growth of around 9.7 % for china in 2011 with 8.2 % for india, 4.3 % for Brazil and 4.4 % for 

Russia.
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the fundamental uncertainty will also continue to affect the outlook for the global construction industry. the 

development of commercial construction will be faltering following the end of several government economic 

stimulus programmes. new residential construction will still depend on favourable mortgage loans, while the 

renovation sector should perform stably thanks to rising energy prices. Positive impetus is anticipated from 

Russia especially on account of the high renovation potential.

in the VBH group, the executive Board is assuming slight increases in sales in the germany segment in 2011 as 

planning permission is on the rise and incentive programmes for energy modernisation are still in place.

following considerable setbacks in previous years, Western europe is expected to bottom out over the course of 

2011. However, there are still substantial risks in some countries such as spain, italy and greece.

In the Eastern Europe segment, assuming stable exchange rates, a significant overall recovery is anticipated with 

mid-single-digit growth, driven mainly by Russia and the cis nations. the Asian market should recover and return to 

strong growth. 

The Executive Board is forecasting a single-digit increase in sales in the current and subsequent financial year 

and is confident that earnings growth will outstrip sales development in both these years. The Group has a 

broad international positioning with potential as yet untapped in many markets. this will be tackled systema-

tically going forward. cost structures are monitored closely at all times and are developing more slowly than 

sales growth. Working capital will be optimised further, cash flow should rise on account of restrictive invest-

ments and the planned earnings increases.

The 2011 financial year
The business performance of VBH in the first two months of the current year slightly exceeded expectations and plan-

ning. Prior-year figures and planning were clearly outperformed in the Germany and Eastern Europe segments, while 

the Western Europe and Other Markets segments roughly matched the previous year’s figures but did not meet targets. 

By the end of february 2011, sales throughout the group had increased by around 9 % as against the previous year.

In the medium term, the Executive Board is assuming that there will be no material changes in the current financial 

situation of the VBH group.

it will continue to push forward with the implementation of the strategic positioning, focusing on internationalisation, 

expanding the product range, strengthening the greenteQ own brand and expanding existing services and introducing 

new ones. the policies of VBH do not require any changes in this respect and will remain in effect in the long term. 

these and other strategic information are available at all times on our website, www.vbh-holding.com.
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6. significAnt eVents AfteR tHe end 
    of tHe RePoRting PeRiod

Mr. Victor Trenev, Russia, and Ascalon Holding GmbH, Vienna, Austria, notified us in accordance with section 27a 

(1) WpHg on 20 January 2011 by letter dated 14 January 2011 that Mr. Victor trenev, Russia, (including all voting 

rights of Ascalon Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, attributable to him in accordance with section 22 (1), sentence 1 

no. 1 WpHg) and Ascalon Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, currently hold 21.85 % in VBH Holding Ag.  

the corresponding threshold notifications in accordance with sections 21 and 22 in conjunction with section 26 

WpHg were properly issued by the reporting parties in all cases. According to the information of the reporting 

parties, there were no further reportable changes in accordance with sections 21 and 22 WpHg in the period 

since the last notification on 16 July 2010. in addition, the reporting parties have now also satisfied the repor-

ting requirement of section 27a (1) WpHg and notified the company as follows:

i. goals pursued with the acquisition of voting rights

1. the investment is for the purpose of implementing strategic objectives.

2. it is intended to obtain further voting shares by way of acquisition or otherwise within the next twelve months.

3. It is intended to influence the composition of a supervisory body of VBH Holding AG.

4. It is not intended to implement a significant change in the capital structure of the company, particularly with  

    regard to the ratio of equity and borrowed capital and to the dividend policy.

ii. origin of the funds used

the funds used originated as the own funds of the sole shareholder of Ascalon Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, 

Mr. Victor trenev, and as loans received by Ascalon Holding gmbH from third parties.
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7. coRPoRAte goVeRnAnce declARAtion 

the principles of responsible and professional corporate governance shape the actions of the management and 

controlling bodies of VBH Holding Ag with the aim of safeguarding the success of the company in the long term. 

this declaration represents a corporate governance report by the executive Board in accordance with section 289 

(1) HgB. this declaration includes the declaration of compliance, the corporate governance report, disclosures on 

the corporate governance practices applied, the description of the working methods of the executive Board and the 

supervisory Board and information on compliance at VBH Holding Ag.

 

declarat ion of compliance
The first version of the German Corporate Governance Code was presented in February 2002. Since then, the 

code has been updated and expanded each year. the government commission on the german corporate 

governance code is responsible for the formulation and ongoing development of the code (www.corporate-

governance-code.de). the code is based on legal requirements, including in particular the german stock 

corporation Act. it offers comprehensive recommendations for the cooperation of management and supervisory 

boards, for transparent communications with the capital market and for the protection of shareholder and stake-

holder interests.

VBH Holding Ag submitted its latest declaration of compliance in accordance with section 161 Aktg in March 2011, 

and posts its most recent declaration on its website. the declaration is required annually and indicates where VBH 

Holding Ag is not in compliance with the code and the reasons why. the text of the latest declaration of compliance 

reads as follows:

“the executive Board and the supervisory Board of VBH Holding Ag submitted the latest declaration of compliance 

in accordance with section 161 Aktg on 30 March 2010. for the period 31 March 2010 to 2 July 2010, the declara-

tion shown below pertains to the version of the code dated 18 June 2009, published on 5 August 2009 in the elec-

tronic Bundesanzeiger (german federal gazette). for the period from 3 July 2010, the declaration below pertains 

to the version of the code dated 26 May 2010, published on 2 July 2010 in the electronic Bundesanzeiger (german 

federal gazette).

the executive Board and the supervisory Board of VBH Holding Ag declare that the company has complied with 

and will continue to comply with the recommendations of the german corporate governance code with the following 

exceptions:
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code 3.8.
the d&o insurance policy concluded by VBH for supervisory Board members does not feature a deductible, as the 

group insurance policy also covers a number of employees within and outside germany.

VBH Holding Ag is furthermore of the opinion view that having such a deductible would not enhance motivation and 

responsibility on the part of supervisory Board members with regard to their duties.

A deductible for members of the executive Board has been agreed in their contracts in line with legal requirements.

code 4.2.3.
At this time, the variable remuneration components for executive Board members do not feature stock options 

or similar incentives. As before, the executive Board is to be primarily incentivised through variable remuneration 

components based on corporate earnings. individual executive Board member remuneration is comprised solely of 

fixed and performance-based components and a discretionary bonus, as the Supervisory Board believes that stock 

options are only of limited value under present circumstances for incentivising the executive Board.

executive Board contracts do not contain any provisions relating to a lump sum settlement or its basis of calcu-

lation in the event of their premature termination, nor do they contain any provisions relating to termination of 

Executive Board members following a change of control. This provides the necessary degree of flexibility in the 

event of premature termination of executive Board members, with the aim of achieving a reasonable outcome to 

negotiations according to the specific situation at hand.

code 5.3.3
there is no nomination committee within the supervisory Board constituted exclusively of shareholder represen-

tatives. this would likely be impractical at present, as the supervisory Board is currently composed of four share-

holder representatives, so that voting on shareholder representative candidates for the supervisory Board is not 

a problem in this constellation.
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code 5.4.1
in addition to the legal requirements, the supervisory Board bases its proposals for the election of supervisory 

Board members solely on the technical and personal aptitude of candidates and on objective matters of expedi-

ency – that promote the function of the Supervisory Board. This includes, for example, the affiliation of mem-

bers with relevant business experience. The Supervisory Board will refrain from stating more specific goals for 

its composition, especially as merely stating such specific goals does not necessarily entail an improvement in 

the quality of supervisory Board work.

code 5.4.3.
due to practical considerations, VBH reserves the right to hold elections for supervisory Board candidates at the 

Annual general Meeting in block form if necessary, as this procedure has proven highly effective in the past, and the 

efficient conduct of the Annual General Meeting is in the interest of shareholders. Shareholders’ right to petition for 

individual voting remain thereby unaffected.

The company reserves the right to file unexpiring petitions for court appointment of Supervisory Board members. 

However, the intention is to propose court-appointed supervisory Board members for election by shareholders to the 

supervisory Board at the next Annual general Meeting to follow the court appointment. this ensures the supervisory 

Board’s ability to act at all times while simultaneously ensuring that shareholders may exercise their participation 

rights to involvement in the election of supervisory Board members.

code 5.4.6.
supervisory Board member remuneration is governed by the company‘s Articles of Association and outlined in detail 

in the remuneration report, which is part of the management report, as well as in the notes to the financial state-

ments. for this reason, further disclosures and breakdowns by individual are not provided.

code 7.1.2
Prior to publication, the half-yearly and quarterly financial reports are discussed only with the Chairman of the 

Audit committee and not with the entire Audit committee, as the executive Board views this as the only means of 

maintaining the necessary flexibility and preventing overlapping responsibility problems, particularly with regard to 

matters relevant for ad hoc release.
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corporate governance Report
 

corporate governance  
the concept of “corporate governance” can be described as “corporate management and control”, referring to the 

general legal and institutional conditions that indirectly or directly influence the management decisions of a company, 

and thus its performance. Efficient cooperation between the company management and supervisory committees, 

regard for shareholders‘ interests and openness and transparency in corporate communications are all essential 

aspects of good corporate governance. At VBH Holding AG, corporate governance is firmly anchored in the corpo-

rate culture. Both the executive Board and the supervisory Board regularly concern themselves with german and 

international developments in the area of corporate governance. the corporate governance report outlined below 

provides an overview of the principles most relevant to corporate governance at VBH Holding Ag.

 
general information on the management structure  
VBH Holding Ag is subject to the provisions of the german stock corporation Act (Aktiengesetz - Aktg) and the 

german one-third employee Participation Act (drittelbeteiligungsgesetz - drittelbg), as well as to capital market 

regulations, the provisions of its Articles of Association and the rules of procedure for the executive and supervisory 

Boards. VBH Holding Ag maintains a divided management and supervisory structure in its governance bodies, the 

executive and supervisory Boards. the executive and supervisory Boards are and consider themselves to be obli-

gated to the interests of the shareholders and the welfare of the company. the Annual general Meeting is the third 

executive body of the company.

the Supervisory Board
the supervisory Board is comprised of six members. in accordance with german drittelbg, it is two-thirds com-

prised of shareholders and one-third of employee representatives. shareholder representatives are elected at the 

Annual general Meeting, while employee representatives are elected pursuant to the provisions of drittelbg. the 

supervisory Board advises and monitors the executive Board’s management of the company.

 

The composition of the Supervisory Board, with independent, qualified members, guarantees efficient supervisory 

work. As an auditor and tax consultant, the Chairman of the Audit Committee in the past financial year, Mr. Matthias 

linnenkugel, has experience – including internationally – in the application of accounting policies and internal control 

procedures.
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With the executive Board, the supervisory Board regularly discusses business developments, the strategic and 

operative focus and corporate planning and its implementation. The annual financial statements, including the ma-

nagement report and the proposal on the appropriation of the profits of VBH Holding AG, the consolidated financial 

statements and the group management report are audited by the supervisory Board. it also handles the quarterly 

financial statements and the results of the committee meetings.

the executive Board and the supervisory Board work closely in a spirit of cooperation to sustainably increase the 

enterprise value of VBH Holding Ag. the main areas of the work between the executive Board and the supervisory 

Board can be read in the “Report of the supervisory Board”, which is a component of this annual report.

the Rules of Procedure of the supervisory Board stipulate clear and transparent procedures and structures as a 

component of the monitoring and controlling process. the supervisory Board further stipulated the information and 

reporting duties of the executive Board. the new version of the Rules of Procedure of the supervisory Board, dated 

20 January 2010, reflects the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code for the Supervisory 

Board.

There were no conflicts of interest among Executive Board and Supervisory Board members, which would have had 

to have been disclosed to the supervisory Board immediately.

the Executive Board  
the executive Board of VBH Holding Ag (currently consisting of two members) manages the company and oversees 

its transactions.

the executive Board must represent the interests of the company. the objective of its activities is to enhance the 

value of the company on a sustainable basis. it develops the strategic orientation of the company, coordinates it with 

the supervisory Board and ensures that it is implemented. it is also responsible for the company’s annual and multi-

year planning and for preparing mandatory reports, such as the annual and consolidated financial statements and 

quarterly reports. in addition, it provides for appropriate risk management and risk control, as well as regular, prompt 

and comprehensive reporting to the supervisory Board on all strategic, corporate planning, business development, 

risk position and risk management issues of relevance to the group.

it also ensures compliance with statutory regulations, legal provisions and internal corporate policy by the group 

companies.
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the assignment of duties and cooperation within the executive Board is governed by rules of procedure. share-

holders and the capital market are notified in good time of measures and transactions of fundamental importance 

to ensure that decision-making processes remain transparent during the fiscal year and capital market participants 

properly informed. Significant transactions are subject to approval by the Supervisory Board.

the Annual general meeting 
shareholders exercise their rights and voting rights at the Annual general Meeting. VBH Holding Ag has shares with 

full voting rights only. Each share grants entitlement to one vote. The Annual General Meeting is held within the first 

eight months of each fiscal year. The agenda of the Annual General Meeting, including required reports and docu-

ments, is published on the company‘s website.

to facilitate shareholders’ exercising of their respective rights, VBH Holding Ag provides a proxy representative for 

the Annual general Meeting who is bound by instructions. the invitations to the Annual general Meeting explain how 

instructions for exercising voting rights can be issued before the Annual general Meeting. in addition, shareholders 

are at liberty to select a proxy representative of their choice to represent them. the registration and proof of identity 

procedures comply with the internationally recognised record date procedure required by law. in this process, the 

21st day prior to the Annual General Meeting is the authoritative date for verification of a shareholder‘s identity for 

participation in the Annual general Meeting.

transparency 
VBH Holding Ag uses its website, <<http://www.vbh-holding.com >>, to communicate information to shareholders 

and investors. In addition to the consolidated and annual financial statements and quarterly reports, shareholders 

and third parties are informed of current developments by way of ad hoc disclosures and press releases. VBH Hol-

ding AG publishes a financial calendar in good time ahead of all important dates and company releases.

Accounting, auditing and risk management
The consolidated financial statements of VBH Holding AG and the Group management reports are prepared in 

accordance with the principles of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs); the annual financial 

statements and management report of VBH Holding Ag are prepared in accordance with german commercial 

code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HgB).
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Prior to submitting an election proposal at the Annual general Meeting, the supervisory Board obtained con-

firmation of independence from the proposed auditor. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board requested that 

the auditor immediately report any and all matters arising during conduct of the audit that in any way concern 

the duties of the Supervisory Board with respect to material findings or occurrences in the event such matters 

cannot be immediately resolved.

The current risk management system in place at VBH Holding AG is designed for the identification, recording, 

assessment and managing of business and financial risks to which the company is exposed in the course of 

its activities. the individual elements of the monitoring system provide reliable information on the current risk 

situation and support documentation, risk examination and the elimination of weak points, thus helping mini-

mise potential risk-related costs. detailed information on the risk management system of VBH Holding Ag can 

be found in the management report (risk report) to the consolidated financial statements comprising part of this 

annual report.

declaration of compliance – german corporate governance code 
the german corporate governance code contains recommendations and important provisions on managing and 

monitoring german listed companies, incorporating standards of professional and responsible corporate manage-

ment recognised internationally and within germany. the aim of the german corporate governance code is to 

render the German corporate governance system transparent and verifiable, in the interest of greater confidence on 

the part of german and international investors, customers, employees and the general public in the management 

and monitoring of german listed companies. the german corporate governance code was last updated by the 

government commission on 26.05.10.

the executive Board and supervisory Board of VBH Holding Ag have reviewed the new recommendations in detail 

and last updated the declaration of compliance in March 2011. Any deviations from the recommendations of the 

german corporate governance code as amended 26 May 2010 have been presented and reasons provided. the 

declaration of compliance and the reasons for any non-compliance are provided in this annual report.

the current version and previous versions of the declaration of compliance dating from 2004 onwards are per-

manently available to shareholders on the website (http://www.vbh-holding.com).
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Reportable securities transactions, material shares of voting rights and shareholdings of 
the executive bodies 
in accordance with the Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHg – german securities trading Act), VBH Holding Ag publis-

hes directors’ dealings disclosures in accordance with section 15a WpHg, i.e. disclosures of securities transactions 

in VBH Holding Ag shares by members of the executive Board and the supervisory Board and other persons who 

perform management functions at VBH Holding Ag in accordance with section 15a of the WpHg, as well as by 

natural and legal persons closely related to these persons, immediately upon their receipt. these disclosures are 

published on the company‘s website (http://www.vbh-holding.com).

The company also publishes disclosures on the acquisition or disposal of significant shares of voting rights pursuant 

to Section 21 of the German Securities Trading Act, and disclosures on holding financial instruments pursuant to 

section 25 of the german securities trading Act, immediately upon their receipt.

the shareholdings of the executive bodies of VBH Holding Ag are broken down in the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements.

“Annual document” pursuant to Section 10 of the german Securities prospectus Act
the “Annual document” in accordance with section 10 (1) of the Wertpapierprospektgesetz (WpPg – german 

securities Prospectus Act) has been published under the “corporate governance” section of the website, 

http://www.vbh-holding.com, and can be viewed there.

Remuneration report
the remuneration report forms part of both the group management report and the corporate governance report. the 

supervisory Board has included it in its approval of the group management report and used it as a source for repor-

ting on corporate governance and remuneration.
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disclosures on corporate governance practices

the duties of the executive Board of a stock corporation include the monitoring of external factors and developments 

affecting operating business and operations and financing, and making decisions in regard to opportunities and risks 

in connection therewith. in doing so, the executive Board is bound by the established rules of procedure for the 

executive Board.

the executive Board receives the information necessary for managing the company and decision-making in the 

form of monthly financial reports from the subsidiaries, through regular contact with the managing directors of the 

subsidiaries and by visiting company locations in germany and abroad. furthermore, geographical regions are 

assigned to regional heads, who report regularly to the executive Board.

the company observes all corporate governance practices required by law, and requires all employees to comply 

with a corporation-wide code of internal conduct. in view of the midmarket size of the subsidiaries, no other corpo-

ration- wide standards of an ethics, labour or social-related nature are in place.

the VBH Holding Ag executive Board, supervisory Board and managers regularly review strategic objectives, revi-

sing these as necessary.

Since the start of the financial year 2010, the internal audit function has been transferred to an independent 

auditor, who audits the group companies in coordination with the analyses of the risk management system and 

the executive Board to detect weaknesses early on and to devise solutions. the risk managers appointed within 

group controlling support the work of internal auditing.

the risk management system was developed further in 2010. the risks of individual companies were analysed and 

presented uniformly to communicate a comprehensive status. If need for action is identified, measures and defined 

and specified. Risks are measured using an EBIT-@-risk model.
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Procedures fol lowed by the executive and supervisory Boards

the VBH Holding Ag executive Board (consisting of two members) manages the company and oversees its busi-

nesses. the executive Board is bound to representing the interests of the company. the objective of its activities is 

to enhance the value of the company on a sustainable basis. it develops the strategic orientation of the company, 

coordinates it with the supervisory Board and ensures that it is implemented. it is also responsible for the company’s 

annual and multi-year planning and for preparing mandatory reports, such as the annual and consolidated financial 

statements and quarterly reports. in addition, it provides for appropriate risk management and risk control, as well as 

regular, prompt and comprehensive reporting to the supervisory Board on all strategic, corporate planning, business 

development, risk position and risk management issues of relevance to the group.

The Chief Executive Officer directs business operations including regional activities, sales and logistics; the Chief 

Financial Officer is in charge of controlling and accounting, finance, investor relations, IT, HR, internal auditing and 

taxes. Both are closely involved in operational activities. the regional directors for Western europe, spain and 

America, central and eastern europe, cis (excluding Russia) and the Baltics, Russia and other Markets regularly 

report to the executive Board on the performance of the business divisions and are responsible for results in their 

respective regions.

the composition of the executive Board is outlined in section 6 of the VBH Holding Ag Articles of Association. the 

Board must consist of a minimum two individuals, appointed by the supervisory Board. the supervisory Board is 

responsible for establishing rules of procedure for the executive Board outlining actions/transactions conducted by 

the latter requiring supervisory Board approval. the supervisory Board may also establish its own rules of procedure 

in accordance with section 11 (7) of the Articles of Association.

 

At meetings of the full supervisory Board and its committees, the executive Board provides verbal and written 

reports on agenda items and resolution proposals in addition to responding to questions posed by individual mem-

bers. the executive Board participates in all supervisory Board meetings unless the supervisory Board should 

resolve otherwise in certain cases, particularly concerning specific agenda items.

Resolution petitions and all relevant documentation must be provided to supervisory Board members in a timely 

manner ahead of the meetings. the supervisory Board convenes at least four times a year on a regular basis, and 

additional meetings may be called as necessary. Resolutions may be voted on by written circulation procedure when 

necessary.
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the supervisory Board chairman discusses the activity of the supervisory Board and its committees in the annual 

supervisory Board Report to shareholders, and at the Annual general Meeting. the current supervisory Board 

report is provided on page 14 of this annual report.

in particular, the supervisory Board chairman regularly discusses the course of business and current issues with the 

executive Board. outside of these meetings, the executive Board reports verbally and in writing to the supervisory 

Board chairmen on current developments. the supervisory Board met six times in 2010. 

VBH Holding Ag has organised supervisory Board committees for the following areas: Human Resources, the Audit 

committee and strategy, Marketing and sales.

the Audit committee met three times in the reporting year and prepared the resolution of the supervisory Board on 

the adoption of the annual financial statements and approval of the consolidated financial statements for the period 

ended 31 december 2009. the HR committee met once in the year under review. the strategy, Marketing and 

sales committee also met once in 2010.

 

the supervisory Board reviews its own effectiveness annually.

The members comprising the Supervisory Board are outlined in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

compliance – the framework for entrepreneurial 
and business activi ty

Acting with responsibility is an integral part of the corporate culture at VBH Holding Ag. this extends to integrity in 

our dealings with fellow staff members, with business partners, shareholders and the public, demonstrated through 

impeccable conduct.

for VBH Holding Ag, compliance means obeying laws, regulations, the Articles of Association and internal policies. 

to ensure that our actions and conduct are at all times exemplary, a code of conduct is in place for the entire corpo-

ration establishing guidelines and standards for the conduct of the executive Board, on-site management, managers 

and all employees of the company.

this code of conduct outlines ways in which all personnel can work together to uphold these standards, providing a 

guide for resolving ethical and legal concerns that may arise in daily work as well as conflict situations. Violations are 

investigated in the interest of all employees and the company itself, in order to eliminate the corresponding causes.
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8. eXPlAnAtoRY RePoRt of tHe eXecUtiVe BoARd in 
    AccoRdAnce WitH section 315 (4) HgB.

in accordance with section 315 (4) of german commercial code (Handelsgesetzbuch - HgB), a publicly listed parent 

entity is required to make disclosures on the capital structure, shareholder rights and restrictions, affiliated companies and 

the governing bodies of the company to the extent relevant for acquisitions. these disclosures are required per european 

Parliament and council directive 2004/25 ec dated 21 April 2004 on takeover bids. companies whose voting shares 

are listed on an organised market per section 2 (7) securities Acquisition and takeover Act (Wertpapiererwerbs- und 

Übernahmegesetzes - WpÜg) must make such disclosures irrespective of whether a takeover bid has been advanced 

or is expected. these disclosures are intended to enable potential bidders to obtain comprehensive information on the 

company and any obstacles to a takeover. these disclosures are also found in the company‘s management report in 

accordance with section 289 (4) of german commercial code. According to section 176 (1) sentence 1 of the ger-

man stock corporation Act (Aktiengesetz - Aktg), the executive Board is also required to present an explanatory report 

on these disclosures to the Annual general Meeting. A summary of the disclosures according to section 315 (4) of the 

german commercial code and corresponding explanations according to section 176 (1) sentence 1 of the german stock 

corporation Act is presented below.

 

Structure of subscribed capital 
the subscribed capital of VBH Holding Ag, totalling € 45,879,408 is divided into 45,879,408 no-par bearer shares 

(ordinary shares), each bestowing the same rights, including voting rights. there are no different share classes. An 

individual no-par share corresponds to a notional share of subscribed capital of € 1.00.

VBH‘s shares are listed in the Prime standard segment on Xetra and on the regulated market of the frankfurt and 

stuttgart stock exchanges.

security        scn isin              symbol

share            760070 de0007600702        VBH

Restrictions on voting rights and transfers
the executive Board is not aware of any restrictions affecting voting rights or the transfer of shares.
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Equity interests above 10 %
As of 31.12.10, the following direct or indirect interests in the equity of VBH Holding Ag in excess of 10 % of voting 

rights were known to the executive Board, per disclosures under securities law received by the company:

Mr. Wieland frank, germany, informed us on 29.06.2007 in accordance with section 21 (1) of the german securities 

trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz - WpHg) that his voting rights in VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-Münchingen, germany, 

had fallen below the 25 % threshold on 31.05.2007, on that day amounting to 23.43 % (9,258,553 votes). of that number, 

18.62 % (7,358,242 votes) are attributable to him per section 22 (1) sentence 1 (1) WpHg. the attributed voting rights 

are held by the following company, which he controls and whose voting rights in VBH Holding Ag amount to 3 % or more: 

AdWiAn oHg, Kampen, germany.

Ms. Annette Wagener, germany, informed us on 29.06.2007 in accordance with section 21 (1) WPhg that her 

voting rights in VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-Münchingen, germany, had fallen below the 20 % reporting threshold on 

31.05.2007, on that day amounting to 18.62 % (7,358,242 votes). of that number, 18.62 % (7,358,242 votes) are 

attributable to her per section 22 (1) sentence 1 (1) WpHg. the attributed voting rights are held by the following 

company, which she controls and whose voting rights in VBH Holding Ag amount to 3 % or more: AdWiAn oHg, 

Kampen, germany.

AdWiAn oHg, Kampen, germany, informed us on 29.06.2007 in accordance with section 21 (1) WPhg that its 

voting rights in VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-Münchingen, germany, had fallen below the 20% reporting threshold on 

31.05.2007, on that day amounting to 18.62 % (7,358,242 votes). 

dr. eike tobias Matthiessen, germany, informed us on 17.06.2009 in accordance with section 21 (1) of the 

german securities trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz - WpHg) that his voting rights in VBH Holding 

Ag, Korntal- Münchingen, germany, had exceeded the 10 %, 15 %, 20 % and 25 % reporting thresholds on 

15.06.2009, on that day amounting to 25.1 % (11,493,689 votes). of that number, 25.1 % (11,493,689 votes) 

are attributable to him per section 22 (1) sentence 1 (1) WpHg. the attributed voting rights are held by the 

following company, which he controls and whose voting rights in VBH Holding Ag amount to 3 % or more: 

lisoMA Beteiligungs gmbH, Hamburg, germany.

Lisoma Beteiligungs GmbH, Hamburg, notified the company on 17 June 2009 in accordance with section 21 (1) 

WpHg that its share in the voting rights of VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-Münchingen, germany, had exceeded the 10 %, 

15 %, 20 % and 25 % thresholds on 15 June 2009 and amounted to 25.1 % (11,493,689 voting rights) on this date. 
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Mr. Viktor Trenev, Russia, notified the company on 19 July 2010 in accordance with section 21 (1) WpHG that his 

share in the voting rights of VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-Münchingen, germany, had exceeded the 20 % threshold on 

16 July 2010 and amounted to 20.58 % (9,442,023 voting rights) on this date. 20.58 % (9,442,023) of the voting rights 

are attributable to Mr. trenev through Ascalon Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, in accordance with section 22 (1) 

sentence 1 no. 1 WpHg.

Ascalon Holding GmbH, Vienna, Austria, notified the company on 19 July 2010 in accordance with section 21 (1) 

WpHg that its share in the voting rights of VBH Holding Ag, Korntal-Münchingen, germany, had exceeded the 20 % 

threshold on 16 July 2010 and amounted to 20.58 % (9,442,023 voting rights) on this date.

no other direct or indirect shareholdings exceeding 10 % of voting rights were known on the balance sheet date.

Shares with special rights 
the company has no shares with special rights that grant powers of control. 

voting right control for employee participation
the executive Board is not aware of any employees holding an equity interest in the company who do not exercise 

their control rights directly.

Appointment and dismissal of Executive Board members and amendments to the Articles 
of Association
the VBH Holding Ag executive Board must be constituted of a minimum two individuals. Beyond this requirement, the 

number of executive Board members is determined by the supervisory Board. Appointment and dismissal of executive 

Board members is carried out in accordance with the legal provisions outlined under sections 84 and 85 of the german 

stock corporation Act. With the exception of a court-appointed replacement, the supervisory Board has sole respon-

sibility for appointing and dismissing executive Board members. it appoints executive Board members for a maximum 

term of 5 years. A member may be re-appointed or his or her term of office be extended for a maximum of 5 years. The 

supervisory Board may appoint an executive Board chairman and deputy chairman.

in accordance with german corporate governance code, initial appointments are generally not made for the 5-year 

maximum term.

Per section 17 (2) of the Articles of Association and at variance to section 179 (2) of the german stock corporation Act, 

amendments to VBH Holding Ag’s Articles of Association require a shareholder resolution by a simple majority vote, 

except as provided otherwise by law or in other Articles of Association. the supervisory Board is authorised to amend the 

Articles of Association in wording only. sections 179 and 133 of the german stock corporation Act also apply.
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Executive Board powers to issue and repurchase shares
on 10 June 2009 the Annual general Meeting approved new authorised capital with the option of increasing capital 

against cash or non-cash contributions under disapplication of shareholders’ statutory subscription rights and the corre-

sponding amendment of the Articles of Association. Accordingly, the executive Board is authorised to increase the share 

capital of the company (Authorised capital) one or more times until 9 June 2014 by a maximum € 20,000,000 through the 

issuance of new no-par value ordinary bearer shares carrying voting rights (no-par value shares), subject to supervisory 

Board approval. thus far the executive Board has not exercised this power, and has no plans at present to do so.

the executive Board power outlined here to issue new shares from Authorised capital is to enable the executive 

Board to cover any capital requirements arising in a rapid, flexible and cost-effective way, and to utilise financing 

options that are attractive relative to the market. The ability to finance the acquisition of companies or stakes in com-

panies by issuing company shares to the sellers in certain cases allows the company to carry out expansion without 

negatively impacting liquidity.

the share capital of the company has also been contingently increased by € 40,000 by the issue of up to 40,000 

no-par ordinary bearer shares with voting rights (contingent capital ii). this contingent capital increase serves 

exclusively to cover exercised option rights issued by a 24 May 2004 Annual general Meeting authorisation (share 

option plan) through the date 24 May 2009. this contingent capital increase will only be implemented to the extent 

that holders of the option rights issued exercise their right to purchase shares, and the company does not provide 

treasury shares to fulfil these option rights.

in addition, the authorised and contingent capital provisions outlined here are standard for comparable listed compa-

nies, and are not designed to impede potential takeover bids.

the Annual general Meeting authorised the executive Board to acquire treasury shares on 8 June 2010.

the company is therefore authorised to acquire treasury shares until 7 June 2015 in the amount of up to 10 % of 

the share capital available at the time of the resolution for purposes other than trading in treasury shares, whereby 

the acquired shares together with other treasury shares owned by or attributable to the company cannot account for 

more than 10 % of the share capital at any time.

if the shares are purchased on the stock exchange, the purchase price must not be more than 10 % above or below 

the average market price for the ten trading days prior to purchase. if purchased in a public tender offer to all share-

holders, the price paid to shareholders may not be more than 20 % above or below the average market price for the 

ten trading days prior to announcement of the offer.
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the executive Board is also authorised, with the approval of the supervisory Board and disapplying the subscrip-

tion rights of shareholders, to dispose of the treasury shares acquired in a way other than on the stock exchange 

or by offer to all shareholders if the acquired treasury shares are sold for cash at a price not significantly less than 

the stock market price at the time of disposal. However, this authorisation only applies on the condition that the 

shares sold under disapplication of subscription rights in accordance with section 186 (3) sentence 4 Aktg do not 

exceed a total of 10% of the share capital or if the shares are disposed against non-cash contributions for the 

purpose of acquiring companies or equity interests in companies or if the shares are used to satisfy subscription 

rights granted to managers of the company and affiliated domestic companies under the stock option plan resol-

ved by the Annual general Meeting of 24 May 2004, item 11 of the agenda, or if the shares are issued in the form 

of employee shares to employees of the company and/or to managers and employees of affiliated companies as 

part of an employee participation model.

finally, the executive Board is authorised to withdraw treasury shares without this requiring a further resolution by 

the Annual general Meeting.

material agreements of the company with change-of-control clauses
there are no material agreements in place concerning a change of control over the company in the case of a takeo-

ver bid.

compensation agreements of the company
the company has no compensation agreements in place with executive Board members or employees in the event of 

a takeover bid. 

in the reporting period, there was no cause for the executive Board to consider takeover-related matters or particula-

rities with regard to disclosures required under the takeover directive implementation Act. Accordingly, the executive 

Board does not consider necessary further explanations beyond the information provided here and in the management 

and group management reports.
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9. eXPlAnAtoRY RePoRt of tHe eXecUtiVe BoARd in AccoR-  
    dAnce WitH sections 289 (5) And 315 (2) no. 5 HgB 

legal background
the Accounting law Reform Act (BilMog) enacted 29 May 2009 amended sections 289 and 315 HgB and sections 

120 and 175 Aktg. Pursuant to the Reform Act, the executive Board must present a written report to shareholders at 

the Annual general Meeting on matters including the new disclosure requirements in the management report per sec-

tion 289 (5) HgB and in the group management report per section 315 (2) no. 5 HgB regarding the internal control 

and risk management system in place for the accounting and consolidated accounting process

in the later german Act implementing the shareholders‘ Rights directive (gesetz zur Umsetzung der Aktionärsrechte-

richtlinie – ARUg) legislators bundled requirements for providing explanatory reports under section 176 (1) Aktg and 

eliminated the previous regulations under section 120 (3) sentence 2 and section 175 (2) sentence 1 Aktg. the refe-

rence to section 289 (5) HgB added by BilMog and the management report disclosures on the internal control and risk 

management system in place for the accounting and consolidated accounting process were not incorporated. it has not 

been finally settled whether this was merely an editorial error, resulting in an explanatory report to the disclosures per 

section 289 (5) HgB (and section 315 (2) no. 5 HgB) still being required after ARUg goes into force. As a precaution, 

the VBH Holding AG Executive Board has elected to provide such a report for fiscal year 2010.

Subject of the report
According to the legal justification of BilMoG, the internal system of controls extends to principles, methods and 

measures intended to ensure the effectiveness, efficiency and properness of accounting as well as compliance with 

applicable laws. this includes the internal auditing system, to the extent it concerns accounting.

As part of the internal system of controls, the risk management system as it pertains to the accounting process similarly 

involves accounting control and monitoring processes, particularly for financial accounting positions relating to the 

company‘s risk management.
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Key accounting features of the internal system of controls and risk management system
the salient features of the internal system of controls and risk management system in place at VBH Holding Ag 

concerning the (consolidated) accounting process can be described as follows:

the VBH group has clear organisational, corporate and control and monitoring structures; �

there are group-wide planning, reporting, controlling and early warning systems and processes tailored to the  �

company’s size for full analysis and management of earnings-relevant risk factors and going-concern threats; 

Functional responsibilities are clearly outlined for all accounting-related areas (e.g. financial accounting and  �

controlling);

the it systems used for accounting are protected against unauthorised access; �

The financial systems used primarily run on standard software; �

Adequate internal policies (including group-wide risk management policies) are in place and adapted as needed; �

the departments involved in the accounting process meet quantitative and qualitative requirements; �

Material accounting processes are regularly audited. the corporation-wide risk management system in place is  �

continuously being adapted as events require and constantly reviewed in terms of its effectiveness. the system 

has been reviewed by the auditor Rödl & Partner gmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, steuerberatungsge-

sellschaft, nuremberg, as part of a group audit;

the dual control principle is applied to all accounting-related processes without exception; �

the supervisory Board’s responsibilities include addressing key issues regarding accounting and risk management �

A comprehensive, uniform group accounting guideline governs subsidiaries’ accounting. it is revised annually and  �

updated to reflect the latest legal regulations;

Group Controllers visit the subsidiaries on an ongoing basis to keep abreast of significant events that also include  �

accounting related events. Also monitor the progress of work on the annual financial statements and compliance 

with the group accounting guidelines;

All material annual financial statements incorporated in the consolidated financial statements are reviewed by  �

local auditors;

Standard consolidation software is used for processing the single-entity financial statements and converting them  �

to ifRs accounting;

external experts are engaged for opinions on complex accounting and consolidation issues; �

Meetings on the annual financial statements are conducted with the managements of the relevant companies, the  �

local auditor, group management and the group auditor.
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notes concerning key accounting features of the internal system of controls and risk ma-
nagement system
the internal control and risk management system for the accounting process, the salient features of which have 

been discussed previously, ensures that business data are properly accounted for, prepared and approved before 

flowing into external accounting.

clear organisational, corporate and control and monitoring structures and adequate accounting personnel and equip-

ment form the foundation for efficient work by the areas involved in accounting. Unambiguous laws and internal Group 

rules and policies ensure uniform and proper accounting. clearly outlined review mechanisms within the areas directly 

involved in accounting and early-warning risk management ensure correct and consistent accounting.

the internal control and risk management system in place at VBH Holding Ag ensures that accounting is uniform 

and conforms to laws, regulations and internal policies for VBH Holding Ag and all companies included in the 

consolidated financial statements. The Group-wide risk management system, which fully conforms to regulatory 

requirements, is specifically designed for the early identification, evaluation and adequate communication of risks. 

this allows a providing of accurate, pertinent and dependable information to the relevant parties concerned.
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10. ReMUneRAtion RePoRt 

main features of the Executive Board remuneration system 
the remuneration report is a part of the corporate governance report and the group management report. this 

remuneration report presents the details of the remuneration of the executive Board and the supervisory Board.

the remuneration system of VBH Holding Ag is based on performance and earnings-based principles and repre-

sents a corporate culture of performance and counterperformance.

The total remuneration of the Executive Board features fixed and variable components. In addition to basic salary, Executive 

Board members receive non-cash benefits, the amount of which is determined as the private portion of company car usage 

recognisable under tax regulations. the overall remuneration structure is geared towards sustainable corporate development 

and was adjusted as at 1 April 2010 in respect of Mr. Hribar in line with the amended legal requirements of the Vorstands-

vergütungsangemessenheitsgesetz (VorstAg – german Act on the Appropriateness of Management Board compensation). 

the variable remuneration components are based on the consolidated operating earnings before taxes (ifRs) that exceed 

a defined basic amount. Some of the variable remuneration is carried forward to a bonus bank for a future date rather than 

being paid immediately. in the event of negative developments, these amounts carried forward can be fully or partially offset 

and can therefore lapse. A corresponding agreement was concluded with Mr. Bangerter on this basis from 1 January 2011. 

the variable remuneration components in executive Board contracts utilise a multi-year calculation basis. they also contain 

regulations permitting appropriate remuneration reductions if the company’s situation deteriorates in such a way that would 

make continued payment of such amounts inappropriate. in accordance with section 120 (4) Aktg, the Annual general Mee-

ting of VBH Holding Ag approved the remuneration system for the executive Board on 8 June 2010. this has established 

additional transparency and control in respect of the remuneration decisions of the supervisory Board.
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In addition to their fixed salaries of € T 315 and € T 168 respectively, Mr. Hribar and Dr. Lieb (until 30 August 2010) 

received variable remuneration in accordance with the provisions of their executive Board contracts of € t 236 and 

€ t 30 respectively, based on consolidated operating earnings before taxes (ifRs) and a discretionary variable 

bonus. the discretionary bonus was stipulated by the supervisory Board and granted to the members of the exe-

cutive Board on the basis of the long-term strategy of the VBH group. the company retained options to offset these 

bonuses in the event that there is no future benefit for VBH. 

executive Board agreements do not contain any explicit severance commitments in the event of premature 

termination of employment. executive Board members do not receive loans from the company.

Remuneration for the 2010 reporting year broke down as follows:

Executive Board remuneration

2009

in € t Fixed variable Fringe benefits total

Rainer Hribar 250.0 240.0 73.6 563.6

dr. Ralf lieb 252.0 125.0 9.8 386.8

total 502.0 365.0 83.4 950.4

2010

in € t Fixed variable Fringe benefits total

Rainer Hribar 314.5 236.4 79.9 630.8

dr. Ralf lieb (until 31.08.2010) 168.0 30.0 6.7 204.7

total 482.5 266.4 86.6 835.5
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Share option programmes and similar securities-based incentive systems
No options were granted to Executive Board members in the past financial year. The Executive Board also no longer 

has any options outstanding from earlier option programmes. Mr. Hribar held 459,684 shares as at 31 december 2010. 

supervisory Board members held a total of 1,605,272 shares.

pension commitments 
the executive Board members have received pension commitments in line with their individual contracts, which provide 

for a pension to be drawn no earlier than the age of 60.

Former Executive Board members and their surviving dependants received total benefits of € T 466 in the past financial 

year (previous year: € T 544). Defined benefit obligations (DBO) under IFRS for all pension commitments to former 

Executive Board members, managers and their surviving dependants totalled € 5.6 million in the 2010 financial year 

(previous year: € 5.6 million). Defined benefit obligations for all pension commitments (IFRS) amounted to € T 827 for 

Mr. Hribar (previous year: € t 551) and € t 89 for dr. lieb (previous year: € t 80). total additions in the year under 

review amounted to € t 284 (previous year: € t 152).

Supervisory Board member remuneration 
supervisory Board member remuneration is determined by shareholders at the Annual general Meeting, and 

governed by Article 12 of the Articles of Association. in line with the provisions of the Articles of Association, supervi-

sory Board members receive fixed and variable remuneration components. In addition to expense reimbursements, 

Supervisory Board members receive annual fixed remuneration of € 12,000. Additionally, Supervisory Board mem-

bers receive remuneration of € 1,100, capped at the amount of fixed remuneration, for every non-fractional cent of 

dividends per share distributed to shareholders above the level of 5 cents per share. the chairman receives double 

this amount of remuneration; the deputy chairman receives 1.5 times this amount. Remuneration also increases by 

€ 5,000 for each membership of a supervisory Board committee, by an additional € 2,500 for each deputy chairman-

ship of a supervisory Board committee, and by an additional € 5,000 for each chairmanship of a supervisory Board 

committee. on the basis of the dividend resolution of six cents per share to be proposed to the Annual general Mee-

ting, total remuneration of the Supervisory Board members for the financial year 2010 amounts to € T 172 (previous 

year: € t 163). 
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The law firm of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board acted for the company in an advisory capacity. Remuneration 

for these services is in line with standard market rates and was approved by the supervisory Board, totalling € t 56 

for the financial year 2010 (previous year: € T 56). The Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board advises the two 

operating german companies on market issues and the management of major clients. the consultancy agreements 

were approved by the supervisory Board of VBH Holding Ag. the remuneration amounted to € t 127 in the past 

financial year (previous year: € T 257 including non-cash benefits and general agent benefits). The Deputy Chairman 

of the supervisory Board also receives ongoing pensions from german companies of € t 90 (previous year: € t 30). 

 

Members of the supervisory Board do not receive loans from the company.

Korntal-Münchingen, March 2011

for the executive Board  for the supervisory Board

Rainer Hribar   Prof. Rainer Kirchdörfer

frieder Bangerter
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number of employees ■ Abroad

■ domestic

900

644

926

1,031

993

963

1,087

970

1,156

994

1,257

918

1,758

928

1758

928

1,934

952

1,961

1,007

2002  2003  2004  2005  2006  2007  2008  2009  2010

11. eMPloYees 

In the past financial year, the VBH Group employed a total of 2,934 people as against 2,968 in the previous year. 

thus, VBH now employs 34 less people.

given the good developments in germany, the headcount was increased here and the number of employees in-

creased from 1,007 in the previous year to 1,023. internationally, the number of employees declined from 1,961 

in the previous year to 1,911. 

VBH offers training opportunities in many areas. for example, there are programmes for people taking their 

first steps in the world of work through to trainee programmes for university graduates, who are specifically 

trained within VBH’s international environment while working for VBH. After completing the internal programme, 

trainees are usually hired in management functions within the group. Priorities during this two-year scheme are 

intercultural collaboration and project work.

the executive Board and the supervisory Board would like to take this opportunity to thank all the employees of the 

VBH group, both in germany and abroad, for their personal commitment to implementing the group’s goals and 

plans, and thereby making the most important contribution to its overall success. 

1,911

1,023
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AdVice And Action.

Providing current information, bundling expertise and promoting an exchange 

of ideas among industry participants – this is what the VBH knowledge data-

base does. Using the online encyclopaedia, partners, customers and suppliers 

can find help on technical questions, share their expertise and discuss new 

issues and questions.
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consolidated
Statements

of VBH Holding Ag

Assets

in € t notes 31.12.2009 31.12.2010 
long-term assets

intangibles assets 5.1 51,500 41,034

Property, plant and equipment 5.2 30,343 29,232

financial assets 5.3 2,424 1,955

other long-term assets 4,482 5,140

deferred tax assets 5.8 10,092 11,741

total 98,841 89,102

Short-term assets
inventories 5.4 110,236 124,848

trade receivables 5.5 96,187 103,274

Trade receivables affiliated companies 5.5 4,300 3,133

other assets 5.5 24,109 20,270

cash and cash equivalents 5.6 14,411 12,663

tax receivables 5.6 2,055 762

total 251,298 264,950

total assets 350,139 354,052

consolidAted BAlAnce sHeet
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Equity and liabilities

in € t notes 31.12.2009 31.12.2010
Equity

subscribed capital 5.9 45,869 45,879

capital reserve 5.9 41,847 41,906

Revenue reserve 5.9 35,585 37,257

Profit retained 5.9 -2,135 -6,302

equity attributable to shareholders of VBH Ag 5.9 121,166 118,740

Minority interests 5.9 8,580 8,338

treasury stock 5.9 0 0

Equity 129,746 127,078

non-current liabilities
Pension provisions 5.12 12,497 12,812

other long-term provisions 5.13 3,130 3,046

Long-term financial liabilties 5.11 67,888 10,921

other long-term liabilities 5.11 2,015 2,416

deferred tax liabilities 5.14 3,823 4,411

total 89,353 33,606

current liabilities
short-term provisions 5.13 5,127 4,785

Short term financial liabilties 5.11 50,141 114,114

Advances received 5.11 538 593

trade payables 5.11 43,801 47,476

Trade payables affiliated companies 5.11 0 0

other short-term liabilities 5.11 30,330 26,127

tax liabilities 5.11 1,103 273

total 131,040 193,368

total equity and liabilities 350,139 354,052
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consolidAted incoMe stAteMent

in € t notes 2009 2010
Sales 6.1 755,143 800,011
Changes in finished goods, work in progress / capitalized payments 0 0

Total operating profit 755,143 800,011
costs of raw materials, supplies and purchased merchandise 6.2 571,855 607,801

Gross operating profit 183,288 192,210
Personnel expenses 6.3 92,511 94,916

other operating income 6.4 12,890 18,008

other operating expenses 6.5 80,437 86,269

EBitdA 23,230 29,033

depreciation / Amortization 6.6 6,008 16,090

EBit 17,222 12,943
income from investments 0 0

other interest and similar income 734 514

interest and similar expenses 8,085 8,906

Depreciation on financial assets and securities 0 9

Financial result 6.7 -7,351 -8,401
EBt 9,871 4,542
current taxes 6.8 4,043 6,278

deferred taxes 6.9 -811 -1,393

EBt continuing operations 6,639 -343
discontinued operations -80 -887

EAt 6,559 -1,230
Minorities 6.10 986 481

net result after minorities 5,573 -1,711
EpS in € 6.11 0.12 -0.04
EpS diluted in € 6.11 0.12 -0.04
EpS in € continuing operations 0.12 -0.02
EpS diluted in € continuing operations 0.12 -0.02
EpS in € discontinuing operations 0.00 -0.02
EpS diluted in € discontinuing operations 0.00 0.02

totAl coMPReHensiVe incoMe foR tHe PeRiod of VBH gRoUP

in € t 2009 2010
Earnings after taxes (EAt) 6,559 -1,230
     thereof attributable to shareholders of VBH Ag 5,573 1,711

     thereof attributable to minorities 986 481

changes in iAS 39 hedge Accounting -403 510
currency differences 926 2,613
total changes of value in equity 523 3,123
     thereof attributable to shareholders of VBH Ag 517 2,775

     thereof attributable to minorities 6 348

total comprehensive income for the period 7,082 1,893

     thereof attributable to shareholders of VBH Ag 6,090 1,064

     thereof attributable to minorities 992 829
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consolidAted cAsH floW stAteMent

in € t notes 2009 2010
eBt continuing operations 9,868 4,542

 eBt discontinuing operations -80 -887

EBt 9,788 3,655
 + depreciation on tangible assets 6,030 16,090

 +/- increase/decrease in long-term provisions 146 231

 +/- other non-cash income/expense 351 866

- taxes paid -3,229 -7,233

 +/- interest paid / received 7,404 8,392

 = cash earnings 20,490 22,001
      (thereof discontinued operations) -1,219 -764

 -/+ increase/decrease in inventories 19,129 -14,247

 -/+ increase/decrease in trade receivables 15,775 -2,340

 +/- increase/decrease in short-term provisions -1,993 -348

 +/- increase/decrease in liabilities -19,483 -98

 = total changes in working capital 13,428 -17,033
 -/+ Profit/loss from the disposal of non-current assets -309 -133

 = Cash flow from operating activity 33,609 4,835
      (thereof discontinued operations) -1,124 -165

 - Cash outflows for investments in intangible assets -793 -638

 - Cash outflows for investments in tangible assets -2,702 -3,339

 - Cash outflows for investments in financial assets -3,379 -24

 - Cash outflows for other financial assets 0 -230

 + Cash inflows from disposal of intangible assets 0 372

 + Cash inflows from disposal of tangible assets 2,668 558

 + Cash inflows from disposal of financial assets 0 0

 -/+
Payments for acquisition and disposal of consolidated 
companies

-5,732 -618

 + interest received 680 246

 = Cash flow from investing activity -9,258 -3,673
       (thereof discontinued operations) 1,200 119
 = Free cash Flow 24,351 1,162
 + Cash inflows from equity contributions 296 30

 + Cash inflows from loans raised 0 18,449

 - Cash outflows for repayment of loans -4,994 -11,442

 - interest paid -8,369 -7,246

 - dividens paid -10,417 -2,951

 = Cash flow from financing activity -23,484 -3,160
       (thereof discontinued operations) 1,200 119
 = changes in cash and cash equivalents 867 -1,998
 + changes in cash and cash equivalents 76 249

 + cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 13,468 14,411

 = cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 14,411 12,662
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stAteMent of cHAnges in gRoUP eQUitY

Statement of changes in group equity

in € t

capital stock capital reserve
Revenue 

reserve

thereof 
reserve  
curreny

 translation

thereof 

cashflow-

hedge 

reserve

Profit 
retained

Equity 
attributable to 

shareholders of 
vBh Ag

minority 
interests

treasury 
shares

Shareholders 
equity

Balance at 01 January 2009 45,790 41,630 33,437 -9,568 -1,623 7,994 128,851 8,548 0 137,399
changes to the consolidated group -273 -273 -20 -293
Minority interests -144 -144 -293 -437
capital increase convertible issue rights 0 0
stock options 79 139 218 218
share based compensation 78 78 78
total ccomprehensive income 0 0 517 920 -403 5,573 6,090 992 0 7,082
Payout -8,700 -8,700 -8,700

changes in retained reserves and other changes 2,048 -7,002 -4,954 -647 -5,601

Balance at 31 december 2009 / Balance at 01 January 2010 45,869 41,847 35,585 -8,648 -2,026 -2,135 121,166 8,580 0 129,746
changes to the consolidated group -642 1,232 -642 31 -611
Minority interests -624 -624 -445 -1,069
capital increase convertible issue rights 0 0
stock options 10 20 30 30
share based compensation 39 39 39
total ccomprehensive income 0 0 2,775 2,265 510 -1,711 1,064 829 0 1,893
Payout -2,293 -2,293 -657 -2,950
changes in retained reserves and other changes 163 -163 0 0
Balance at 31 december 2010 45,879 41,906 37,257 -5,151 -1,516 -6,302 118,740 8,338 0 127,078
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Statement of changes in group equity

in € t

capital stock capital reserve
Revenue 

reserve

thereof 
reserve  
curreny

 translation

thereof 

cashflow-

hedge 

reserve

Profit 
retained

Equity 
attributable to 

shareholders of 
vBh Ag

minority 
interests

treasury 
shares

Shareholders 
equity

Balance at 01 January 2009 45,790 41,630 33,437 -9,568 -1,623 7,994 128,851 8,548 0 137,399
changes to the consolidated group -273 -273 -20 -293
Minority interests -144 -144 -293 -437
capital increase convertible issue rights 0 0
stock options 79 139 218 218
share based compensation 78 78 78
total ccomprehensive income 0 0 517 920 -403 5,573 6,090 992 0 7,082
Payout -8,700 -8,700 -8,700

changes in retained reserves and other changes 2,048 -7,002 -4,954 -647 -5,601

Balance at 31 december 2009 / Balance at 01 January 2010 45,869 41,847 35,585 -8,648 -2,026 -2,135 121,166 8,580 0 129,746
changes to the consolidated group -642 1,232 -642 31 -611
Minority interests -624 -624 -445 -1,069
capital increase convertible issue rights 0 0
stock options 10 20 30 30
share based compensation 39 39 39
total ccomprehensive income 0 0 2,775 2,265 510 -1,711 1,064 829 0 1,893
Payout -2,293 -2,293 -657 -2,950
changes in retained reserves and other changes 163 -163 0 0
Balance at 31 december 2010 45,879 41,906 37,257 -5,151 -1,516 -6,302 118,740 8,338 0 127,078
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segMent RePoRting

Segments by region
germany Western Europe Eastern Europe other markets corporate Services consolidation* group

in € t 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010
external revenue 369,807 394,189 139,047 126,565 219,328 247,322 25,495 30,673 0 0 0 0 753,676 798,749

internal revenue 12,649 17,254 4,849 6,736 1,748 613 351 516 0 0 -18,130 -23,857 1,467 1,262

total revenue 382,456 411,443 143,896 133,301 221,076 247,935 25,846 31,189 0 0 -18,130 -23,857 755,143 800,011
EBitdA 10,757 15,736 -1,880 -3,705 19,451 19,332 -820 -3 -4,241 -3,617 -37 1,290 23,230 29,033

depreciation, amortisation and 
write-downs

1,533 1,495 1,375 1,273 1,777 1,759 213 266 789 830 321 10,467 6,008 16,090

Profit or loss from operating 9,224 14,241 -3,255 -4,978 17,674 17,573 -1,033 -269 -5,030 -4,447 -358 -9,177 17,222 12,943
Result from participations 39 177 0 0 3 0 0 0 14,126 22,951 -14,168 -23,128 0 0

interest income 285 267 69 64 182 111 245 2 1,422 2,039 -1,469 -1,969 734 514

interest expense 981 937 1,923 1,638 294 239 1,355 1,451 5,004 6,606 -1,472 -1,956 8,085 8,915

financial result -657 -493 -1,854 -1,574 -109 -128 -1,110 -1,449 10,544 18,384 -14,165 -23,141 -7,351 -8,401

Earnings before taxes (EBt) 8,567 13,748 -5,109 -6,552 17,565 17,445 -2,143 -1,718 5,514 13,937 -14,523 -32,318 9,871 4,542
taxes -2,414 -4,220 -318 666 -2,958 -3,750 197 46 2,683 2,203 -422 170 -3,232 -4,885

Earnings after taxes (EAt) 6,153 9,528 -5,427 -5,886 14,607 13,695 -1,946 -1,672 8,197 16,140 -14,945 -32,148 6,639 -343

Segment assets 103,156 102,976 89,791 86,519 89,711 98,658 22,493 33,284 222,977 216,557 -177,989 -183,942 350,139 354,052
Segment liabilities 118,498 112,857 79,173 78,211 28,546 35,848 26,218 36,872 91,217 89,951 -123,260 -126,765 220,392 226,974
number of Employees 975 990 503 455 1,224 1,218 234 238 32 33 0 0 2,968 2,934
Adjustments -96 -41 735 2,269 2,486 1,598 1,363 1,278 0 0 0 10,148 4,488 15,252

* consolidation represents non-intersegmentary group sales.
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Segments by region
germany Western Europe Eastern Europe other markets corporate Services consolidation* group

in € t 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010
external revenue 369,807 394,189 139,047 126,565 219,328 247,322 25,495 30,673 0 0 0 0 753,676 798,749

internal revenue 12,649 17,254 4,849 6,736 1,748 613 351 516 0 0 -18,130 -23,857 1,467 1,262

total revenue 382,456 411,443 143,896 133,301 221,076 247,935 25,846 31,189 0 0 -18,130 -23,857 755,143 800,011
EBitdA 10,757 15,736 -1,880 -3,705 19,451 19,332 -820 -3 -4,241 -3,617 -37 1,290 23,230 29,033

depreciation, amortisation and 
write-downs

1,533 1,495 1,375 1,273 1,777 1,759 213 266 789 830 321 10,467 6,008 16,090

Profit or loss from operating 9,224 14,241 -3,255 -4,978 17,674 17,573 -1,033 -269 -5,030 -4,447 -358 -9,177 17,222 12,943
Result from participations 39 177 0 0 3 0 0 0 14,126 22,951 -14,168 -23,128 0 0

interest income 285 267 69 64 182 111 245 2 1,422 2,039 -1,469 -1,969 734 514

interest expense 981 937 1,923 1,638 294 239 1,355 1,451 5,004 6,606 -1,472 -1,956 8,085 8,915

financial result -657 -493 -1,854 -1,574 -109 -128 -1,110 -1,449 10,544 18,384 -14,165 -23,141 -7,351 -8,401

Earnings before taxes (EBt) 8,567 13,748 -5,109 -6,552 17,565 17,445 -2,143 -1,718 5,514 13,937 -14,523 -32,318 9,871 4,542
taxes -2,414 -4,220 -318 666 -2,958 -3,750 197 46 2,683 2,203 -422 170 -3,232 -4,885

Earnings after taxes (EAt) 6,153 9,528 -5,427 -5,886 14,607 13,695 -1,946 -1,672 8,197 16,140 -14,945 -32,148 6,639 -343

Segment assets 103,156 102,976 89,791 86,519 89,711 98,658 22,493 33,284 222,977 216,557 -177,989 -183,942 350,139 354,052
Segment liabilities 118,498 112,857 79,173 78,211 28,546 35,848 26,218 36,872 91,217 89,951 -123,260 -126,765 220,392 226,974
number of Employees 975 990 503 455 1,224 1,218 234 238 32 33 0 0 2,968 2,934
Adjustments -96 -41 735 2,269 2,486 1,598 1,363 1,278 0 0 0 10,148 4,488 15,252

* consolidation represents non-intersegmentary group sales.
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1. disclosures and presentation of the 
      consolidated financial statements 

VBH Holding AKtiengesellscHAft (also ‘VBH’ or ‘the company’) is registered with stuttgart Regional court under 

HRB 203096. The Company‘s registered office is in Korntal-Münchingen. The shares of the Company are listed on the 

Deutsche Börse Prime Standard and trade on the regulated market on Xetra and on the floor of the Frankfurt and Stuttgart 

stock exchanges.

Purpose of the Company is the wholesale distribution of metal fittings. VBH distributes products in seven primary groups: 

window, door, furniture and fastener systems, profiles and sealings, construction chemicals, construction elements and tools. 

VBH is Europe‘s top-selling wholesaler of construction fittings. VBH acts as agent between hardware suppliers and custo-

mers who process these products for industrial and technical purposes.

 

The consolidated financial statements of VBH Holding AG and its consolidated subsidiaries as at 31 December 2010 were 

prepared in accordance with international financial Reporting standards (ifRs) applicable in the eU and with applicable 

german commercial code regulations (Handelsgesetzbuch – HgB) per section 315a (1) HgB.

All standards which have entered into force as at the balance sheet date have been complied with. 

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in Euro and rounded to thousands of Euro (€ thousand). Unless 

otherwise indicated, all figures represent thousands of Euro. In tables showing the breakdown of items in the individual 

amounts in the consolidated balance sheet and income statement, minor differences are the result of rounding differences. 

the income statement is structured in accordance with the nature of expense method. in order to improve clarity of presen-

tation, items are summarised in the consolidated balance sheet and income statement and explained separately below. 

the provisions of iAs 1 require presentation of balance sheet items by maturity. for this reason, the balance sheet of VBH 

Holding Ag shows assets and liabilities according to their maturities. 

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the going concern principle, based on historical 

cost. Available-for-sale financial assets, derivative financial instruments, plan assets and receivables are measured at fair 

value on initial recognition. 

notes to the 
consolidated 
financial statements
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2. iAsB accounting rules 

New or amended standards and interpretations applicable for financial years ending 31 December 2010 are 

outlined below.

2.1 neW And AMended stAndARds And inteRPRetAtions to    
      Be APPlied foR tHe fiRst tiMe in tHe finAnciAl YeAR 

the following new and amended standards and interpretations have already been adopted and are mandatory for 

reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2010: 

iAS 28, “investments in Associates” and iAS 31  
Interests in Joint Ventures” are applicable to acquisitions in financial years starting on or after 1 July 2009.

iFRic 17, “distributions of non-cash Assets to owners”  
(applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 July 2009).

 
iFRic 18, “transfers of Assets from customers”  
(applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 July 2009).

Standards and interpretations that were already published as at 1 June 2010 and are applicable to financial years 

starting after 1 January 2010:

iFRic 9, “Reassessment of Embedded derivatives” and iAS 39 (amended), 
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Embedded Derivatives” (applicable to financial years star-

ting on or after 1 July 2009). 

iFRic 16, “hedges of a net investment in a Foreign operation” 
(applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 July 2009). 

iAS 38 (amended), “intangible Assets”  
(applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2010).  
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iAS 1 (amended), “presentation of Financial Statements”  
(applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2010).  

iAS 36 (amended), “impairment of Assets”  
(applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2010). 

iFRS 2 (amended), “group cash-settled Share-based payment transactions”  
(applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2010). 

iFRS 5 (amended), “non-current Assets held for Sale and discontinued operations” 
(applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2010).

The new and amended standards and interpretations do not have any material effects on the consolidated financial 

statements of VBH Holding Ag.

2.2 PUBlisHed stAndARds AdoPted BY tHe eU BUt not   
 Yet APPlicABle 

New or amended standards and interpretations applicable for financial years after 31 December 2010 that were not 

observed in preparation of these consolidated financial statements are outlined below.

iFRS 9, “Financial instruments” was published in november 2009.
This standard is the first step in replacing the standard IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 

9 fundamentally changes the previous regulations on the categorisation and measurement of financial assets and is likely to 

affect accounting for financial assets in the Group. The standard is applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 January 

2013 but can be adopted early. However, the standard has not yet been endorsed in eU law. the group is still analysing 

the full effects of IFRS 9. However, it is already apparent that accounting for available-for-sale financial assets is affected by 

the changes, as ifRs 9 permits the recognition of gains and losses in fair value only in other comprehensive income in the 

statement of comprehensive income if these gains and losses originate from equity instruments that are not held for trading 

purposes.

Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised directly in profit 

or loss. 
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In addition, further new regulations of IFRS 9 on financial liabilities and the derecognition of financial instruments 

were published October 2010. The changes relate in particular to financial liabilities measured voluntarily at fair 

value. No effect on the consolidated financial statements is expected.

iAS 24 (revised), “Related party disclosures”, was published in november 2009 and re-
places iAS 24 (2003). 
The new standard is applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2011. It was not applied early. No 

material effect on the consolidated financial statements is expected.

IAS 32 (amended), “Classification of Rights Issues” was published in October 2009. 
The amendment is applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 February 2010. No effect on the consolidated 

financial statements is expected. 

iFRic 14, “iAS 19 – prepayments for minimum Funding contributions”. 
The amendment is applicable to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2011. No effect on the consolidated 

financial statements is expected. 

IFRIC 19, “Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments” (applicable to financi-
al years starting on or after 1 July 2010).  
No effect on the consolidated financial statements is expected.

Other amendments to the standards will not have any material effect on the consolidated financial statements of 

VBH Holding Ag.
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3. Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements contain the financial statements of the parent company and the companies it 

controls, including special-purpose vehicles (its subsidiaries). control is gained once the company has the option of 

governing the financial and operating policies of a company so as to derive benefit from its activities. The results of 

the subsidiaries acquired or sold over the course of the year are recognised accordingly in the consolidated income 

statement from the actual date of acquisition or up to the actual date of disposal. If necessary, the annual financial 

statements of the subsidiaries are adjusted so that the accounting and measurement methods are aligned with those 

applied on the group level. All intragroup transactions, balances and results are completely eliminated in consolidation. 

Subsidiaries are all companies in which the Group exercises control over financial and operating policy, usually 

in combination with a share of voting rights that exceeds 50%. in an assessment of whether such control is 

present, the existence and effect of potential voting rights currently exercisable or convertible are considered 

as necessary. Subsidiaries are generally included in the consolidated financial statements (fully consolidated) 

as at the date on which control has been transferred to the group, unless control is material to the consolidated 

financial statements. They are deconsolidated on the date on which this control ends.

 

capital consolidation is performed in accordance with ifRs 3, ‘Business combinations’ using the purchase 

accounting method. in this method, the acquisition costs of the participation are charged against the pro rata 

share of the parent company in the revalued equity of the subsidiary as at the acquisition date. intangible 

assets acquired in business combinations and identified within the framework of purchase price allocation are 

recognised at fair value. 

Any difference arising on the assets side after this charging and purchase price allocation is reported under 

noncurrent assets as goodwill. 

if further interests are acquired in already fully consolidated companies, the purchase price of the additional 

acquisition is offset directly in equity against the additional equity acquired. the asset-side difference resulting 

from the offsetting is charged against retained earnings. 

shares in the equity of subsidiaries attributable to external minority interests are reported separately under equity. 

shares in the subsidiaries‘ results attributable to external minority interests are shown as a separate item in the 

income statement. 
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3.1 scoPe of consolidAtion 
 And BUsiness coMBinAtions

overview of equity interests at 31 december 2010 according to Section 313 (2) hgB  
(german commercial code)

Fully consolidated companies
Registered office 
location country

percentage 
equity held 

in %
germany
esco Metallbausysteme gmbH ditzingen d 100.0%

gedalia grundstücksverwaltungsges. mbh & co Mainz d 100.0%

VBH deutschland gmbH Korntal-Münchingen d 100.0%

Abroad

esco Metallbausysteme Austria gmbH (indirect via esco 
Metallbausysteme gmbH)

eugendorf A 100.0%

VBH Belgium nV Beringen B 100.0%

VBH Hody Marche en famenne B 100.0%

VBH Bulgaria ood Sofia Bg 93.0%

VBH siecom ood Plovdiv Bg 100.0%

VBH dems d.o.o. sarajevo BiH 100.0%

iP VBH Bel Minsk BY 100.0%

VBH ZP (indirect via VBH Polska sp.z.o.o.) Minsk BY 100.0%

VBH, Vereinigter Baubeschlag-Handel, s.r.o. Prague cZ 100.0%

VBH Malum s.l. gava e 68.4%

VBH estonia As tallinn est 100.0%

lg fasteners ltd. (indirect via Wagner gB ltd.) swansea gB 100.0%

VBH (gB) ltd. gillingham gB 100.0%

VBH Hellas s.A. thessaloniki gR 100.0%

VBH Budapest Kft Budapest H 100.0%

VBH okovi d.o.o. sveta nedjelja HR 100.0%

c.d.A. s.r.l. (indirect via VBH italia Holding s.p.A.) Bologna i 100.0%

VBH italia Holding s.p.A. Bozen i 100.0%

VBH italia s.r.l. Bozen i 50.0%

VBH service s.r.l.(indirect via VBH italia Holding s.p.A.) fogliano Redipuglia i 100.0%

VBH s.r.l.(indirect via VBH italia Holding s.p.A.) fogliano Redipuglia i 100.0%
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Fully consolidated companies
Registered office 
location country

percentage 
equity held 

in %
VBH ireland dunshaughlin ie 60.0%

VBH Kuwait for general trading co. (W.l.l) safat KW 80.0%

too VBH Almaty KZ 56.5%

VBH West (Aktobe) (indirect via too VBH) Aktobe KZ 100.0%

UAB VBH Vilnius Vilnius lt 100.0%

„VBH-tBM“,UAB Vilnius lt 70.0%

siA VBH latvia ltd. Riga lV 95.0%

VBH Malaysia sdn. BdH. Petaling Jaya MAl 100.0%

VBH MeXico s.A. de c.V. Heróica Puebla de Zaragoza MeX 70.0%

VBH Montenegro d.o.o.. Podgorica Mne 100.0%

VBH-ofiR s.R.l. (Kischinau (indirect via VBH llc)) Kischinau Mol 80.0%

VBH nederland B.V. oosterhout nl 100.0%

esco Polska sp.z.o.o.
(indirect via esco Metallbausysteme gmbH)

Warsaw Pl 89.8 %

VBH Polska sp.z.o.o. Warsaw Pl 93.3%

s.c. VBH Romcom sRl tirgu Mures Ro 100.0%

Rodkomplektservice ooo (indirect via VBH Rekta Ao)) Moscow (odintsovo) RUs 100.0%

VBH ooo ( novosibirsk ) novosibirsk RUs 100.0%

VBH ooo ( st. Petersburg ) st. Petersburg RUs 95.0%

VBH Rekta Ao (indirect via VBH ooo (st.Petersburg )) Moskau (odintsovo) RUs 100.0%

VBH samara ooo (indirect via VBH ooo (st. Petersburg)) samara RUs 100.0%

VBH siB ooo omsk RUs 100.0%

VBH Kosovo l.l.c. fushe Kosove scg 80.0%

VBH singapore Pte.ltd. singapore sgP 100.0%

VBH trgovina d.o.o. Skofia Loka sl 100.0%

VBH naisus nis d.o.o. nis sRB 95.0%

VBH (thailand) co., ltd. Bangkok tHB 100.0%

VBH Kapi ve Pencere sistemleri san. ve.tic. A.s. Bagcilar/istanbul tR 65.0%

VBH llc Browary UA 51.0%

VBH Ofir DP (Dnepropetrowsk (indirect via VBH LLC)) dnepropetrowsk UA 100.0%

VBH Ofir DP (Kharkow (indirect via VBH LLC)) Kharkow UA 100.0%

VBH Ofir DP (Lwow (indirect via VBH LLC)) lwow UA 100.0%
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Fully consolidated companies
Registered office 
location country

percentage 
equity held 

in %
VBH Ofir DP (Makeewka (indirect via VBH LLC)) Makeewka UA 100.0%

VBH Ofir DP (Odessa (indirect via VBH LLC)) odessa UA 100.0%

VBH Ofir DP (Simferopol (indirect via VBH LLC)) simferopol UA 100.0%

VBH-ofiR dP (Vinnitsa (indirect via VBH llc)) Vinnitsa UA 100.0%

V.B.H. trading (l.l.c.) (indirect via VBH Middle east fZco) dubai UAe 100.0%

VBH Middle east fZco dubai UAe 100.0%

Beijing VBH construction Hardware co.ltd Beijing Vc 100.0%

shanghai VBH construction Hardware co., ltd. shanghai Vc 65.0%

unconsolidated companies
Registered office 
location country

percentage 
equity held 

in %
germany
VKH Verwaltungs gmbH i.K. Braunsbedra d 49.0%

Abroad
steelpro s.R.l. Buenos Aires AR 100.0%

VBH (cypern) ltd limassol cY 100.0%

lokman oÜ (indirect via VBH estonia As) tallinn est 100.0%

VBH caucasus tbilisi ge 25.0%

c.d.A.cagliari s.r.l. (indirect via VBH italia Holding s.p.A.) cagliari i 10.0%

VBH  Holding indiA PRiVAt liMited delhi ind 100.0%

esco RUs ooo (indirect via VBH Holding Ag and esco 
Metallbausysteme gmbH)

Moscow RUs 100.0%

VBH irkutsk ooo (indirect via VBH ooo (novosibirsk)) irkutsk RUs 100.0%

VBH slovakia s.r.o.(indirect via VBH Polska sp.z.o.o.) Bratislava sK 100.0%

centAR distRiBUciJe oKoVA  cdo d.o.o. Belgrade sRB 100.0%

VBH Ofir DP (Odessa (indirect via VBH LLC)) odessa UA 100.0%

guangzhou VBH construction Hardware trading co.,ltd. guangzhou Vc 100.0%

VBH VietnAM co., ltd Ho chi Minh city Vn 100.0%

VBH Australia PtY. ltd. seaford AUs 100.0%
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15 (previous year: 17) companies whose individual or collective impact on assets, financial position and 

earnings is minor are not consolidated. for all companies the share of capital corresponds to the share of 

voting rights.

Fully consolidated companies

As at 31 december 2010, the scope of consolidation under ifRs includes 3 german and 60 foreign subsidiaries, in 

addition to the parent company. changes in the area of fully consolidated subsidiaries between 1 January 2010 and 

31 december 2010 are shown in the table below. 

change in consolidated companies

other changes relate to companies being merged or closed.  

vBh consolidated companies domestic Abroad total
January 01, 2009 3 65 68
Additions 0 9 9

disposal 0 0 0

other changes 0 -8 -8

december 31, 2009 3 66 69
Additions 0 2 2

disposal 0 -2 -2

other changes 0 -6 -6

december 31, 2010 3 60 63
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Additions in the scope of consolidation 

initial consolidations

The main registered object of the companies to be consolidated for the first time is trading in building hardware. With 

the exception of the company in lithuania, due to materiality reasons, these companies had not been included in the 

consolidated accounts before 2010.

the company „VBH-tBM“, UAB, lithuania is a founding company which commenced activities in lithuania on 

01 January 2010. 

VBH Mexico was chiefly founded by VBH Malum, Spain and sold to VBH Holding AG on 01 January 2009. It was 

included in the scope of consolidation on 01 January 2010. due to the minor importance of the company, the 

previous-year figures were not adjusted.

VBH Bulgaria ood was founded on 09 June 2005 as a subsidiary of VBH Polska sp.z.o.o. By way of purchase 

agreement dated 12 May 2009, VBH Polska sp.z.o.o. sold 93% of the shares to VBH Holding Ag. 

A majority stake in VBH siecom ood, Plovdiv, Bulgaria, was acquired by way of purchase agreement dated 

01 october 2008. this company was then acquired in full on 12 May 2009. At the same time, the company’s 

client base was transferred to VBH Bulgaria eood. the companies deemed significant for the first time in 

financial year 2010 were included retrospectively in the comparable group balance sheet and income state-

ment figures for financial year 2009. this did not have any material impact on assets, financial position and 

earnings. 
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disposals and discontinued operations
the VBH Holding Ag executive Board decided to discontinue VBH’s activities in Australia, as the Australian window 

market had not developed as expected.

the resulting earnings effect of € t -887 (previous year: € t -80) was shown in a separate item on the income state-

ment as result from discontinued operations. 

impact on earnings of discontinued operations Australia

in € t 2009 2010
turnover 1,246 493

income and expenses -1,649 -280

Profit / loss of discontinued operations before taxes -403 213

income tax 0 0

Profit / loss of discontinued operations after taxes -403 213

impact of deconsolidation 323 -674

Profit / loss of discontinued operations after deconsolidation -80 -887
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in october 2010, VBH italia Holding s.p.A. sold the entire 100% holding in c.d.A. Arezzo srl to the two managers of 

the company. the transaction resulted in sales proceeds of € t 450 and net expenses in the group of € t 155 which 

was recognised in other operating expenses. expenses from deconsolidation totalled € t 317.

Other changes within the Group not relating to the scope of consolidation are reported with financial assets. 

Changes to the scope of consolidation are of only minor importance for the consolidated financial statements and do 

not significantly affect comparisons with the previous year. 
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The main accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are outlined below. 

the methods described are applied consistently to the reporting periods presented unless otherwise indicated. 

the income statement was translated on the basis of weighted average price. the balance sheet was translated at 

rates as at the reporting date.

Borrowing costs are recognised on the balance sheet in accordance with iAs 23. 

discontinued assets or non-current assets held for sale are reported when a component of an entity has been clearly 

separated and classified as held for sale or has already been disposed of. This component can be a major branch of 

business or a geographical area or part of material or geographical business segments or companies to be sold as 

part of an overall plan that were acquired solely with a view to resale.

In the financial year 2010, the Executive Board resolved to withdraw completely from the Australian market. The 

discontinued Australian business is reported as a discontinued operation in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The resulting retrospective adjustment of the previous year’s figures from 2009 in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income is to be adjusted in accordance with ifRs 5.34.

4. Accounting policies 
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Profit and Loss

in € t

 2009
as 

reported

2009
continuing 
operations

Sales 754,115 755,143
Changes in finished goods, work in progress / capitalized payments 0 0

Total operating profit 754,115 755,143
costs of raw materials, supplies and purchased merchandise 570,910 571,855

Gross operating profit 183,205 183,288
Personnel expenses 92,788 92,511

other operating income 13,817 12,890

other operating expenses 80,417 80,437

EBitdA 23,817 23,230

depreciation / Amortization 5,953 6,008

EBit 17,864 17,222
income from investments 0 0

other interest and similar income 752 734

interest and similar expenses 8,083 8,085

Depreciation on financial assets and securities 0 0

Financial result -7,331 -7,351
EBt 10,533 9,871
current taxes 4,043 4,043

deferred taxes -814 -811

EBt continuing operations 7,304 6,639
discontinued operations 0 -80

EAt 7,304 6,559
Minorities 1,009 986

net result after minorities 6,295 5,573

EpS in € 0.14 0.12

EpS diluted in € 0.14 0.12
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4.1 cURRencY tRAnslAtion 

In the single-entity financial statements of VBH Holding AG and included subsidiaries, foreign currency transactions 

are translated at the exchange rates in effect at the transaction dates. on the balance sheet we recognise monetary 

items in foreign currencies at the mid-market rate at the balance sheet date, with exchange rate gains and losses 

recognised in income. 

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into Euro, applying the functional currency concept. 

Assets and liabilities are translated on the balance sheet date. equity is stated at historical prices, with the exception 

of income and expenses directly recognised in equity. the resulting translation differences are recognised in equity 

until disposal of the subsidiary and reported as a separate item in equity. 

the table below shows the exchange rates used for translating currency: 
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currency translation

country currency unit
mid-market rate in € 

on balance sheet date

Weighted average 
rate in € for the year 

under review
31.12.2009 31.12.2010 2009 2010

Australien 100 AUd 62.4610 76.2137 58.1283 65.2903

Belarus 100 BYR 0.0242 0.0249 0.0255 0.0255

Bosnien 100 BAM 51.1292 51.1292 51.1292 51.1292

Bulgarien 100 Bgn 51.1274 51.1326 51.1288 51.1268

People's Republic of china 100 cnY 10.2396 11.4029 10.5274 11.2093

estonia 100 eeK 6.3904 6.3912 6.3978 6.3908

United Kingdom 100 gBP 111.9570 115.8749 112.1446 116.6364

Kazakhstan 100 KZt 0.4712 0.5108 0.4766 0.5182

croatia 100 HRK 13.6454 13.5404 13.6112 13.7162

Kuwait 100 KWd 243.4275 267.3082 254.4879 262.5940

latvia 100 lVl 141.0437 140.9443 141.6240 141.0374

lithuania 100 ltl 28.9553 29.0015 28.9654 28.9655

Malaysia 100 MYR 20.3753 24.4170 20.2621 23.5619

Mexico 100 MXn 6.0798 5.9761

Poland 100 Pln 24.2014 25.2048 23.0362 25.0107

Romania 100 Ron 23.5888 23.3155 23.6525 23.6231

Russian federation 100 RUB 2.3067 2.4674 2.2631 2.4959

serbia 100 csd 1.0400 0.9481 1.0660 0.9607

singapore 100 sgd 49.7067 58.2343 49.1076 55.4362

thailand 100 tHB 2.0933 2.4918 2.0804 2.4013

czech Republic 100 cZK 3.7863 3.9720 3.7855 3.9553

turkey 100 tRl 46.2257 48.4848 46.1303 50.1072

Ukraine 100 UAH 8.7288 9.4585 8.8487 9.6003

Hungary 100 HUf 0.3667 0.3577 0.3580 0.3610

United Arab emirates 100 Aed 19.0349 20.4981 19.1619 20.5330
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4.2 intAngiBle Assets, goodWill 

Patents, licences and trademarks acquired are measured at historical cost.

They have specific useful lives and are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation. The amortisation 

expense is recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the expected useful life. for the major part 

of depreciable assets the useful life is 15 years. this includes in particular capitalised customer relationships. 

software licences acquired are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred at acquisition and for preparing the 

software for its intended use. these costs are generally amortised over a useful life of three years.

if there are indications of impairment, the intangible assets are subjected to an impairment test and if necessary 

written down to the recoverable amount in accordance with iAs 36. the goodwill resulting from consolidation 

is the positive difference between the cost of an acquisition and the share of the group in the fair value of the 

identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary or joint venture at the date of acquisition. After initial recognition, 

the goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

In line with IAS 36, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are subject both to an annual impair-

ment test and in the event of relevant indications also to an impairment test during the year and when necessary 

written down to the recoverable amount (“impairment only approach”). At the date of the acquisition, the goodwill 

is distributed to cash generating units. At VBH this means to each company (“legal entity”) or at the level of a sub-

group. Any impairment is immediately recognised in the income statement. there is no subsequent reversal. 
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We refer to section 4.5 of the notes with regard to calculation of the recoverable amount of a cash-generating 

unit. A five-year financial projection was applied to this calculation. The projections reflect expected percentage 

growth in the low single digits for the majority of the cash-generating units (or groups of units). in some ‘other 

Markets’ countries representing growth regions for VBH Holding Ag we project slightly higher growth. VBH also 

anticipates improving operating margins, primarily through implementation of the proprietary brand concept for 

greenteQ products. future tax payments were calculated applying the tax rates for the individual cash-generating 

units (or groups of units). 

goodwill from the full consolidation was calculated as follows:
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Acquisition costs depreciation Bookvalue

in € t

Balance 
at 01 

January 
2009

„currency- 
adjustments“

Additions disposals

Balance 
at 31 

december 
2009

Balance 
at 01 

January 
2009

„currency- 
adjustments“

current 
year

disposals

Balance 
at 31 

december 
2009

Balance 
at 01 

January 
2009

Balance 
at 31 

december 
2009

VBH gB l.t.d 1,404 0 0 0 1,404 749 0 0 0 749 655 655

esco Metallbausysteme gmbH 8,700 0 0 0 8,700 3,974 0 0 0 3,974 4,726 4,726

VBH deutschland gmbH 19,583 0 0 0 19,583 14,898 0 0 0 14,898 4,685 4,685

VBH Belgium nV 1,550 0 0 0 1,550 1,550 0 0 0 1,550 0 0

VBH nederland B.V. 3,935 0 0 0 3,935 1,309 0 0 0 1,309 2,626 2,626

VBH italia Holding s.p.A. 15,641 0 115 37 15,793 1,235 0 0 0 1,235 14,406 14,558

esco Metallbausysteme Austria gmbH 3,790 0 0 0 3,790 3,790 0 0 0 3,790 0 0

VBH singapore Pte. ltd. 3,569 -76 0 0 3,493 2,500 -22 0 0 2,478 1,069 1,014

VBH ireland 1,926 0 0 0 1,926 0 0 0 0 0 1,926 1,926

VBH Hody 4,660 0 0 0 4,660 0 0 0 0 0 4,660 4,660

Beijing VBH constr.Hardware co. ltd 1,250 -27 0 0 1,222 500 0 0 0 504 750 718

VBH Kapi A.s. 0 -6 2,378 -1,148 1,223 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,223

other consolidation 5,144 -127 0 0 5,127 1,458 0 0 0 1,458 3,686 3,669

Goodwill from individual financial statements 7,854 0 110 0 7,745 3,176 0 0 0 3,176 4,568 4,568

total 79,006 -236 2,493 -1,111 80,152 35,140 -18 0 0 35,122 43,746 45,028

goodwill from fully consolidated companies

Acquisition costs depreciation Bookvalue

in € t

Balance 
at 01 January 

2010

„currency- 
adjustments“

Additions disposals

Balance 
at 31 

december 
2010

Balance 
at 01 January 

2010 

„currency- 
adjustments“

current 
year

impair-
ment

 losses
disposals

Balance at 
31 december 

2010

Balance 
at 01 January 

2010

Balance at 
31 december 

2010

VBH gB l.t.d 1,404 0 0 0 1,404 749 0 0 0 0 749 655 655

esco Metallbausysteme gmbH 8,700 0 0 0 8,700 3,974 0 0 0 0 3,974 4,726 4,726

VBH deutschland gmbH 19,583 0 0 0 19,583 14,898 0 0 0 0 14,898 4,685 4,685

VBH Belgium nV 1,550 0 0 0 1,550 1,550 0 0 0 0 1,550 0 0

VBH nederland B.V. 3,935 0 0 0 3,935 1,309 0 0 0 0 1,309 2,626 2,626

VBH italia Holding s.p.A. 15,793 0 0 0 15,793 1,235 0 0 5,991 0 7,226 14,558 8,567

esco Metallbausysteme Austria gmbH 3,790 0 0 0 3,790 3,790 0 0 0 0 3,790 0 0

VBH singapore Pte. ltd. 3,493 599 0 0 4,092 2,478 425 0 0 0 2,903 1,014 1,188

VBH ireland 1,926 0 0 0 1,926 0 0 0 1,456 0 1,456 1,926 470

VBH Hody 4,660 0 0 0 4,660 0 0 0 1,791 0 1,791 4,660 2,869

Beijing VBH constr.Hardware co. ltd 1,222 139 0 0 1,361 504 57 0 800 0 1,361 718 0

VBH Kapi A.s. 1,223 60 0 0 1,283 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,223 1,283

other consolidation 5,127 86 0 0 5,213 1,458 0 0 110 0 1,568 3,669 3,645

Goodwill from individual financial statements 7,745 -2 0 -25 7,718 3,177 0 0 0 -13 3,164 4,568 4,554

total 80,152 882 0 -25 81,008 35,122 482 0 10,148 -13 45,739 45,029 35,269
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Acquisition costs depreciation Bookvalue

in € t

Balance 
at 01 

January 
2009

„currency- 
adjustments“

Additions disposals

Balance 
at 31 

december 
2009

Balance 
at 01 

January 
2009

„currency- 
adjustments“

current 
year

disposals

Balance 
at 31 

december 
2009

Balance 
at 01 

January 
2009

Balance 
at 31 

december 
2009

VBH gB l.t.d 1,404 0 0 0 1,404 749 0 0 0 749 655 655

esco Metallbausysteme gmbH 8,700 0 0 0 8,700 3,974 0 0 0 3,974 4,726 4,726

VBH deutschland gmbH 19,583 0 0 0 19,583 14,898 0 0 0 14,898 4,685 4,685

VBH Belgium nV 1,550 0 0 0 1,550 1,550 0 0 0 1,550 0 0

VBH nederland B.V. 3,935 0 0 0 3,935 1,309 0 0 0 1,309 2,626 2,626

VBH italia Holding s.p.A. 15,641 0 115 37 15,793 1,235 0 0 0 1,235 14,406 14,558

esco Metallbausysteme Austria gmbH 3,790 0 0 0 3,790 3,790 0 0 0 3,790 0 0

VBH singapore Pte. ltd. 3,569 -76 0 0 3,493 2,500 -22 0 0 2,478 1,069 1,014

VBH ireland 1,926 0 0 0 1,926 0 0 0 0 0 1,926 1,926

VBH Hody 4,660 0 0 0 4,660 0 0 0 0 0 4,660 4,660

Beijing VBH constr.Hardware co. ltd 1,250 -27 0 0 1,222 500 0 0 0 504 750 718

VBH Kapi A.s. 0 -6 2,378 -1,148 1,223 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,223

other consolidation 5,144 -127 0 0 5,127 1,458 0 0 0 1,458 3,686 3,669

Goodwill from individual financial statements 7,854 0 110 0 7,745 3,176 0 0 0 3,176 4,568 4,568

total 79,006 -236 2,493 -1,111 80,152 35,140 -18 0 0 35,122 43,746 45,028

Acquisition costs depreciation Bookvalue

in € t

Balance 
at 01 January 

2010

„currency- 
adjustments“

Additions disposals

Balance 
at 31 

december 
2010

Balance 
at 01 January 

2010 

„currency- 
adjustments“

current 
year

impair-
ment

 losses
disposals

Balance at 
31 december 

2010

Balance 
at 01 January 

2010

Balance at 
31 december 

2010

VBH gB l.t.d 1,404 0 0 0 1,404 749 0 0 0 0 749 655 655

esco Metallbausysteme gmbH 8,700 0 0 0 8,700 3,974 0 0 0 0 3,974 4,726 4,726

VBH deutschland gmbH 19,583 0 0 0 19,583 14,898 0 0 0 0 14,898 4,685 4,685

VBH Belgium nV 1,550 0 0 0 1,550 1,550 0 0 0 0 1,550 0 0

VBH nederland B.V. 3,935 0 0 0 3,935 1,309 0 0 0 0 1,309 2,626 2,626

VBH italia Holding s.p.A. 15,793 0 0 0 15,793 1,235 0 0 5,991 0 7,226 14,558 8,567

esco Metallbausysteme Austria gmbH 3,790 0 0 0 3,790 3,790 0 0 0 0 3,790 0 0

VBH singapore Pte. ltd. 3,493 599 0 0 4,092 2,478 425 0 0 0 2,903 1,014 1,188

VBH ireland 1,926 0 0 0 1,926 0 0 0 1,456 0 1,456 1,926 470

VBH Hody 4,660 0 0 0 4,660 0 0 0 1,791 0 1,791 4,660 2,869

Beijing VBH constr.Hardware co. ltd 1,222 139 0 0 1,361 504 57 0 800 0 1,361 718 0

VBH Kapi A.s. 1,223 60 0 0 1,283 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,223 1,283

other consolidation 5,127 86 0 0 5,213 1,458 0 0 110 0 1,568 3,669 3,645

Goodwill from individual financial statements 7,745 -2 0 -25 7,718 3,177 0 0 0 -13 3,164 4,568 4,554

total 80,152 882 0 -25 81,008 35,122 482 0 10,148 -13 45,739 45,029 35,269
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for the calculation of the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit, refer to section 4.5 of the notes. An 

impairment test must be carried out annually and as required if there are indications that a cash-generating unit 

may be impaired. 

Fair value is generally calculated using the discounted cash flow method (DCF). DCF calculations are based on 

forecasts that are in turn based on financial projections for five years that are approved by the Executive Board, and 

additionally used for internal purposes. The projection timeframe selected reflects assumptions pertaining to short and 

medium-term market developments. Cash flows exceeding the five-year period are projected on a straight-line basis. 

Significant assumptions employed in the DCF model include estimates relating to future sales, earnings, growth rates 

and discount rates. The impairment testing carried out in the current financial year led to the changes in measurements 

shown above resulting in impairments on goodwill totalling € t 10,148 (previous year: € t 0). the goodwill impairment 

on the individual companies is based primarily on changed assumptions on future cash flows and the current earnings 

situation of the companies affected.

The discount rates are based on cost of capital calculations applying a debt/equity financing structure and on financing 

costs in relation to a defined peer group. The discount rates applied reflect the specific equity risk of the respective 

cash-generating unit. 

the parameters established per company in line with iAs 36 are within the following ranges:

Financial year 2009

Financial year 2010

growth rates on company level 
1 - 30% 

(except start up companies)

 average in % max. in % min. in %
capitalisation rate phase 1 8.8 12.2 7.1

capitalisation rate phase 2 7.8 11.2 6.1

growth rates on company level 
1 - 30% 

(ausgenommen gründungsgesellschaften)

 average in % max. in % min. in %
capitalisation rate phase 1 8.5 10.3 6.4

capitalisation rate phase 2 7.5 9.3 5.4
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in the reporting year, goodwill was impaired by a total of € t 10,148. impairment relates to companies in italy, Belgium, 

china, Bulgaria and ireland.

in addition, a purchase price liability for the acquisition of an investment in VBH galro, ireland was remeasured on the basis 

of the current earnings situation and the agreed purchase agreement. According to ifRs 3.58 b the contingent conside-

ration classified as a liability is to be recognised in income in line with IAS 39 as other operating income of € T 1,456. The 

remeasurement of the interest resulted in a write-down at the same level on the goodwill to the net present value.  

4.3 PRoPeRtY, PlAnt And eQUiPMent 

All property, plant and equipment is measured at historical cost less any depreciation. cost includes expenses directly 

attributable to the purchase. subsequent costs are only recognised as part of the cost of the asset or – if relevant – as a 

separate asset if it is likely that the Group will derive future economic benefit from it and the cost of the asset can be reliably 

calculated. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in the financial year in which they occurred. 

land is not depreciated. depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, asset cost being depreciated to residu-

al value over the estimated useful lives shown below. 

Asset useful life in years

Machinery and equipment 4 to 11

operating facilities 13 to 15

Business equipment 3 to 13

Warehouses 25 to 50

Machines 11 to 15

Administrative buildings 33

Residential buildings 50

the residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted as appropriate. 

if the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, its carrying amount is written 

down immediately to the latter amount. gains and losses on disposals are calculated as the difference between the 

proceeds of disposal and the carrying amount, and are recognised in profit or loss. 
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4.4 finAnciAl instRUMents 

A financial instrument is a contract that simultaneously results in a financial asset for one company and a financial 

liability or equity instrument for another company. Financial instruments recognised as financial assets or financial 

liabilities are generally presented separately. financial instruments are recognised whenever VBH becomes party 

to the financial instrument. Initial recognition of financial instruments is at fair value. For subsequent measurement, 

the financial instruments are allocated to one of the measurement categories listed in IAS 39, ‘Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement’. transaction costs directly attributable to the purchase or issue are included in calcu-

lations of the carrying amount if the financial instruments are not measured at fair value in profit or loss. If the trading 

date and the fulfilment date (i.e. date of delivery) are different, VBH chooses the trading date for initial recognition or 

disposal. 

Financial assets 
Financial assets include trade receivables, receivables from banks, cash in hand, derivative financial assets, 

marketable securities and financial investments.

Financial assets measured at fair value in profit and loss 
Financial assets measured at fair value in profit or loss include financial assets held for trading purposes. 

Financial assets such as shares or interest-bearing securities are classified as held for trading purposes if they are 

acquired with the intent to dispose of them in the short term. derivatives, including embedded derivatives that were 

separated from the host contract, are also classified as held for trading purposes unless they are included in hedge 

accounting as hedging instruments and are effective as such. Gains and losses from financial assets held for trading 

purposes are recognised in profit or loss.  

loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments not listed on an active 

market, such as trade receivables. After initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured applying the effective 

interest method at amortised cost less impairment. gains and losses are recognised in consolidated earnings if the 

loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired. interest rate effects arising from the application of the effective 

interest rate method are also recognised in profit or loss. 
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Financial assets held to maturity
Financial assets held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 

bullet maturities, which are to be and also can be held to maturity and are not to be allocated to any of the other 

measurement units. initial recognition is at fair value. subsequent recognition is at amortised cost applying the 

effective interest rate method.

At VBH Holding AG no financial assets are allocated to this measurement category.

Available for sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are categorised as available for sale rather 

than under one of the categories mentioned above. this category includes equity instruments and debt instruments 

such as government issues, corporate bonds and commercial papers. After initial measurement, available-for-sale 

financial assets are measured at fair value. Unrealised gains or losses are recognised in equity as provisions for 

available-for-sale assets. if there are objective indications of an impairment, or if changes in the fair value of a debt 

instrument result from exchange rate fluctuation, they are included in profit or loss. On the disposal of financial as-

sets, the accumulated gains and losses arising from the fair-value measurement and recognised in equity are recog-

nised in profit or loss. If the fair value of non-listed equity instruments cannot be determined to an adequate degree 

of reliability, the shares are measured at amortised cost (in any given case less impairment). interest received from 

these financial assets is generally recognised in profit or loss as interest income, applying the effective interest rate 

method. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss once the legal claim to payment arises. 
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Financial liabilities  
Financial liabilities include trade accounts payable, amounts owed to banks, bonds, derivative financial liabilities and 

other liabilities. 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  
After initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured applying the effective interest method at amortised cost. 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value in profit and loss  
Financial liabilities measured at fair value in profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading purposes. 

Derivatives, including embedded derivatives that were separated from the host contract, are classified as held for 

trading purposes unless they are included in hedge accounting as hedging instruments and are effective as such. 

Gains and losses from financial liabilities held for trading purposes are recognised in profit or loss. 

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
VBH uses derivative financial instruments such as forward contracts, swaps, caps and floors mainly for hedging 

interest rate and currency risks arising from its operating, financing and investing activities. Embedded deriva-

tives are separated from the host contract which is not measured at fair value through profit or loss when the 

analysis shows that the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to 

those of the host contract. Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition and on 

each subsequent reporting date. the fair value of quoted derivatives is equal to their positive or negative market 

value. If a market value is not available, fair value is calculated using standard financial valuation models such as 

discounted cash flow or option pricing models. Derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as 

liabilities when fair value is negative. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



113

if the requirements for hedge accounting set out in iAs 39 are met, VBH designates and documents the hedging 

relationship from the date a derivative contract is entered into either as a fair value hedge or a cash flow hedge. In 

a fair value hedge, the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment is hedged. 

In a cash flow hedge, fluctuating cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognised asset or liability or highly 

probable future cash flows are hedged. The documentation of the hedging relationship includes the objectives and 

strategy of risk management, the type of hedging relationship, the nature of risk being hedged, the identification of 

the hedging instrument and the hedged item as well as a description of the method to assess hedge effectiveness. 

With regard to the hedged risk, the hedging relationships are expected to be highly effective in offsetting risks arising 

from changes in fair value or cash flows and are regularly assessed to determine whether they actually have been 

highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated. 

changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are recognised periodically either in earnings or equity, as a 

component of other reserves, depending on whether the hedging relationship is designated as a hedge of changes 

in fair value or cash flows. For fair value hedges, changes in the market value of the derivative instruments and the 

associated hedged items are recognised in profit or loss. For cash flow hedges, fair value changes of the effective 

portion of the hedging instrument are recognised in other reserves, net of applicable taxes. Amounts taken to equity 

are reclassified to the income statement when the hedged transaction affects the income statement. The ineffective 

portion of the fair value changes is recognised in profit or loss. 

If derivative financial instruments are not or no longer included in hedge accounting because the requirements for 

hedge accounting are not or no longer met, the derivative financial instruments are classified as held for trading 

purposes. 
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4.5 iMPAiRMents/ReVeRsAls 

At each balance sheet date, VBH assesses whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. if such 

indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (e.g. goodwill, intangible assets with 

indefinite useful lives as well as intangible assets not yet in use), VBH estimates the recoverable amount of the 

asset. the recoverable amount is determined for each individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 

inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). The 

recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less selling costs and value in use. VBH determines the recoverable 

amount as fair value less selling costs and compares it with the carrying amount (including goodwill). fair value is 

measured by discounting future cash flows using a risk-adjusted interest rate. If fair value less selling costs cannot 

be determined or is lower than the carrying amount, value in use is calculated. if the carrying amount is higher 

than the recoverable amount, an impairment charge is recognised in the amount of the difference. 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether any previously recognised impairment not related to 

goodwill may no longer exist or have decreased. in this case VBH records a partial or full reversal of the impairment 

and increases the carrying amount to the recoverable amount. However, the increased carrying amount may not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been calculated (less amortisation or depreciation) if no impairment 

losses had been recognised in previous years. 
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4.6 AccoUnts ReceiVABle And otHeR Assets 

Upon initial recognition, receivables and other assets are recognised at cost and less impairment. impairment on 

trade receivables is recognised if there is objective evidence that amounts due are not fully recoverable. the amount 

of the impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the receivable and the cash value 

of the estimated future cash flows from this receivable. Impairments are directly recognised in profit or loss. If the 

reasons for impairments taken in previous periods no longer exist, these are reversed accordingly. impairments are 

determined based on the age of the receivables and their recoverability. Receivables and other assets comprise 

mainly bonuses from suppliers, creditors with debit balances, other loans and receivables, and payments in transit. 

deferred tax assets are also recognised. Receivables denominated in foreign currency, if recorded, are measured at 

the rate as at the reporting date. 

4.7 inVentoRies 

inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. inventories are measured in accordance with 

the VBH group guidelines in line with purchase prices, the fifo method or the weighted average method less im-

pairment for uncommon products or stock. 
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4.8 leAses

Leases are classified as ‘Finance Leasing’ if according to the terms of the lease all opportunities and risks 

associated with the property are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as ‘Operating Leases’. 

Non-current assets which were rented or leased and whose beneficial ownership resides with the respective 

Group company (‘finance lease’) are recognised as assets of the Group at fair value or at the cash value of the 

minimum lease The corresponding amounts owed to the lessor are recognised in the balance sheet as finance 

lease obligations under amounts owed to banks. lease payments are allocated to interest expenditure and 

reduction of the lease in such a way that interest is continuously charged on the remaining commitment. lease 

payments as part of an operating lease are recognised as expenditure in the income statement on a straight-

line basis over the term of the lease. 

4.9 cAsH And cAsH eQUiVAlents 

cash and cash equivalents include cash, cheques, bank balances and securities, have a term of no more than three 

months and are measured at nominal value. 

4.10 eQUitY

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown as 

a deduction, net of tax, if any, from the proceeds. costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options or 

those directly related to an acquisition are included in the cost of the respective acquisition as part of consideration for 

the acquisition. 
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4.11 PRoVisions

Provisions are formed where the group has a current legal or constructive obligation resulting from a past event and 

where it is probable (‘more likely than not’) that the payment of the obligation will negatively impact assets and where 

it was possible to determine reliably the level of the provision. Provisions are measured at the most likely value of 

their utilisation. interest is charged at risk-adequate market rates on long-term provisions if their effect is material.  

4.12 Pension PRoVisions 

The VBH Group has defined benefit plans only. The actuarial valuation of pension provisions for retirement benefits 

is carried out in line with the projected unit credit method prescribed in IAS 19 (‘Employee Benefits’), in which an 

actuarial valuation is carried out at every balance sheet date. this method accounts not only for the present value 

of pension obligations known at the balance sheet date, but also for future salary and benefit increases. Differences 

resulting at the end of the year (known as actuarial gains and losses) between planned pension obligations and the 

defined benefit obligation are included in profit or loss in the relevant reporting period. The basis for the pension en-

titlements is a pension commitment dated 18 february 1981 for a group of pre-retirees employed by VBH deutsch-

land gmbH or its legal predecessors, VBH Holding Ag and esco Metallbausysteme gmbH, until 1 March 1996. in 

accordance with the supplement dated 22 february 1996, this company pension plan ended for employees hired 

after 29 february 1996. individual commitments also exist. 
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4.13  contingent liABilities 

contingent liabilities are not recognised. A contingent liability exists if the existence of a present, legal or constructive 

obligation is possible and if the outflow of resources is merely possible but not likely. An event is considered probable 

if the occurrence of the event is more likely than not. However, a contingent liability is disclosed in the notes if the 

possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefit is not unlikely. Contingent assets are likewise not 

recognised. However, they are disclosed in the Notes where the inflow of economic benefit is probable. 

4.14 ReVenUe Recognition 

sales revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or to be received and represents the 

amounts recoverable for goods and services in the normal course of business. Rebates, VAt and other sales reduc-

tions associated with the sale should be deducted from these amounts. the sale of goods is recognised on delivery 

and transfer of ownership on the basis of the applicable terms and conditions. 

4.15 incoMe tAXes 

current income taxes are determined based on respective local taxable income of the period and tax rules. in addi-

tion, current income taxes include adjustments for potential tax payments or refunds for periods not yet assessed. 

Deferred tax is included in income tax expense and reflects the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities except 

for changes recognised directly in equity. deferred tax assets or liabilities are determined based on temporary diffe-

rences between financial reporting and the tax basis of assets and liabilities, including differences from consolidation, 

loss carryforwards and tax credits. Measurement takes place on the basis of the tax rates whose effectiveness is 

expected for the period in which an asset is realised or a liability is settled. for this purpose those tax rates and tax 

rules in effect at the balance sheet date or those announced are applied. deferred tax assets are recognised to the 

extent that taxable profit at the level of the relevant tax authority will be available for the utilisation of the deductible 

temporary differences. VBH recognises a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets when it is not probable that a 

respective amount of future taxable profit will be available or when VBH has no control over the tax benefit. Tax be-

nefits resulting from uncertain income tax positions are recognised at the best estimate of the tax amount for which 

payment is expected. 
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4.16 estiMAtes in PRePARing tHe consolidAted 
  finAnciAl stAteMents 

Presentation of the assets, financial position and earnings in the consolidated financial statements relies upon 

recognition and measurement methods and on assumptions and estimates. Actual results may differ from the 

estimates. The significant estimates and related assumptions listed below and those uncertainties associated 

with the accounting policies chosen are key to an understanding of the underlying risks of financial reporting 

and the effects that these estimates, assumptions and uncertainties may have on the consolidated financial 

statements. the measurement of the asset value of property, plant and equipment and of intangible assets 

necessitates estimates for the calculation of fair value at the date of acquisition, if they were acquired as part 

of a business combination. Moreover, the expected useful economic life of the assets must be estimated. the 

calculation of the fair value of assets and liabilities and of the useful lives of the assets is based on judgements 

by management. the calculation of impairment on tangible and intangible assets also involves making esti-

mates relating among other things to the cause, date and amount of the impairment. impairment is based on 

many factors including changes in current competitive conditions, expectations of growth in the construction, 

window and door industry, increased cost of capital, changes in the future availability of financing, technological 

obsolescence, discontinuance of services, current replacement costs, prices paid in comparable transactions, 

share-based compensation models, the amount of deferred taxes, warranty obligations, the recoverability of 

receivables and other changes in circumstances that indicate an impairment is in evidence. 
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5.1 intAngiBle Assets 

in € t

industrial 
property and 
similar rights goodwill

payments on 
account total

Acquisition costs
Balance at 01 Januar 2009 13,386 79,006 350 92,742

currency translation differences 2 -236 3 -232

change in scope of consolidation 792 0 0 792

Additions 1,238 2,493 91 3,822

Reclassifications 228 0 -266 -38

disposals 11 1,111 1 1,123

Balance at 31 dezember 2009 / 01 Januar 2010 15,636 80,152 176 95,964

currency translation differences 127 882 0 1,010

change in scope of consolidation -36 0 0 -36

Additions 791 0 34 825

Reclassifications 167 0 -177 -10

disposals 347 25 0 372

Balance at 31 dezember 2010 16,339 81,008 34 97,381

depreciation and impairment losses/reversals
Balance at 01 Januar 2009 7,802 35,140 0 42,942

currency translation differences 7 -18 0 -11

change in scope of consolidation 45 0 0 45

depreciation/amortisation 1,498 0 0 1,498

Reclassifications -1 0 0 -1

disposals 8 0 0 8

Balance at 31 dezember 2009 / 01 Januar 2010 9,342 35,122 0 44,464

currency translation differences 59 482 0 541

change in scope of consolidation -40 0 0 -40

depreciation/amortisation 1,498 10,148 0 11,645

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0

disposals 251 13 0 263

Balance at 31 dezember 2010 10,608 45,739 0 56,347

carrying amount at 31 december 2009 6,294 45,029 176 51,500

carrying amount at 31 december 2010 5,731 35,269 34 41,034

5. consolidated balance sheet disclosures 
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5.2 PRoPeRtY, PlAnt And eQUiPMent 

in € t
land and 
buildings

other assets, 
operational 

and business 
equipment

payments 
on account, 

assets under 
development total

Acquisition costs
Balance at 01 Januar 2009 38,219 38,470 1,314 78,003

currency translation differences 68 -122 -32 -86

change in scope of consolidation 22 566 0 588

Additions 302 2,097 457 2,857

Reclassifications 22 128 -112 38

disposals 153 2,120 1 2,273

Balance at 31 dezember 2009 / 01 Januar 2010 38,480 39,020 1,627 79,127

currency translation differences 128 606 109 843

change in scope of consolidation 12 -164 0 -151

Additions 221 3,128 423 3,771

Reclassifications -132 208 -66 10

disposals 150 4,098 303 4,551

Balance at 31 dezember 2010 38,559 38,700 1,789 79,048

depreciation and impairment losses/reversals
Balance at 01 Januar 2009 17,868 27,638 0 45,505

currency translation differences 30 14 0 44

change in scope of consolidation 13 200 0 213

depreciation/amortisation 1,170 3,361 0 4,531

Reclassifications 5 -4 0 1

disposals 8 1,503 0 1,510

Balance at 31 dezember 2009 / 01 Januar 2010 19,079 29,706 0 48,785

currency translation differences 50 368 0 418

change in scope of consolidation -10 -164 0 -174

depreciation/amortisation 1,076 3,333 0 4,409

Reclassifications -69 69 0 0

disposals 134 3,488 0 3,622

Balance at 31 dezember 2010 19,992 29,824 0 49,816

carrying amount at 31 december 2009 19,402 9,314 1,627 30,343

carrying amount at 31 december 2010 18,567 8,876 1,789 29,232
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5.3 finAnciAl Assets 

in € t

interests 
in affiliated 
companies

payments on 
account

payments on 
account/

securities total
Aquisition costs

Balance at 01 January 2009 2,436 6 93 2,535

currency translation differences 0 0 0 0

change in scope of consolidation -4,846 0 0 -4,846

Additions 4,858 0 6 4,864

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0

disposals 14 2 93 109

Balance at 31 december 2009 / 01 January 2010 2,434 4 6 2,444

currency translation differences 0 0 0 0

change in scope of consolidation -483 0 0 -483

Additions 24 0 0 24

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0

disposals 0 0 0 0

Balance at 31 december 2010 1,975 4 6 1,985

depreciation and impairment losses/reversals
Balance at 01 January 2009 29 6 0 35

currency translation differences 0 0 0 0

change in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0

depreciation/amortisation 0 0 0 0

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0

disposals 13 2 0 14

Balance at 31 december 2009 / 01 January 2010 17 4 0 20

currency translation differences 0 0 0 0

change in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0

depreciation/amortisation 9 0 0 9

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0

disposals 0 0 0 0

Balance at 31 december 2010 26 4 0 30

carrying amount at 31 december 2009 2,418 0 6 2,424

carrying amount at 31 december 2010 1,949 0 6 1,955
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5.4 inVentoRies

in € t 2009 2010
Raw materials and supplies 82 562

Work in progress 0 0

finished goods and goods for resale 106,799 122,785

Payments on account 3,355 1,501

total 110,236 124,848

of the inventories recognised at 31 december 2010, € t 122,785 were recognised at net realisable value (previous year: 

€ t 106,799). At the balance sheet date, impairments were recognised in inventories in the amount of € t 10,226 (previ-

ous year: € T 10,162). No impairments were reversed in the course of the financial year. 

5.5 AccoUnts ReceiVABles And otHeR Assets 

2009 2010

in € t current
non 

current total current
non 

current total

trade receivables 96,187 744 96,931 103,274 1,095 104,369

Receivables affiliated companies 4,300 0 4,300 3,133 0 3,133

other assets 24,109 3,738 27,847 20,270 4,045 24,315

total 124,596 4,482 129,078 126,677 5,140 131,817

other assets include € t 12,989 receivables and payables largely to suppliers (previous year: € t 15,472) and € t 2,838 

receivables from tax authorities (previous year: € t 3,240).  

Aging Schedule of trade Receivables
in € t 2009 2010
trade receivables 96,931 104,369

not impaired and not yet due 43,740 54,455

not impaired and past-due 13,816 17,660

30 to 60 days 4,813 5,867

60 to 120 days 2,838 3,480

> 120 days 6,165 8,313
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valuation Allowances for trade Receivables
in € t 2009 2010
Balance as at 01 January 11,629 13,042

change in scope of consolidation 149 -16

currency changes -25 251

Allocations (impairment losses) 6,166 5,892

Utilisation 2,755 2,080

Withdrawals (gains on impairment reversals) 2,122 2,483

Balance as of 31 december 13,042 14,605

With respect to receivables that are neither impaired nor past due, there were no indications that they could not be recove-

red from debtors as at the balance sheet date. 

5.6 cAsH And cAsH eQUiVAlents 

the composition of cash and cash equivalents is presented in the following table. At the balance sheet date the maximum 

default risk was equal to the carrying amount. 

in € t 2009 2010
credit balances with banks 13,468 11,975

cash in hand and cheques 944 688

total 13,374 12,663

5.7 tAX ReceiVABles 

income taxes 
2009 2010

in € t current
non-

current total current
non-

current total
tax receivables 2,055 0 2,055 762 0 762
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5.8 defeRRed tAX Assets 

deferred tax assets 
2009 2010

in € t current
non-

current total current
non-

current total
deferred tax assets 0 10,092 10,092 0 11,741 11,741

deferred tax assets in the amount of € t 650 (previous year: € t 868) are recognised in equity.   

5.9 eQUitY

Subscribed capital 
subscribed capital totals € 45,879,408.00, consisting of 45,879,408 non-par bearer shares. 

the exercise of options in 2010 caused the following changes in equity:  

Breakdown of subscribed capital
individual shares 2009 2010
Balance as at 01 January 45,790,408 45,869,408

shares from options 79,000 10,000

Balance as at 31 december 45,869,408 45,879,408

Authorised capital 
subject to supervisory Board approval, the executive Board is authorised to increase the share capital of the company 

(Authorised capital) one or more times through 9 June 2014 by a maximum of € 20,000,000.00 through the issuance 

of new no-par value ordinary bearer shares carrying voting rights (no-par value shares). capital increases can be made 

against cash or non-cash contributions.  
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the executive Board is also authorised to exclude the legal subscription right of shareholders in the following cases, subject 

to supervisory Board approval:

for fractional amounts arising due to the subscription ratio �

for a capital increase against non-cash contributions for the acquisition of companies or equity interests in com- �

panies (even if there is a purchase price component paid out in cash in addition to the shares) if the acquisition of 

the company or equity interests is understood to be in the interests of the company 

 for a capital increase against cash contributions of up to 10 % of the subscribed capital existing both on the date of  �

this authorisation becoming effective and on the date of the authorisation being exercised, provided that the initial 

carrying amount of the new shares does not substantially fall short of the market price of shares of the same class 

and terms that are already listed. shares that are acquired on the basis of an appropriate authorisation by the Annu-

al general Meeting in accordance with section 71 (1) no. 8 of the german stock corporation Act during the period 

in which this authorisation was effective and sold according to section 71 (1) no. 8 and section 186 (3) sentence 4 

of the german stock corporation Act also count towards this restriction of 10 % of the subscribed capital

The Executive Board is also authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to set a start date for profit-sharing 

rights that deviates from legislation, as well as further specifics pertaining to a capital increase and its implementation 

including particularly the issue amount and the compensation to be paid for the new shares and the granting of indirect 

subscription rights per section 186 (5) of the german stock corporation Act. 

contingent capital i
the subscribed capital of the company was increased contingently by € 1,635,039 through the issuance of up to 1,635,039 

new no-par value ordinary bearer shares with voting rights (contingent capital i). due to the complete repayment in June 

2010 of the convertible bonds of € 8,175,195 terminated as at the end of 2009 and the relevant interest, contingent capital 

i was paid back entirely in 2010. 

contingent capital ii 
the subscribed capital of the company is to be increased contingently by € 40,000 (previous year: € 100,000) 

through the issuance of up to 40,000 (previous year: 100,000) no-par value ordinary bearer shares with voting 

rights (Contingent Capital II). This contingent capital increase is exclusively for the purpose of fulfilling option 

rights that were granted on the basis of the authorisation by the Annual general Meeting from 24 May 2004 until 

24 May 2009. the remaining contingent capital increase will be implemented only to the extent that holders of the 

option rights issued exercise their right to purchase shares, and the company does not provide treasury shares 

to fulfil these option rights. The new no-par shares participate in profit from the beginning of the financial year in 

which the shares are issued.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



127

A total 1,200,000 share options were issued, of which 600,000 were issued to the executive Board, 120,000 were 

issued to managing directors of affiliated companies and 480,000 were issued to managers of the Group. Of these 

issued options, 10,000 were converted to shares in 2010 (previous year: 79,000), 50,000 were returned in 2010 

(previous year: 0) and 40,000 options were still outstanding (previous year: 100,000). At year-end contingent 

capital ii was € 40,000 (previous year € 100,000).

The profit participation of newly issued shares may be determined at variance to Section 60 of the German Stock 

corporation Act.

capital reserve 
capital reserves increased to € t 41,906 in 2010 (previous year: € t 41,847) due to the exercise of options in the amount of 

€ t 20 (previous year: € t 139) and share-based compensation of € t 39 (previous year: € t 78). 

Retained earnings
in € t 2009 2010
legal reserves 2,142 2,050

other reserves 44,398 42,154

Reserve for ifRs adjustments -280 -280

Cash flow hedge reserve -2,026 -1,516

currency translation adjustments -8,648 -5,151

total 35,585 37,257

5.10 sHARe oPtion PlAn 

the executive Board was authorised with the approval of the supervisory Board to issue up to 600,000 subscription rights 

on up to 600,000 VBH Holding Ag no-par bearer shares with voting rights (hereinafter also referred to as ‘options’ and 

‘option rights’) through 24 May 2009, subject to the provisions outlined below. 

the supervisory Board was authorised to issue up to 600,000 subscription rights on up to 600,000 VBH Holding Ag no-par 

bearer shares with voting rights (voting shares) through 24 May 2009, subject to the provisions outlined below.
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group of those eligible to subscribe 
Options may only be issued to members of the Executive Board of VBH Holding AG, managing directors of affiliated 

German and non-German companies, and executives of the Company and affiliated German and non-German companies. 

The Executive Board of the Company determines the specific individuals eligible to subscribe and the number of options to 

be granted to them. the supervisory Board of the company alone decides whether to grant and issue options to executive 

Board members. the total volume of options is distributed among the eligible groups of individuals as follows: members of 

the VBH Holding AG Executive Board may receive a maximum 50 % of total options; members of management of affilia-

ted companies may receive a maximum 10 % of total options. Managers of VBH Holding AG and its affiliated companies 

receive a maximum total of 40 % of the options. in all cases, eligible members are granted options only as a member of one 

group of individuals. double subscription is not allowed. At the time the options are granted, the entitled persons must have 

an active working relationship or service contract with the Company or an affiliated German or foreign company. 

granting options (acquisition periods), issue date and option right  
options are granted in yearly tranches issued within four weeks beginning the day after the company‘s Annual general 

Meeting, the first time within a period of four weeks from the date the contingent capital increase to be resolved is recorded. 

the options are issued when a written contract for purchase of options (option agreement) is entered into between the 

relevant entitled individual and the company. the company shall present an option agreement to the eligible individuals for 

this purpose. the issue date is the date on which the option agreement signed by the company is delivered to the eligible 

individuals. each option authorises the holder to subscribe to a bearer share of VBH Holding Ag in return for payment of the 

exercise price. 

Exercise price and performance target 
the price to be paid upon exercise of the relevant option (exercise price) corresponds to the average value of the 

closing prices of the Company‘s common stock as determined in floor trading on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange over 

the ten trading days before the day on which the options are issued, i.e. the issue date. 

However, the minimum exercise price is the proportional amount of company share capital represented by the indivi-

dual common share (section 9 (1) german stock corporation Act). the requirement for exercising options is that the 

relative increase in the value of the company‘s shares between the option issue date and the respective exercise date 

is greater than the performance of the sdAX or another index functioning in the place of the sdAX. the value of the 

share at the time of the option is issued is determined by the exercise price, which is obtained from the mean value of 

the closing prices of the Company‘s share in floor trading at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange over the ten trading days 

prior to the issue date. the value of the company‘s stock on the exercise date is determined by the mean value of the 

Company share‘s closing prices in floor trading on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange over the ten trading days before the 

relevant exercise period. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



129

the value of the sdAX, or an index which is functionally equivalent to the sdAX, at the time of issue of the options 

is determined by the mean value of the closing prices of this index over the last ten days of trading before the issue 

date. the sdAX, or an index which is functionally equivalent to the sdAX, on the issue date is determined by the 

mean value of the closing prices of this index over the last ten days of trading before the relevant exercise period. 

vesting period for initial exercise and exercise periods 
one third of the options granted may be exercised no earlier than two years (“two-year vesting period”) after the 

issue date; an additional third may be exercised no earlier than three years after this date and the remaining third 

may be exercised no earlier than four years after the relevant issue date. the options can be exercised only within 

a period not exceeding four weeks from the third bank working day after the Annual general Meeting. in addition, 

all restrictions associated with the general legal regulations must be observed, particularly the german securities 

trading Act. 

the performance of the share options is shown in the following table:  

Shares from options 

Financial year/
tranche

Remaining 
term in years

total options 
outstanding

Exercise price 
in €

options 
exercised

Forfaited/
expired 
options

Shares issued 
on options

2004 0 0 0 0 0 0

2005 0 0 0 0 0 0

2006 0 0 10,000 10,000 0 10,000

2008 3 40,000 0 0 50,000 0

40,000 10,000 10,000 50,000 10,000
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issued options developed as follows:

2009 2010

in pieces/€

number of  
weighted

options

Weighted
average

price in €/share

number of  
weighted

options

Weighted
average

price in €/share
Balance as at 01 January 270,000 4.12 100,000 5.54

options granted 0 0 0 0

options exercised 79,000 2.76 10,000 3.03

options expired 91,000 3.76 50,000 5.82

Balance as at 31 december 100,000 5.54 40,000 5.82

of the share options remaining in 2010, 40,000 options may still be exercised in line with the option conditions as of 

31 december 2010 (previous year: 100,000)

In financial year 2010, the share option plan resulted in personnel expenses of € T 39 (previous year: € T 78).

the parameters used to determine the fair value of the options granted are shown in the table below:

tranche 2006 2008
expected share volatility 44.0 38.0

expected reference index volatility 15.0 20.0

Risk-free investment return 3.4% 4.6%

Residual term in years 1.0 4.0

fair value per option in € 0.84 1.30

the expected volatilities are based on the historical volatility of VBH shares and the sdAX. the period on 

which the estimate of VBH share volatility is based is the two years prior to the date at which option fair value 

is calculated. A binomial model is employed for measurement. 
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5.11 liABilities 

2009 2010

in € t current
non-

current total current
non-

current total

liabilities to banks and third parties 41,966 67,888 109,854 114,114 10,921 125,035

Bonds/convertible bonds 8,175 0 8,175 0 0 0

Financial liabilities 50,141 67,888 118,029 114,114 10,921 125,035

trade payables 43,801 527 44,328 47,476 34 47,510

Advances received 538 0 538 593 0 593

Liabilities from affiliated companies 0 0 0 0 0 0

other liabilities 30,330 1,488 31,818 26,127 2,382 28,509

trade payables 
and other liabilities

74,669 2,015 76,684 74,196 2,416 76,612

total 124,810 69,903 194,713 188,310 13,337 201,647

Significant items under other current liabilities included deferred liabilities of € T 8,413 (previous year: € T 6,610), tax 

liabilities of € t 7,442 (previous year: € t 6,547) and payables to customers of € t 3,480 (previous year: € t 5,817). 

Under the 2004 capital model, € 50 million in amounts payable primarily to banks were converted into floating-rate 

convertible bonds. convertible bonds still outstanding in the amount of € t 8,175 were called in 2009 and paid out with 

interest to the holders in June 2010 in accordance with the convertible bond conditions. 

in the previous year, additional noncurrent other liabilities in the amount of € t 890 represented purchase price liabilities 

in connection with company acquisitions and the purchase of equity interests, as well as syndicate financing from 

domestic banks. in the current year, this item largely contains other liabilities of € t 2,166 from interest rate swaps. 

VBH Holding AG and its German subsidiaries receive major financing under agreements with the banks BW-Bank 

stuttgart, deutsche Bank Ag, stuttgart, Kreissparkassen Böblingen and ludwigsburg, Volksbank in stuttgart Ag and 

IKB, Deutsche Industriebank AG. A syndicated loan agreement for a total line of credit of € 100 million with a five-year 

term was signed on 19 March 2007 and recognised as current due to the remaining duration (previous year: non-

current). 
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the group‘s lines of credits given by commercial banks and the syndicated loan due 31 december 2011 provided 

VBH with adequate credit during the financial year to continue developing its operating activities and making 

investments. the liquidity plan was observed and included not only the repayment of convertible bonds and due 

interest but also dividends distributed to VBH shareholders. Although utilisation of credit lines was further reduced 

thanks to the Group‘s positive cash flow, there was increased utilisation due to the above mentioned repayments and 

distributions.

Due to the deterioration in economic conditions, the financial covenants for the syndicated loan of VBH Holding AG 

were adjusted in 2009. in 2010, there was higher interest expense as a result of raising the borrowing interest rates 

due to a covenant being breached as at the end of the first half of 2010. 

due to the previous syndicated loan agreement expiring as at the end of 2011, VBH Holding Ag is currently 

restructuring the Group financing. It is intended to achieve an agreement by the middle of the current financial year 

to secure further long-term financing for the Group. 

trade payables include open obligations from the provision of goods and services as well as current expenses. the 

executive Board assumes that the carrying value of trade payments is almost equivalent to their fair value. 

The table below presents liabilities from financial leases shown under financial liabilities.

in € t 2009 2010

Maturity within 1 year 173 97

Maturity in 1-5 years 417 342

Maturity after 5 years 2,019 1,997

nominal value 2,609 2,436

Significant finance lease agreements exist in the Group for warehouse and office buildings used by VBH in 

cologne, germany and savona, italy. the leased assets are recognised in property, plant and equipment at a 

carrying amount of € t 2,500 (previous year: € t 2,628). the fair value of the group’s lease payment obligations 

corresponds roughly to their carrying amount. the carrying amounts for land amounted to € t 925 (previous year: 

€ t 925) and for buildings € t 1,575 (previous year: € t 1,653). lease instalments totalled € t 289 (previous year: 

€ t 295), including interest payments of € t 121 (previous year: € t 134). the conversion date for the cologne 

financial lease contract is 1 February 2017. The lease liabilities will be recalculated on this date. 
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5.12 tAX liABilities

Income tax liabilities relate to payments to the respective tax offices for amounts still open for financial year 2010. 

2009 2010

in € t current
non-

current total current
non-

current total

income tax liabilities 1,103 0 1,103 273 0 273

5.13 Pension PRoVisions 

the actuarial report of towers Watson gmbH, Reutlingen, germany, of february 2011 was prepared in accordance with 

iAs 19, focusing on the main pension provisions in germany. Measurement is based on the following calculation parame-

ters, applying the projected unit credit method: 

The actuarial assumptions reflect the fair value of cash and cash equivalents (calculatory interest rate) and the probability 

that payments will come due (assumptions on mortality, probability of marriage, disability, retirement and fluctuation etc.). 

the information is also based on mortality table 2005 g of Heubeck Richttafeln gmbH and, in respect of the calculatory 

pensionable age, the federal Minster of finance circular dated 5 May 2010.  

Actuarial assumptions
2007 2008 2009 2010

discount rate 5.5% 5.8% 5.25% 5.15%

expected return on plan assets 4.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

expected salary increase rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

expected income from reimbursements 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

expected pension increase rate 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%

contribution assessment in statutory pension insurance 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

the service cost and any past service cost calculated using the projected unit credit method are recognised in the 

costs for the provision of benefits under defined benefit plans.
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Effects in profit and loss from defined benefit plans
in € t 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
ongoing service cost 350 281 164 191 205

interest cost 517 557 610 643 640

expected return on plan assets 0 0 -22 -17 -19

Actuarial gains and losses 56 0 -15 -32 -12

total 923 838 737 785 814

Present value of liabilities from defined benefits plans 
in € t 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Balance as at 01 January 11,184 11,788 12,294 12,119 12,497

service cost 350 281 164 191 205

interest cost 517 557 610 643 640

fair value of liability insurance -540 0 5

expected return on plan assets -22 -17 -19

Actuarial gains and losses 56 -15 -32 -12

Plan participant contributions -29 -28 -32

Benefits paid -319 -332 -343 -379 -472

Balance as at 31 december 11,788 12,294 12,119 12,497 12,812

plan assets and expected return
in € t 2008 2009 2010
Fair value of liability insurance 540 572 611

Expected return 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Balance as at 01 January 540 572 611

employer and employee contributions 29 28 32

fair value of liability insurance 0 0 -5

expected return on plan assets 22 17 19

Actuarial gains/losses 19 6 -90

Balance as at 31 december 572 611 567
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present value of pension provisions
in € t 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Present value of liabilities funded by plan assets -1,454 -1,645 -1,760

Plan assets 572 611 567

funding status -882 -1,034 -1,193

Present value of liabilities not funded by plan assets -12,578 -11,282 -9,836 -10,760 -11,301

non-amortised actuarial gains and losses 790 -1,012 -1,402 -703 -318

Portion of maximum amount not recognised -11,788 -12,294 -12,119 -12,497 -12,812

The table below shows estimated expenses from allocations to provisions in future financial years.

Allocations to pension provisions
in € t 2011 2012
expense in subsequent years 167 176

5.14 PRoVisions 

in € t

pension and 
similar 

obligations taxes
product
liability other  total

Balance at 01 January 2009 12,129 7,314 1,684 4,712 25,839

change in scope of consolidation 0 5 0 152 157

currency changes 0 -79 0 5 -74  

Allocations 785 917 375 2,362 4,439

Reclassifications -10 0 0 10 0

Utilisation 407 406 516 2,073 3,402

Reversals 0 5,760 0 444 6,204

Balance at 31 december 2009 12,497 1,991 1,543 4,724 20,755

thereof short-term 0 1,991 375 2,761 5,127

thereof long-term 12,497 0 1,168 1,963 15,628
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Significant items under other provisions income included bonus provisions of € T 335 (previous year: € T 524) and 

provisions for personnel of € t 1,482 (previous year: € t 1,607). 

Product warranty provisions contain possible claims from already realised property orders and warranties recognised 

for a period of five years. 

5.15 defeRRed tAX liABilities

2009 2010

in € t current
non-

current total current
non-

current total
deferred tax liabilities 0 3,823 3,823 0 4,411 4,411

in € t

pension and 
similar 

obligations taxes
product
liability other  total

Balance at 01 January 2010 12,497 1,991 1,543 4,724 20,755

change in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 -329 -329

currency changes 0 102 4 32 138

Allocations 819 1,133 345 2,581 4,878

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0

Utilisation 504 597 7 2,247 3,355

Reversals 0 397 326 721 1,444

Balance at 31 december 2010 12,812 2,232 1,559 4,040 20,643

thereof short-term 0 2,232 449 2,104 4,785

thereof long-term 12,812 0 1,110 1,936 15,858
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6.1 sAles ReVenUe / segMent 

in accordance with ifRs guidelines, the organisational structure of VBH is comprised of four primary operating 

segments and one non-operating segment. these segments form the basis for the primary segment reporting format 

while reflecting the internal control structure of the Group. Because the Group does not operate any different business 

segments, a breakdown according to business segments is not necessary. 

germany, Western europe, eastern europe and other Markets (this segment includes the subsidiaries in Asia and 

America) are the operating segments, while corporate services is the non-operating segment.  

sales revenues by segments were as follows: 

in € t 2009 2010
germany 382,456 411,443

Western europe 143,896 133,301

eastern europe 221,076 247,935

other Markets 25,846 31,189

corporate services 0 0

consolidation * -18,130 -23,857

group 755,143 800,011

* consolidation represents non-intersegmentary group sales.  

    

Business segments are organised by geographical designation in segment reporting. They also reflect the operating 

responsibilities of the group‘s management structure, and are monitored regularly by management in order to assess the 

financial position of the Group as a whole and of the subgroup. These are segments subject to reporting under IFRS 8 

(‘segment Reporting’). A business segment constitutes a group of assets and operating activities that is distinct from other 

segments with respect to risks and opportunities. 

segment reporting is carried out in line with balance sheet recognition and measurement methods employed with the ifRs 

consolidated financial statements on which it is based. Intersegment consolidation was carried out. Segment reporting was 

prepared based on the single-entity financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs, presenting a true and fair view 

of the assets and liabilities of the segments.

6. notes to the income statement 
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As a trading group that specifies and determines its products or services individually within a specific economic environment 

in the respective markets, focusing on market-specific particularities and maintaining flexibility in the range of products is 

key to success. the core product ranges in the individual markets and segments are generally similar in type. their diffe-

rence lies in market readiness, and is further dependent upon political and economic framework conditions in the regions in 

which the VBH group is active. these also represent the primary risk criteria for the group.

the previous-year values have been restated in the respective business segments in relation to the accounting policies 

outlined in section 4.

 

6.2 costs of RAW MAteRiAls, sUPPlies And PURcHAsed   
 MeRcHAndise 

cost of materials breaks down as follows:  

in € t 2009 2010
costs of raw materials, supplies and purchased merchandise 570,314 606,713

costs of purchased services 1,541 1,088

total 571,855 607,801

costs of raw materials, supplies and purchased merchandise in the current period (covering write-downs) included in 

profit and loss of € T 1,461 (previous year: € T 3,612).

6.3 PeRsonnel eXPenses 

Personnel expenses break down as follows: 

in € t 2009 2010
Wages and salaries 77,331 79,314

social security contributions and pension costs 15,180 15,602

total 92,511 94,916

in the group, personnel costs increased by a total of € 2.4 million or 2.6%. the moderate rise in personnel costs 

resulted from the german segment, while personnel costs in Western europe declined as a result of restructuring 

measures. in eastern europe and in other markets, personnel costs rose as a result of expanding business activities.
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Employees
2009 2010

germany 1,007 1,023

Abroad 1,961 1,911

total 2,968 2,934

on average, the company employed a groupwide workforce of 2,934 during the reporting year (previous year: 

2,968).there were 87 trainees groupwide, as compared to 80 in the previous year. 

6.4 otHeR oPeRAting incoMe 

in € t 2009 2010
income from reversal of provisions 975 1,170

income from reversal of impairments 2,181 1,862

Income from disposal of fixed assets 458 340

other operating income 9,276 14,635

total 12,890 18,008

Significant items under other operating income included exchange rate gains of € T 6,348 (previous year: € T 4,709), 

goods reimbursements from previous years of € T 360 (previous year: € T 435) and income from non-cash benefits 

passed on of € t 1,259 (previous year: € t 1,248). 

in line with ifRs, other income also included a reduction in the purchase price for the acquisition of a shareholding of  

€ t 1,456. A write-down on goodwill on the participation was recognised in the same amount in equity.  

6.5 otHeR oPeRAting eXPenses

in € t 2009 2010
Administrative expenses 15,811 16,736

selling expenses 25,056 26,865

other operating expenses 31,398 33,754

expenses relating to other periods 8,172 8,914

total 80,437 86,269
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other operating expenses increased by € 2.3 million or 7.6 % due to extended trading activites.

 

significant items under other operating expenses included exchange rate losses of € t 4,783 (previous year: 

€ t 5,512), rent and incidental rental costs of € t 12,887 (previous year: € t 12,271), rental/leasing costs of   

€ t 4,512 (previous year: € t 4,541) and maintenance cost of € t 3,807 (previous year: € t 2,759). 

6.6 dePReciAtion / AMoRtisAtion 

in € t 2009 2010
Amortisation of goodwill/intangible assets 1,163 11,416

depreciation on property, plant and equipment 4,845 4,674

total 6,008 16,090

goodwill impairment related to the following companies:
in € t 2009 2010
VBH ireland 0 1,456

VBH Hody, Belgium 0 1,791

VBH italia Holding s.p.A., italy 0 5,991

siecom ood, Bulgaria 0 110

VBH construction Hardware co. ltd., china 0 800

total 0 10,148

6.7 finAnciAl ResUlt 

interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis, including outstanding loan amounts and the applicable interest 

rate. The applicable interest rate is precisely the interest rate used for discounting estimated future cash inflows over 

the life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the asset. Dividend income from financial investments is 

recognised when the shareholder‘s legal claim to payment arises. 
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The financial result breaks down as follows:  

in € t 2009 2010
income from equity interests 0 0

interest and similar income 733 514

interest and similar expenses -8,084 -8,906

interest result -7,351 -8,392

Depreciation on financial assets and securities 0 9

total -7,351 -8,401

The financial result deteriorated from € T -7,351 in the previous year to € T -8,401. Utilisation of credit facilities was 

higher in 2010 due to the improvement in the general economy, resulting in a higher interest charge. furthermore, as a 

result of the conditions in the syndicate agreement interest expenses were higher in the second half of the year. there 

was no change against the previous year in the VBH group rating. interest expenses from pension obligations in the 

amount of € T 640 (previous year: € T 643) were shown in the financial result. 

6.8 cURRent tAXes 

income taxes
in € t 2009 2010
current taxes 4,043 6,278

germany 149 1,435

Abroad 3,894 4,843

deferred taxes -811 -1,393

germany -264 230

Abroad -547 -1,623

total 3,232 4,885

As in the previous year, income tax is calculated on the basis of expected taxable income for the financial year. 

in accordance with iAs 12.81, actual tax expense must be compared with the tax expense that would theoretically have 

resulted if the applicable tax rates had been used on the reported earnings before taxes for the year. the overall tax rate 

applied, currently 19.9 % (31.5 %), reflects the theoretical group tax rate for VBH. Deferred taxes in foreign countries are 

calculated at the respective national income tax rates for retention of earnings.
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the tax reconciliation of the expected versus actual tax expense for the year under review is provided below. 

tax reconciliation
in € t 2009 2010

earnings before taxes (eBt) 9,871 4,542

calculated income tax rate in % 35.1% 19.9%

expected tax expense 3,460 902

tax-exempt income/losses  -161 -180

tax additions and deductions -464 -435

special items on impairments 1,730

impact of not used losses carried forward 1,557 2,747

tax payments/refunds in previous years and expenses for external audits -1,160 122

income taxes and deferred taxes 3,232 4,885

tax rate in % 32.7% 107.5%

As a result of the loss carryforwards in foreign VBH companies which cannot be used for tax purposes there was 

a weighted calculatory income tax rate of 19.9 % (previous year: 35.3 %). the taxrate in an amount of 107.5 % is 

effected by special items. 

6.9 defeRRed tAXes 

deferred taxes are measured on the basis of the expected tax rates applicable at the date on which a debt is settled 

or asset realised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflecting temporary differences in carrying amount for individual 

balance sheet items are shown below. 
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deferred taxes for temporary differences and tax loss carried forward
2009 2010

in € t Assets liabilities Assets liabilities

deferred taxes for temporary differences
Assets 163 3,060 131 2,931

long-term current assets 212 0 37 117

short-term current assets 1,193 541 1,782 1,123

others 443 138 993 55

long-term provisions 607 0 210 30

short-term provisions 77 0 51 0

long-term liabilities 524 14 1,160 103

short-term liabilities 1,123 70 590 52

total 4,342 3,823 4,954 4,411

tax losses carried forward 5,750 0 6,787 0

carrying amount 10,092 3,823 11,741 4,411

In the financial year, the German companies recognised deferred taxes on trade tax loss carryforwards of € T 19,654 

(previous year: € t 19,325) and on corporation tax loss carryforwards of € t 12,648 (previous year: € t 14,730). 

An average tax rate of 30 % was applied. In line with corporate planning for the specific Group companies, the loss 

adjustment volume will be used up within five years. 

the remaining tax losses, which can be carried forward in full, result from corporation tax in the amount of € t 21,629 

(previous year: € t 18,502) and from trade tax of € t 14,324 (previous year: € t 28,693).

in germany there is no limit for carrying forward losses. in certain countries, minimum tax rules affect the 

usability of loss carryforwards. foreign subsidiaries recognised deferred tax assets on loss carryforwards of 

a total € t 1,942 (previous year: € t 942). Major unused tax losses in foreign companies amount to € t 4,588 

(previous year: € t 7,893). for € t 4,285 of this amount (previous year: € t 6,883), there is no time limit for 

carrying forward. 
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6.10 MinoRitY inteRests 

Minority interests in consolidated earnings came to € t 481 (previous year: € t 986). these primarily represent 

minority interests of the subsidiaries in spain, Poland, Russia, Bulgaria the Ukraine, Mexico and Kazakhstan. 

6.11 eARnings PeR sHARe 

in € t 2009 2010
net result after minorities 5,573 -1,711

total number of shares 45,869,408 45,879,408

Weighted average of own shares 0 0

Weighted average of own shares diluted 0 0

Weighted average of shares from convertible bonds and options 37,833 4,167

Weighted average shares from convertible bond and options diluted 100,000 40,000

Weighted average of shares outstanding 45,828,241 45,873,575

Weighted average of shares outstanding diluted 45,828,241 45,873,575

Earnings per share in € 0.12 -0.04

Earnings per share (diluted) in € 0.12 -0.04

the calculation of fully diluted earnings includes all stock options granted and available. the following instruments 

may have a significant diluting effect in future: exercise of option rights with a volume of up to 40,000 shares (Con-

tingent capital ii), of which 40,000 shares are still outstanding or available. 

An additional 20 million shares have also been authorised (Authorised capital).
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6.12  AdJUsted eARnings / cAlcUlAting AdJUsted 
  eARnings PeR sHARe  

Non-recurring items chiefly result from the integration of acquired companies, implemented or planned restructu-

ring, impairment losses and the result of divestments. the expenses and income reported as such did not arise 

from ordinary business activities. intangible assets predominantly result from purchase price allocations following 

acquisitions. Amortisation of intangible assets may be temporary.

earnings per share adjusted for non-recurring items and amortisation of intangible assets is an increasingly com-

mon key figure that has also become established internationally, as it reflects the Group’s sustainable earnings 

generated from operating business.

Adjusted earnings before taxes, the adjusted net profit for the year after minorities and adjusted earnings per 

share are key figures that are not defined under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). They should 

therefore be considered not in isolation but as additional information.

Adjusted earnings

in € t 2009 2010
eBt 9,871 4,542

special items 0 -1,445

depreciation goodwill and intangible assets 0 10,148

EBt adjusted 9,871 13,234

income tax adjusted -3,232 -4,885

discontinued operations -80 -887

EAt adjusted 6,559 7,462

Minority shares -986 -481

EAt adjusted after minorities 5,537 6,981

Weighted average of issued shares 45,828,241 45,873,575

EpS adjusted 0.12 0.15
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Cash and cash equivalents on the cash flow statement comprise exclusively the cash and cash equivalents recogni-

sed in the balance sheet. The cash flow statement details the Group‘s cash flows, broken down into cash inflows and 

outflows into and from ongoing operating, investing and financing activities. The change to the scope of consolidation 

impacts the presentation of the figures. 

cash-Flow discontinued operations
in € t 2009 2010

Cash flow from operating activity -1,124 -165

Cash flow from investing activity -10 70

Cash flow from financing activity 1,200 119

7. Cash flow disclosures 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



147

8.1 AdditionAl disclosURes on finAnciAl instRUMents

Fair value of financial instrument per IAS 39
Fair value

in € t

carrying 
value 31 

december 
2009

Amortised
cost

directly 
in equity

In profit
or loss

Fair 
value 31 

december 
2009

Assets
Interests in affiliated companies Afs 2,418 2,418 2,418

equity interests Afs 0 0 0

Payments on account financial assets Afs 0 0 0

stocks Afs 6 6 6

trade receivables laR 96,931 96,931 96,931

Receivables affiliated companies laR 4,300 4,300 4,300

other assets laR 27,847 27,847 27,847

cash and cash equivalents laR 14,411 14,411 14,411

liabilities

derivates with hedging relationship n.a. 2,895 2,895 2,895

liabilities to banks flAc 109,854 109,854 109,854

thereof liabilities from finance leases flAc 1,874 1,874 1,874

(convertible) bonds flAc 8,175 8,175 8,175

trade payables flAc 44,328 44,328 44,328

other liabilities flAc 29,461 29,461 29,461

Afs: Available for sale financial Asset; laR: loans and Receivables; fAHft: financial Assets Held for trading
flAc: financial liabilities Measured at Amortised cost; n.a.; not available

8. other disclosures 
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Fair value of financial instrument per IAS 39
Fair value

in € t

carrying 
value 31 

december 
2010      

Amor-
tised
cost

directly 
in

equity
In profit
or loss

Fair value 31 
december 

2010
Assets
Interests in affiliated companies Afs 1,949 1,949 1,949

equity interests Afs 0 0 0

Payments on account financial assets Afs 0 0 0

stocks Afs 6 6 6

trade receivables laR 104,369 104,369 104,369

Receivables from affiliated companies laR 3,133 3,133 3,133

other assets laR 24,315 24,315 24,315

cash and cash equivalents laR 12,663 12,663 12,663

liabilities
derivates with hedging relationship n.a. 2,166 2,166 2,166

liabilities to banks flAc 125,035 125,035 125,035

thereof liabilities from finance leases flAc 1,701 1,701 1,701

(convertible) bonds flAc 0 0 0

trade payables flAc 47,510 47,510 47,510

other liabilities flAc 26,936 26,936 26,936

Afs: Available for sale financial Asset; laR: loans and Receivables; fAHft: financial Assets Held for trading
flAc: financial liabilities Measured at Amortised cost; n.a.; not available
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Carrying values of financial instruments by valuation category per IAS 39
in € t 2009 2010
Available-for-sale financial assets 2,424 1,955

loans and receivables 143,489 144,480

financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 191,818 199,481

derivates with hedging relationship 2,895 2,166

the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, current receivables, trade payables and other payables approximately 

corresponds to the carrying amount. This is attributable to the short duration of these financial instruments. Shares in 

private companies are carried at cost, as fair value cannot be reliably determined. 

The fair values of other noncurrent receivables correspond to the present values of the cash flows connected with 

the assets, factoring in the applicable interest rate parameters, which reflect market and partner-related conditions 

and expectations. 

The fair values of liabilities to banks, liabilities to convertible bond holders and other financial liabilities are reported 

at nominal value. 

Interest from financial instruments is reported under net interest income/expense; dividends are reported under other 

net financial income (EBIT). VBH recognises the remaining components of the net result in other financial result. 

excluded from this are valuation adjustments to trade receivables attributable to the loans and receivables measure-

ment category. these are shown under other operating expenses. 

Exchange losses and gains on financial assets classified as loans and receivables chiefly result from intragroup 

forwarding of loans and deliveries and are shown under other operating income/expenses. 

Interest income/expense from financial liabilities classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include 

interest expense from bonds in the amount of € t 119 (previous year: € t 368). the convertible bonds were paid 

back with accumulated interest to the convertible bond holders in June 2010 at a level of € t 8,175. 

Also included are interest expense and income from interest rate derivatives. Cash flow hedges are recognised 

as an interest rate hedging instrument for containing interest rate risks arising from financial liabilities. Net interest 

income also includes expenses for bank loans extended. 
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Net income from financial instruments
in € t 2009 2010
Available for sale 0 0

loans and receivables -3,285 -4,204

financial liabilities Measured at Amortised costs -8,085 -8,906

the net result for the loans and receivables category primarily includes currency translation effects and changes in valu-

ation adjustments. financial liabilities measured at amortised costs contain largely interest expense. 

8.2 RisK MAnAgeMent 

The Group is exposed to a range of financial risks resulting from its operating and financing activities. The most 

significant financial risks for the Group arise from changes in the interest rates and in the creditworthiness and 

solvency of the group’s contract counterparties. financial risks are managed within the group in accordance with 

the policies established by management. these include interest rate, market, lending and liquidity risks. Polices and 

guidelines also exist for other areas, such as liquidity management, and for obtaining short or long-term loans.  

8.2.1 capital management 
the aim of capital management is to hedge the risks mentioned above to the extent necessary, thus containing any 

negative effects on the group’s income statement and balance sheet. in compliance with the principle of functional 

separation, financial risks to which the Group is exposed are assessed, monitored and actively addressed. Measures 

for achieving risk management objectives include optimisation of the capital structure, adjusting the amount of divi-

dends, acquisitions, divestments and reducing debt. 

8.2.2 Market r isk 
Market risk from financial instruments primarily consists of currency and interest rate risk. Sensitivity analyses are 

conducted to monitor these risks. 
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8.2.3 liquidity r isk 
Central liquidity planning is based on the Group financing. To ensure the liquidity and financial flexibility of VBH Group, the 

Group has fixed credit lines in the amount of approximately € 175 million. The timing and content of dividend distributions 

are also coordinated with the subsidiaries on the basis of liquidity planning. there is an option of issuing up to 20,000,000 

new shares from authorised capital, subject to Supervisory Board approval. The maturity dates of financial liabilities are 

listed under point 5.11. 

The figures below pertain to contractual, undiscounted cash flows:

liquidity risk

in € t

2010
carrying 

value
2010
total

Remaining 
term

< 1 year

Remaining 
term 

>1 year
< 5 years

Remaining 
term

> 5 years

Financial liabilities 125,035  132,167 121,125 5,738 5,304

- of which bonds     

- of which liabilities to banks 125,035  132,167 121,125 5,738 5,304

trade payables
47,510

 
47,510

 
47,476

 
34

other liabilities 28,509 28,509 26,127 2,382

 - of which derivative financial instruments 2,166 2,181 1,645 536

tax liabilities 273 273 273 

Advances received 593 593 593 

Financial liabilities 201,920 209,052 195,594 8,154 5,304

8.2.4 currency r isk 
As a global acting company, the VBH group is exposed to transaction and translation-related risks. transaction risk arises 

both in Group financing and from the sale and purchase of goods and services not invoiced in the base currency of the 

respective VBH company. the resulting currency risks are analysed as part of cash management and the group treasury 

system, and hedged with derivatives as necessary. the offsetting effects of the hedged item and currency hedging are 

recognised as profit or loss and thus reflected on the income statement. 
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translation risk results from the fact that many VBH companies are located outside the eurozone, while the VBH Holding Ag 

consolidated financial statements are prepared in Euro. The balance sheets and income statements of subsidiaries outside 

the Eurozone therefore have to be translated into Euro in the consolidated financial statements. The translation-related 

effects of changes in foreign exchange rates are recognised under equity in the VBH consolidated financial statements. 

Because the equity interests are of long duration, VBH Holding Ag elects not to directly hedge net asset items. 

in accordance with ifRs 7, a sensitivity analysis was conducted for foreign exchange risks. the table below shows the effect 

a 10% fluctuation in the respective foreign currency would have on equity and/or net profit. The analysis is based on the 

respective volume as at the balance sheet date. 

Sensitivity analysis of foreign currency risks
2009 2010

Foreign currency Foreign currency

in € t
10% 

increase
10% 

decrease
10% 

increase
10% 

decrease
Change in net profit

eUR / cnY 478 -435 167 -152

eUR / cZK 105 -96 270 -245

eUR / gBP 127 -115 140 -128

eUR / Pln 233 -212 255 -232

eUR / RUB 1,518 -1,380

eUR / sgd 306 -278 355 -323

eUR / AUd 478 -434 16 -14

eUR / Aed 154 -140 162 -147

eUR / tHB 142 -130 168 -152

eUR / tRY 105 -95 261 -237

eUR / BYR 133 -121

total 2,128 -1,935 3,445 -3,131
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8.2.5 interest rate r isk 
in € t 2009 2010
Fixed-rate financial debts 11,734 11,355

Variable-rate financial debts 98,119 113,680

total 109,853 125,035

VBH is exposed to interest rate risks arising from liabilities, primarily in connection with financial liabilities. 

8.2.6 Hedge accounting 
As part of syndicate financing, two conventional interest rate swaps were used for the first time in 2007 requiring hedge 

accounting. These are cash flow hedges. The nominal value of these swaps is € 40 million. In January 2009 VBH Holding 

Ag concluded another interest rate swap for € 30 million. the aim here was to lock in the interest rate on the minimum 

utilisation of German credit lines over the course of the year and secure the resulting financing need at the Eurozone 

subsidiaries.

In financial year 2010, interest rate risks resulted from floating-rate financing debts and the market values of these two 

financial derivatives (interest rate swaps). In an interest rate swap, the Group swaps fixed and variable interest payments 

calculated on the basis of contractual nominal amounts. such agreements allow the group to mitigate the risk of changing 

interest rates on the fair value of issued fixed-interest debt instruments as well as cash flow risks posed by floating-rate debt 

instruments issued. The fair value of interest rate swaps at the reporting date is determined by discounting future cash flows 

applying yield curves at the reporting date, factoring in credit risks associated with the contracts. the following sensitivity 

analysis shows what effect a fluctuation of one percentage point at the respective market level would have had on equity or 

earnings for the year. the analysis is based on the respective volume as at the balance sheet date. 
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Sensitivity analysis of interest rates risks
2009 2010

market interest rate market interest rate

in € t
1 percent 
increase

1 percent 
decrease

1 percent 
increase

1 percent 
decrease

variable rate instruments
Change in net profit -981 981 -1,137 1,137

interest rate swaps
Change in net profit 1,482 -1,488 909 -892

overall impact 501 -507 -228 245

hedge Accounting
in € t 2009 2010
total volume of interest rate swaps 70,000 70,000

fair value -2,895 -2,166

expiration
30.12.2011/ 
01.06.2012

30.12.2011/ 
01.06.2012

In financial year 2010, the market values of interest rate derivatives were shown in consolidated reserves taken directly to 

equity in the amount of € t -2,166 (previous year: € t -2,895). 

According to IFRS 7, financial instruments recognised at fair value are to be classified into measurement levels. These are 

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1), input factors other than quoted prices 

included within level 1 that are observable for an asset or liability either directly or indirectly (level 2) and factors for the 

measurement of the asset or liability not based on observable market data (level 3).

Hierarchical fair value levels of financial instruments per IFRS 7
in € t level 1 level 2 level 3
derivatives with hedging relationship 0 2,166 0

Financial liabilities 0 2,166 0

during the reporting period there were no transfers between level 1 and level 2.
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8.2.7 default r isk 
Because of its business dealings with third parties in various sectors, VBH group is exposed to default risk globally. this 

risk represents the possibility of non-performance on the part of a contract counterparty. the maximum default risk is 

stated on the basis of the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised on the balance sheet. To minimise default risk, in 

companies with a default risk a comprehensive credit control system has been implemented. credit information has been 

collected and historical data used pertaining to the business relationship to date, particularly regarding payment practices, in 

order to avoid default on payments. Valuation allowances are recognised for default risks identified sufficiently in advance. 

see point 5.5 ‘Receivables and other assets’ concerning the carrying amount of receivables overdue or amortised, the 

collection date of which has been renegotiated. 
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As at the balance sheet date, other financial liabilities existed, particularly arising from leases and lease agreements for buil-

dings, land, machines, tools, office and other equipment and subject to classification as operating leases under IAS 17. In 

financial year 2010 no other financial obligations or contingencies existed in connection with affiliates. Total future payments 

arising from non-cancellable contracts are classified by due date as follows: 

obligations from rental contracts
in € t 2009 2010
Maturity within 1 year 9,168 10,009

Maturity in 2-5 years 12,612 16,616

Maturity after 5 years 1,331 1,674

total 23,111 28,299

obligations from leasing contracts
in € t 2009 2010
Maturity within 1 year 2,851 2,827

Maturity in 2-5 years 2,253 1,715

Maturity after 5 years 0 0

total 5,104 4,542

contingencies are presented at the amount drawn on or correspond to the nominal value of the liabilities. 

obligations from contingent liabilities
in € t 2009 2010
liabilities from the issue and transfer of bills of exchange 436 454

liabilities from guarantees, bills of exchange and cheque guarantees 849 493

liabilities from warranties 56 199

contingency from providing collateral for external liabilities 0 142

total 0 0

gesamt 1,341 1,146

9. Other financial liabilities and 
 contingencies 
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Real estate liens
in € t 2009 2010
Real estate liens 29,189 29,190

total 29,189 29,190

VBH Holding Ag, VBH deutschland gmbH and esco Metallbausysteme gmbH have entered into a syndicated loan 

agreement with domestic lending banks governing the pledging of shares in major group companies to the participating 

banks and the assignment of all outstanding debts and claims arising from shareholder loans, as well as the assignment 

of all inventory as security and the creation of land charges. Outside Germany, fixed and current assets were assigned as 

collateral to secure local credit agreements. total assets used as collateral amounted to € 18.4 million (previous year: € 21.7 

million). no unrelated parties have placed collateral with VBH. the total carrying amount of companies pledged was 

€ t 55,422 (previous year: € t 57,972). 
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should individual legal disputes or claims for damages give rise to circumstances within the group requiring recognition, 

these are covered adequately by provisions allocated on the individual financial statements of Group companies. The 

group is not aware of other any material risks. 

in connection with the acquisition of companies, VBH is involved in court, arbitration and out-of court proceedings which 

could result in pro rata repayments of purchase prices or to liability compensation. A case relating to fraud in greece is 

pending.  

10. litigation and claims for damages 
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11. Related party disclosures 

executive and supervisory Board members, their immediate family members and subsidiaries that are not fully conso-

lidated are considered related parties per iAs 24, ‘Related Party disclosures’. no related parties were involved in any 

significant or unusual transactions in type or nature with VBH Holding Group companies. Sales between the VBH Group 

and unconsolidated companies are of minor significance. Further relationships with equity interests outside the scope of 

consolidation are accounted for using the cost-plus method. 

Business transactions between consolidated companies and related parties concern ongoing consulting services from the 

law firm of the Supervisory Board Chairman, which acted in an advisory category for the Company. Remuneration for these 

services is in line with prevailing market rates and was approved by the VBH Holding Ag supervisory Board, totalling € t 

54 for financial year 2010 (previous year: € T 56). The Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board advises the two operating 

german companies in matters of the market and servicing key accounts. the consultancy agreements were approved by 

the VBH Holding AG Supervisory Board. Compensation in financial year 2010 totalled € T 127 (previous year: € T 257 in-

cluding non-cash benefits and remuneration as General Manager). In addition, the Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

received an ongoing pension from the german companies totalling € t 90 (previous year: € t 30). the executive Board did 

not effect any such transactions.

 

Receivables from related parties amounted to € t 3,133 as at the balance sheet date (previous year: € t 4,300); there were 

no related-party liabilities in either financial year. 

the trade receivables primarily represent sales of goods by consolidated subsidiaries to foreign distribution companies. the 

products/services sold concern passed on outsourcing and services.

unconsolidated companies
in € t 2009 2010
carrying values at 31 december

loans 744 626

Receivables 3,556 2,507

Transactions in the financial year

goods purchased 2,068 3,790

other expenses 58 118

sales revenue 1,467 1,261

interest income 58 49

other operating income 85 66
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Publication in accordance with section 26 (1) WpHg by VBH Holding Ag dated 26 January 2011 

Mr. Victor Trenev, Russia, and Ascalon Holding GmbH, Vienna, Austria, notified us in accordance with section 27a (1) 

WpHg on 20 January 2011 by letter dated 14 January 2011 that Mr. Victor trenev, Russia, (including all voting rights of 

Ascalon Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, attributable to him in accordance with section 22 (1), sentence 1 no. 1 WpHg) and 

Ascalon Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, currently hold 21.85% in VBH Holding Ag.

The corresponding threshold notifications in accordance with sections 21 and 22 in conjunction with section 26 WpHG 

were properly issued by the reporting parties in all cases. According to the information of the reporting parties, there were 

no further reportable changes in accordance with sections 21 and 22 WpHG in the period since the last notification on 16 

July 2010. In addition, the reporting parties have now also satisfied the reporting requirement of section 27a (1) WpHG and 

notified the company as follows:

i. goals pursued with the acquisition of voting rights

1. the investment serves the implementation of strategic objectives.

2. it is intended to obtain further voting shares by way of acquisition or otherwise within the next twelve months.

3. It is intended to influence the composition of a supervisory body of VBH Holding AG.

4. It is not intended to implement a significant change in the capital structure of the company, particularly with regard to  

    the ratio of equity and borrowed capital and to the dividend policy.

ii. origin of the funds used

the funds used originated as the equity of the sole shareholder of Ascalon Holding gmbH, Vienna, Austria, Mr. Victor 

trenev, and as loans received by Ascalon Holding gmbH from third parties.

There were no other significant events after the end of the reporting period.

12. Significant events after the balance 
 sheet date 
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13. Remuneration of auditors 

During financial year 2010 remuneration paid to auditors as per Section 318 of the German Commercial Code (inclu-

ding affiliates as per Section 271 (2) German Commercial Code) broke down as follows: 

Expenses for remuneration of auditors

in € t 2009 2010
Audit of financial statements 364 378

other attestation and valuation services 71 25

tax consultancy 20 25

other services 0 27

total 455 455 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



162

concerning remuneration of executive bodies per section 314 HgB (german commercial code), we refer to the report 

provided in the corporate governance report. 

Remuneration of executive bodies
2009

in € t Fixed variable
non-cash 

benefits total
executive Board 502 365 83 950

supervisory Board 163 0 0 163

total 665 365 83 1,113

2010

in € t Fixed variable
non-cash 

benefits total
executive Board* 482 266 87 835

supervisory Board 166 6 0 172

total 648 272 87 1,007

(*) pro rata

options and shares held by 
31.12.2009 31.12.2010

individual shares options Shares options Shares

executive Board 0 459,684 0 459,684

supervisory Board 0 10,000 0 1.605,272

total 0 469,684 0 2.064,956

pension commitments 
All executive Board members have received pension commitments in line with their individual contracts, which provide for 

pensions to be drawn no earlier than the age of 60.

Former Executive Board members and their surviving dependants received total benefits of € T 466 in the past financial year 

(previous year: € T 544). Defined benefit obligations (DBO) per IFRS for all pension commitments to former Executive Board 

members, managers and their surviving dependants totalled € T 5,710 at the end of 2010 (previous year: € T 5,550). Defined 

benefit obligations for all pension commitments per IFRS amounted to € T 827 for Mr. Hribar (previous year: € T 551) and 

€ t 89 for dr. lieb (previous year: € t 80). Additions during the reporting year totalled € t 284 (previous year: € t 152). 

14. Remuneration of executive bodies 
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15. declaration of conformity with 
 corporate governance code 

the company’s executive and supervisory Board submitted the declaration of conformity required under section 161 of the 

stock corporation Act on 30 March 2011 and also made it available to the shareholders. Any deviations from the german 

corporate governance code have been documented accordingly and can be viewed at any time on the VBH Holding Ag 

website (www.vbh.de).
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16. shareholdings of VBH Holding Ag, 
 stuttgart as at 31 december 2010

Disclosures of shareholdings are made in a separate document, which is filed with the Stuttgart Commercial Register 

under HRB 203096. The companies included in the consolidated financial statements, esco Metallbausysteme GmbH, 

domiciled in ditzingen, germany, and VBH germany gmbH, domiciled in Korntal-Münchingen, germany, are exerci-

sing their right of exemption under section 264 (3) of the german commercial code. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



165

17. corporate governance bodies 

Executive Board
dipl.-ing. Eth Rainer hribar, tägerwilen/Switzerland 
other supervisory Board mandates: 

gU Bodensee Ag, tägerwilen, switzerland, – chairman –

leicom Ag, Winterthur, switzerland, – Board member –

group internal: 

VBH estonia As, tallinn/estonia (board of directors)

VBH-tBM UAB, Vilnius/lithuania (board of directors)

VBH Middle east fZco, dubai/U.A.e. (board of directors)

VBH Hellas s.A., salonika/greece (board of directors)

VBH italia Holding spa, Bologna/italy (board of directors)

VBH Kapi ve Pencere, istanbul/turkey (board of directors)

Beijing VBH construction Hardware co.ltd., Beijing/china (board of directors)

shanghai VBH construction Hardware co.ltd., shanghai/china (board of directors) 

dipl. Kaufm. Frieder Bangerter, leinfelden-Echterdingen (from 01 January 2011)

dr. rer. pol. Ralf lieb, Arnstorf/germany (until 31 August 2010)
group internal: 

VBH estonia As, tallinn/estonia (board of directors until 31.08.10)

UAB VBH Vilnius, Vilnius/lithuania (board of directors until 31.08.10)

VBH Kapi ve Pencere, istanbul/turkey (board of directors until 31.08.10)

Beijing VBH construction Hardware co.ltd., Beijing/china (board of directors until 31.08.10)

shanghai VBH construction Hardware co.ltd., shanghai/china (board of directors until 31.08.10)
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Supervisory Board 
prof. Rainer Kirchdörfer, lawyer, Korntal-münchingen – chairman – (from 01January 2010)
other supervisory Board mandates: 

Bauerfeind Ag, Zeulenroda, – chairman –

Berner se, Künzelsau, – member –

cronbank Ag, dreieich, – member –

Heiler software Ag, stuttgart, – Vice chairman –

Kohl Medical Ag, Perl, – Vice chairman –

MHK group Ag, dreieich, – chairman –

Andreas Schill, businessman, Stuttgart – vice chairman – (from 01 January 2010)
no other mandates  

Stephan m. heck, businessman, mannheim
no other mandates 

dipl.-Kfm. matthias linnenkugel, auditor, tax advisor, hamburg (from 01 January 2010)
no other mandates  

Klaus meichner, business economist, donaustauf, – employee representative  
no other mandates  

Martin Morlok, commercial employee, (from 09 June 2008) Trochtelfingen, – employee representative  
no other mandates 

in the reporting year, six Supervisory Board meetings took place.  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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18. Approval of the consolidated financial    
 statements per iAs 10.17 

The Executive Board will present these consolidated financial statements to the Supervisory Board on 30 March 

2011 for approval and release for publishing. 

Proposal for the appropriation of profits  
the executive Board will recommend to the supervisory Board to present the following proposal on the appropriation of 

profits to shareholders for approval at the Annual General Meeting on 15 June 2011. The distribution of a dividend of € 0.06 

per no-par share (isin: 760070) is proposed from the net result of € 5,779,215.49 (previous year € 7,710,150.99) shown on 

the VBH Holding AG annual financial statements prepared in accordance with the German Commercial Code, on eligible 

subscribed capital of € 45,879,408. 

Korntal-Münchingen, March 2011

VBH Holding AKtiengesellscHAft 

– executive Board – 

Rainer Hribar  frieder Bangerter  
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declaration of the Executive Board 
We assure that to the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles for financial repor-

ting, the consolidated financial statements provide a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit 

or loss of the group, and that the group management report presents a fair view of the development and performance 

of the business and the position of the group, outlining the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected 

development of the group. 

Korntal-Münchingen, March 2011

VBH Holding AKtiengesellscHAft 

– executive Board –  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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19. Auditor’s report 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by VBH Holding Aktiengesellschaft, Korntal-Münchingen, 

comprising the balance sheet, income statement, total comprehensive income statement, statement of changes in equity, 

cash flow statement and notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with the group management report for the 

business year from 1 January to 31 December 2010. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and group 

management report in accordance with ifRss as adopted by the eU, and with the additional requirements of german 

commercial law pursuant to section 315a (1) HgB (german commercial code) and the additional provisions of the Articles 

of Association, are the responsibility of the parent company‘s management. our task is to issue an opinion on the conso-

lidated financial statements and the group management report on the basis of our audit. We conducted our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 317 HGB (German Commercial Code) and German generally 

accepted standards for the auditing of financial statements issued by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (IDW). 

these standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation 

of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements, in accordance with 

the applicable financial reporting framework, and in the group management report are detected with reasonable assurance. 

Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the group and expectations as to possible 

misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. the effectiveness of the accounting-related 

internal control system and evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group 

management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. the audit includes assessing 

the annual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in 

consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report. We believe 

that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. our audit has not led to any reservations.

 In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by 

the eU, the additional requirements of german commercial law pursuant to section 315a (1) HgB (german commercial 

Code) and the additional provisions of the Articles of Association, and provide a true and fair view of the net assets, financial 

position and results of operations of the group in accordance with these requirements. the group management report is 

consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group‘s position and 

suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development. 

nuremberg, 25 March 2011 

Rödl & Partner gmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft steuerberatungsgesellschaft  

dr. Bömelburg   leupold 

Public accountant   Public accountant  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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fAsteR, siMPleR And 
eRRoR-fRee oRdeRing.

thanks to the established logos scanner system, VBH assists its customers 

in warehousing and provides a fast, error-free ordering process. different online 

connections are available, from a simple modem to WlAn, a high-performance 

edi solution and mobile use by phone – true to the motto: everything simple.
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Balance sheet, income statement 

notes on vBh holding Ag 
While the consolidated financial statements are drawn up in accordance with IFRS, the annual financial state-

ments of VBH Holding AG are prepared in accordance with the German Commercial Code. In the past fiscal 

year, the amendments to the Act of Modernizing german Accounting law (BilMog) were taken into account and 

necessary adjustments done. in some areas, the accounting and valuation rules applied in the VBH Holding 

AG individual financial statements differ from those in the consolidated financial statements. VBH Holding AG 

is a management holding that directly manages most of its domestic and foreign subsidiaries. it is responsible 

for corporate planning, strategy and financing, and controls the subsidiaries and sub-subsidiaries centrally. The 

annual financial statements dated 31 December 2010 and the VBH Holding AG management report were audited 

by Roedl & Partner gmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, steuerberatungsgesellschaft, nuremberg, which 

examined the Company’s accounting and provided an unqualified opinion. The holding company’s financial state-

ments are posted on the internet at www.vbh.de for review. data from the VBH Holding Ag balance sheet and 

income statement are provided below. 

vBh holding Ag

vBh holding Ag
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vBh holding Ag

Assets
in € t 31.12.2009 31.12.2010
A. FiXEd ASSEtS

intangible assets 909 754

edP software 909 720

Advances paid 0 34

tangible Assets 844 740
Real estate, leasehold rights and buildings including construction 
on non-owned real estate 619 556

Other fixed assets, operational and business equipment 225 184

Financial Assets 162,324 151,062

Interests in affiliated companies 87,324 76,062

Loans to affiliated companies 75,000 75,000

Participations 0 0

Total fixed assets 164,077 152,556

B. cuRREnt ASSEtS

Accounts receivables and other assets 45,343 60,256

Accounts receivables affiliated companies 41,780 56,544

other assets 3,563 3,712

cheques, cash on hand, credit balances at banks 2,494 707

total current assets 47,837 60,963

c. AccRuAlS And dEFERRAlS 235 303

total assets 212,149 213,822

BAlAnce sHeet of VBH Holding Ag

vBh holding Ag
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Equity and liabilities
in € t 31.12.2009 31.12.2010
A. EQuitY

Subscribed capital 45,869 45,879

capital reserves 41,847 41,906

Revenue reserves 38,214 38,214

legal reserves 1,407 1,407

other group reserves 36,807 36,807

Profit retained 7,710 5,779

total equity 133,640 131,778

B. SpEciAl itEmS With RESERvES pRopoRtion AS pER §6B EStg 0 0

c. AccRuEd liABilitiES

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 4,653 5,799

Provisions for taxation 618 1,136

other provisions 1,757 1,346

total accrued liabilities 7,028 8,281

d. liABilitiES

convertible bond issued 8,175 0

financial liabilities 56,350 66,315

liabilities from supplies and services 380 327

Liabilities affiliatied companies 2,146 3,621

other liabilities 4,430 3,500

thereof from taxes 1,900 2,271

thereof for social security 2 0

total liabilities 71,481 73,763

total equity and liabilities 212,149 213,822
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Profit and Loss Account
in € t 2009 2010
Sales revenue 4,569 5,083

other operating income 
of which for currency translation € t 528 (prev.year.: € t 117)

3,984 1,834

Total operating profit 8,553 6,917

Personnel expenditure 
of which for pensions € t 268 (prev.year.: € t 342)

-4,738 -4,855

depreciation of intangible and tangible assets -488 -547

other operational expenditure
of which for currency translation € t 165 (prev.year.: € t 652)

-6,010 -6,194

dividends from associated companies 
of which from affiliated companies € T 22,951 (prev.year.: € T 14,126)  

14,126 22,951

Income from profit transfer agreement 3,175 3,910

other interest and similar income 
of which from affiliated companies € T 1,745 (prev.year: € T 1,270)

1,422 2,039

Depreciation of financial assets 0 -18,948

interest and similar expenditure 
of which affiliated companies € T 26 (prev.year: € T 0)
of which discounting € t 372 (prev.year: € t 0)

-4,487 -6,221

EBt of ordinary activities 11,553 -948

extraordinary results -2,688 -1,147

taxes on income and earnings and other taxes 2,405 2,458

EAt earning after taxes 11,270 363

Profit carried forward from previous year 1,440 5,416

Withdrawal from reserve for treasury stock 0 0

transfer to other earnings reserves -5,000 0

net income for the year 7,710 5,779

incoMe stAteMent of VBH Holding Ag

vBh holding Ag



tHe online sYsteM PlAtfoRM 
foR WindoWs And dooRs.

CE-fix from VBH offers the entire window and door industry an effective online 

option for ce labelling and a convenient way of ensuring general system secu-

rity. experience from hundreds of individual checks in all materials groups such 

as wood, metal and PVc also forms the basis for advising manufacturers on 

the development of sustainable constructions and on choosing the right tools.
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glossar

Adjusted result
the adjusted result is a business ratio which excludes non-recurring effects from the annual result of a company.

Cash flow hedge  
Used to hedge against risk from cash flow fluctuations as a result of changes in interest rates. 

Derivative financial instruments 
financial products for which valuation is based on the performance of the underlying instrument.  

dynamic gearing ratio  
Net debt in relation to free cash flow. 

EBit 
Abbreviation for earnings before interest and taxes. operating result before interest and taxes.  

EBitdA 
Abbreviation for earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and Amortisation. operating result before interest 

and taxes and depreciation / amortisation. 

Equity  
equity comprises funds from the equity holdings available to the company as capital contributions and/or depo-

sits and retained profits and well as equity attributable to minority interests. 

Equity ratio  
equity in relation to total assets. the higher the indicator, the lower the level of indebtedness.

Return on equity (RoE) 
net income in relation to equity. 

Further information 

Further information
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Further information 

Fair value  
Amount at which an asset would be transferred in an arm’s length transaction. 

Free cash flow 
Operating cash flow minus cash flow from investing activities. Free cash flow is available for dividend payments 

to shareholders, to pay interest and repay loans. 

Borrowings 
total assets minus equity. 

goodwill 
Positive difference between a company’s purchase price and its net assets (assets minus debts). 

hedge accounting 
Accounting treatment of hedge transactions. 

iFRic (international Financial Reporting interpretations committee – previously Sic) 
concrete interpretations on individual ifRs. 

iFRS/iAS (international Financial Reporting Standards – previously iAS) 
Accounting standards issued by an international committee (international Accounting standards committee) with 

the aim of creating transparent accounting that is comparable worldwide. 

impairment 
Reduction in value that is performed as soon as the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its recoverable 

amount, i.e. the higher value which would result from either its sale or its continued use. 

Further information
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Cash flow statement 
Presentation of an organisation’s liquidity during the course of a financial year, reflecting the effects of the origin 

of funds and of allocating resources. 

deferred taxes 
tax assets and/or liabilities reported in the balance sheet to equalise the difference between the tax debt actually 

assessed and the commercial tax burden based on financial reporting in accordance with IFRS for the commer-

cial balance sheet. the basis for determining deferred taxes is the difference between the value of the assets 

and liabilities reported in the ifRs balance sheet and in the local tax balance sheet. 

margin 
A margin represents the ratio of an indicator to sales revenue. 

net debt 
financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. 

discontinued operations 
discontinued assets or non-current assets held for sale are reported when a component of an entity has been 

clearly separated and classified as held for sale or has already been disposed of. This component can be a major 

branch of business or a geographical area or part of material or geographical business segments or companies 

to be sold as part of an overall plan that were acquired solely with a view to resale.

plan assets 
Assets which are held in long-term funds or qualified insurance policies to fulfil payments to employees 

temporary differences 
differences between the carrying amount of an asset and its tax base. 

Actuarial gains/losses 
effects of changes in actuarial parameters in the calculation of pension obligations. 

An unsere Aktionäre An unsere AktionäreFurther information
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financial calendar 

interim Report Q1 2011            
13 May 2011

Annual general meeting               
15 June 2011

interim Report Q2 2011                       
12 August 2011 

interim Report Q3 2011                       
11 november 2011 

An unsere Aktionäre An unsere AktionäreFurther information
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contacts 

vBh holding Ag
Siemensstraße 38
d-70825 Korntal-münchingen

telephone switchboard:  +49 7150 15-0

internet:   www.vbh.de

contact
investor Relations +49 7150 15-200

e-mail:   ir@vbh.de

Securities code no.   760070

iSin code:   de0007600702

disclaimer
this report contains statements that are based on the future. such forecast-related statements are based on certain 

assumptions and expectations that were made at the time this report was published. they are therefore linked to 

risks and uncertainties, and actual results may deviate considerably from the results described in statements that are 

based on the future. A large number of such risks and uncertainties will be determined by factors that are not subject 

to the influence of VBH Holding AG and that cannot be assessed with certainty today. These include future market 

conditions and economic developments, the conduct of other market participants, achievement of any anticipated 

synergy effects and legal and political decisions. VBH Holding Ag does not perceive itself as obligated to publish 

corrections of such statements that are based on the future in order to reflect events or conditions that occur after 

publication of this report. 

Further information
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